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Foreword

In 1964, historian George B. Tindall suggested mythology might be the
new frontier of southern history, since innumerable efforts to identify a
central theme regarding the South had frustrated so many previous schol-
ars. By mythology, Tindall simply meant examining the beliefs, aspira-
tions, ideals, and meanings through which a people identify themselves
within some historical context and seek by this controlling generaliza-
tion to give philosophical meaning to the facts of ordinary life, while at
the same time defending themselves from outside attack. Under these
circumstances, the myth itself becomes one of the realities of history,
influencing or shaping the subsequent pattern of behavior for partici-
pants in the folk community. Yet in the new field of Appalachian studies
that emerged in the 1980s, myth has a particularly pejorative connota-
tion, used most frequently as it has been by past observers of the region
to fix an invidious and enduring stereotype on the inhabitants. Appala-
chian mythmakers are therefore always frankly suspect—hostile, preju-
diced outsiders pursuing their own agenda for literary recognition or
some well-meaning but grossly distorted reform effort.

Historian David C. Hsiung is one of the few scholars to explore the
role of Appalachian natives in creating their own mythology; his Two
Worlds in the Tennessee Mountains: Exploring the Origins of Appala-
chian Stereotypes offers the interesting scenario of town dwellers in up-
per East Tennessee initially caricatured their more backward rural neigh-
bors in the mountains and hollows. Local color writers were quick to
seize on this image, but distorted it even further by representing all Ap-
palachians as possessing the undesired traits that became an enduring
national stereotype.

Yet no single individual within Appalachia self-consciously cre-
ated a myth both about himself and about his region—East Tennessee—
as did William G. Brownlow. “I would as soon be engaged in importing
the plague from the East,” Parson Brownlow vehemently declared on
February 16, 1861, in the pages of his Knoxville Whig, “as in helping to
build up a Southern Confederacy upon the ruins of the American Consti-
tution.” Thus the “Parson,” as he was commonly called, with character-
istic vituperation and exaggerated rhetoric, lambasted supporters of the
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Confederacy even after East Tennessee was occupied by southern troops,
and simultaneously demonstrated why he was among Tennessee’s most
colorful and controversial political leaders of the nineteenth century.

It is perhaps a tribute to the freedom of speech within the Confed-
eracy that Brownlow’s paper, and harshly critical editorials, were allowed
to continue so long. After he refused allegiance to the Confederate gov-
ernment and fled to the Great Smoky Mountains in November 1861, his
press and types were finally destroyed. Found by Confederate scouts, he
was returned to Knoxville, where he was briefly placed in jail. Finally
allowed to flee to the North in March 1862, Brownlow became an ex-
tremely popular lecturer on behalf of the Unionists of East Tennessee
throughout the North. His resulting summary of his trials and tribula-
tions, related with characteristic terrible contumacy and abuse, in between
scenes of exaggerated pathos, was published in 1862 as Sketches of the
Rise, Progress, and Decline of Secession; With a Narrative of Personal
Adventure Among the Rebels and became an immediate bestseller. Widely
known under the briefer title, Parson Brownlow’s Book, this volume plus
his personal speaking engagements fixed an enduring image of both
Brownlow and the Appalachian South in the mind of the northern public.

E. Merton Coulter’s 1937 biography of Brownlow remains the best
scholarly biography of the Parson and his times. Brownlow, a “some-
time” Methodist minister, had earlier fought a bitter sectarian battle
against the Presbyterians. Ironic in view of his later Unionism, he was a
leading defender of slavery, and, in 1858, he debated Abraham Pryne,
editor of an antislavery paper, The Central Reformer. In this “forensic
disputation,” held in Philadelphia in the National Guard Hall, Brownlow
defended the peculiar institution as ardently as any southern radical and
heaped abuse on abolitionists. Coulter’s biography is extremely well
written and appropriately humorous in relating the exaggerated rhetoric
and energy with which Brownlow assaulted all enemies—democrats,
abolitionists, Presbyterians, and, finally, Rebels—in his variously titled
Knoxville Whig between 1849 and 1869.

Stephen V. Ash’s introduction contextualizes Coulter’s biography
in light of recent historical scholarship, especially noting Coulter’s rac-
ism and his reproduction of the tragic myth of Reconstruction so long
discarded by modern scholars. Professor Ash astutely notes, however,
the discrepancy between Brownlow’s personal life and his vituperative
rhetoric, a discrepancy which sets the stage for Brownlow’s role as an
active mythmaker when, as Reconstruction governor of Tennessee, he
both wrote the script and played a principal part in a self-conscious po-
litical drama that fixed the image of the loyal mountaineers of East Ten-
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nessee indelibly upon the national consciousness. Parson Brownlow’s
vigorous, deliberate, and self-conscious mythmaking thus deserves care-
ful scrutiny by all scholars of the Appalachian region that he helped both
to define and delineate.

Durwood Dunn
Tennessee Wesleyan College






Introduction

Tennessee has had its share of outrageous characters over the years, but
none more outrageous than Parson Brownlow. Even today, more than
120 years after his death, merely mentioning his name in the Volunteer
State can evoke raucous laughter or bitter curses. The Parson would like
that: those are the very responses he loved to evoke in his own day.

William Gannaway Brownlow was not only a colorful and contro-
versial historical figure, but also an important one. Born in southwestern
Virginia in 1805 and orphaned at age eleven, he became a circuit-riding
Methodist preacher and traveled all over southern Appalachia, settling
eventually in East Tennessee. In 1839 he took up journalism and politics
as editor of the Whig, a newspaper he founded in Elizabethton and later
moved to Jonesboro and ultimately Knoxville. By the time of the Civil
War, the Whig had eleven thousand subscribers and was widely read within
and beyond Tennessee’s borders. In 1861 Brownlow emerged as a princi-
pal leader of the East Tennessee unionists, whose resistance to secession
plagued the Confederacy. After the war he served as governor of Tennes-
see and ruled the state for four years with a Radical fist of iron.

‘What made the Parson stand out was, more than anything else, his
vitriolic tongue and pen. Over the course of his long career he took up
many causes. These included not only Methodism, Whiggery, and the
Union, but also temperance, Know-Nothingism, and slavery. His favorite
method of promoting those causes was to chastise and ridicule his oppo-
nents, and few men could do so with as much venomous wit as he. Bap-
tists, Presbyterians, Catholics, Mormons, Democrats, Republicans, se-
cessionists, drunks, immigrants, and abolitionists—all were at one time
or another on the receiving end of Brownlow’s merciless broadsides. Not
surprisingly, he made many enemies. A number of them replied in kind;
some tried to kill him.

Parson Brownlow deserves a good biographer. He has had a few, but
none better than E. Merton Coulter. First published in 1937 by the Uni-
versity of North Carolina Press, Coulter’s William G. Brownlow: Fight-
ing Parson of the Southern Highlands was highly praised in its day and it
remains the standard account of Brownlow’s life. To help the modern
generation of readers make the Parson’s acquaintance, the University of
Tennessee Press, which reprinted Coulter’s book in 1971, has now done
s0 again as part of its Appalachian Echoes series.!
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Coulter’s volume has stood the test of time because its scholarship is
sound and its prose lively. Coulter was a professionally trained and highly
respected historian who earned his Ph.D. from the University of Wiscon-
sinin 1917, was a longtime teacher at the University of Georgia, became
the first president of the Southern Historical Association, and was the
author or editor of literally dozens of books. For this biography he thor-
oughly mined the relevant sources and drew on his vast knowledge of
southern history to provide context. But he also knew how to tell a good
story with a dash of humor, and that he also did in this book. He espe-
cially enjoyed quoting the highly quotable Parson, and Brownlow’s in-
imitable rhetorical style comes through on practically every page.?

The book has thus aged well, but it has definitely aged. As today’s
readers enjoy Coulter’s narrative, they need to keep in mind the flaws and
weaknesses of the book (maybe “peculiarities and limitations” is a better
way to put it) that have become apparent in the six decades since Coulter
wrote it.

For one thing, it is not really a comprehensive biography but rather
a history of Brownlow’s public career. Coulter has virtually nothing to
say about the Parson’s family life or other intimate relationships. This is
due in part to the dearth of sources (Brownlow left very few revealing
personal papers). But it can also undoubtedly be ascribed to a certain
gentlemanly unwillingness on Coulter’s part to pry into his subject’s pri-
vate affairs. This was typical of biographers of Coulter’s generation; a
modern biographer would feel obliged at least to speculate about
Brownlow’s private life, based on whatever hints the existing records
contain.

We are all to some extent prisoners not only of our time but also of
our place. Merton Coulter was no exception. He was a middle-class south-
ern white male who grew up in the New South era (he was born in North
Carolina in 1890), and he had certain biases common among those like
himself. In particular, he believed blacks were inherently inferior and
undeserving of political equality, and he revered the Lost Cause (both his
grandfathers had been Confederate soldiers).

These beliefs and predilections shaped Coulter’s portrayal of Par-
son Brownlow. The first third of the book, dealing with Brownlow’s pre-
1860 career, is a model of scholarly impartiality. Coulter’s attitude to-
ward the Parson’s fiercely partisan polemics is one of (somewhat amused)
detachment—as long as Brownlow is flogging only the enemies of the
Methodist Church, the Whig Party, temperance, and slavery. But when
Brownlow takes his stand against secession and the Confederacy after
1860, and especially when he allies with the northern Radicals, disfran-
chises the former Confederates, and enfranchises the blacks during Re-
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construction, Coulter turns hostile. Many regard Brownlow as something
of a hero for his stalwart defense of the Union, even under threat of death,
but in Coulter’s eyes, he and his fellow East Tennessee unionists were
merely “obstinate” and “blindly patriotic” and in fact “guilty of treason”
against the Confederacy. Many applaud Brownlow’s enfranchisement of
Tennessee’s blacks—however impure his motives—as an act of justice,
but for Coulter it was an unconscionable betrayal of the good white people
of the state. The freed slaves “were letting their animal natures go unre-
strained,” Coulter tells us, and “they became a menace to peace and prop-
erty.” He justifies the lethal guerrilla warfare of the Ku Klux Klan as a
necessary response to the “Black Peril” and the “abuses, debasements,
and insults” that the former Confederates had to endure under Brownlow’s
rule.

In Coulter’s defense, it should be pointed out that his portrayal of
Reconstruction was not unique. With very few exceptions, the other his-
torians of his generation—northern as well as southern—shared his ra-
cial prejudices and endorsed the view that Reconstruction was a “Tragic
Era,” a time when the worst elements of society ran rampant in the south-
ern states until the noble “Redeemers” overthrew the villainous Radical
regimes and restored good government and racial control.

During the 1960s, however, when the Civil Rights movement touched
the conscience of the nation, younger historians began to challenge the
reigning interpretation of Reconstruction. They pointed to the accom-
plishments of the Radical state governments in the South, including im-
proved public education, that the older historians had ignored or dismissed.
Moreover, they ascribed a good measure of dignity and decency of pur-
pose to the blacks, scalawags, carpetbaggers, Freedmen’s Bureau agents,
and northern Radicals whom the older historians had demonized. Some
of the young revisionists condemned the long-celebrated Redeemers as
racist reactionaries and the Klansmen in particular as murderous political
terrorists. Under heavy attack, the traditional interpretation soon crumbled.
Today the idea of the Tragic Era is unanimously rejected as myth by schol-
ars, though it still has a hold on the popular imagination.?

His judgments on Brownlow’s wartime unionism and postwar Radi-
calism aside, Coulter’s portrayal of the Parson has held up remarkably
well. Coulter basically disliked Brownlow, and so have most of the histo-
rians who have written about him since 1937—even those not in sympa-
thy with Coulter’s views on blacks and the Confederacy. Most agree with
Coulter that Brownlow’s zealous partisanship often went beyond the
bounds of fairness, propriety, and even reason. (“Fanatical” is Coulter’s
favorite description of the Parson, and it is echoed by many other writ-
ers.) And all join Coulter in condemning Governor Brownlow’s Machia-
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vellian manipulation of voter registration and election returns. But, at the
same time, all second Coulter’s point that Brownlow’s private persona
stood in stark contrast to his public persona (Coulter calls him “a Dr.
Jekyl and a Mr. Hyde”): even many of the Parson’s opponents admitted
that, in private, he was friendly, kind, and generous to a fault.*

In fact, historical scholarship since 1937 has not altered the basic
outline of Brownlow’s life as presented by Coulter—evidence of Coulter’s
diligent research. Some new details have come to light, however; and a
certain amount of reinterpretation, or at least recontextualization, of the
Parson’s career has been done, particularly since the 1960s. (For a dis-
cussion of the studies of Brownlow published between 1937 and 1970,
see James W. Patton’s introduction to the 1971 edition of Coulter’s book.)

Monographs published in recent years by Paul H. Bergeron and
Jonathan M. Atkins have shed added light on Brownlow’s role in antebel-
lum politics. The Parson’s prewar religious and temperance activities have
been elucidated in essays by Forrest Conklin and John W. Wittig. Re-
search by Durwood Dunn has turned up Brownlow’s signature on an 1834
antislavery petition—a revelation that would have mightily embarrassed
the Parson, who later became a prominent proslavery spokesman, and
mightily amused Merton Coulter, who loved to point out Brownlow’s
inconsistencies. Another discovery by Dunn that would have made
Brownlow blush and Coulter chuckle is a contemporary report (albeit
secondhand) that in 1840, at a political rally, the Parson got roaring drunk.’

Modern scholarship dealing with Brownlow in the secession crisis
includes a monograph by Daniel W. Crofts and an essay by Charles F.
Bryan Jr. Both underscore the crucial role of Brownlow and a handful of
other East Tennessee unionist leaders in encouraging a firm stand against
secession by the citizens of the region. More recently, Noel C. Fisher has
produced a study of East Tennessee’s internal civil war that emphasizes
the impact of the Parson’s wartime writings and speeches on the northern
public and military. A new edition of Brownlow’s 1862 book, which was
a bestseller in the North, has been published with an introduction by the
present author; and Noel Fisher has written an essay comparing that book
with others by East Tennessee unionists.®

Brownlow’s governorship is discussed (within the broader context
of postwar Republicanism in southern Appalachia) in Gordon B.
McKinney’s recently reprinted monograph. McKinney contradicts
Coulter’s assertion that Brownlow’s long-term impact on Tennessee poli-
tics was slight; and he makes the point, at least implicitly, that Brownlow
played a role in shaping the popular perception of southern Appalachia as
a unique, isolated region. Other modern studies of the Parson’s guberna-
torial years include Wilson D. Miscamble’s essay on the 1865 election,
Lonnie E. Maness’s on the 1867 election, and Kathleen R. Zebley’s on
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Tennessee legislator Samuel Arnell, one of Brownlow’s Radical allies.
Brownlow’s stumping in the North during the 1866 congressional cam-
paigns is examined in an essay by Forrest Conklin.”

In recent decades only two authors have ventured to write compre-
hensive accounts of Brownlow. Steve Humphrey’s book focuses on the
Parson as a newspaper editor, though it does touch on the other aspects of
his life. (For one thing, Humphrey documents the fact that Brownlow
owned slaves for a time, which Coulter was apparently unaware of.) Un-
like most other commentators on Brownlow, Humphrey (a journalist him-
self) actually seems to like the man, admiring especially his editorial prow-
ess, his humor, and his generosity. James C. Kelly’s two-part essay on the
Parson is not as complimentary nor as detailed, but Kelly is the only
historian so far who has reevaluated Brownlow in the light of modern
interpretations of Reconstruction. Though he condemns Brownlow’s zeal-
otry and his misuse of power as governor, Kelly commends him for per-
ceiving the new political realities that made black enfranchisement desir-
able and for recognizing that reenfranchising the former Confederates
would be disastrous for black rights.®

Historians will certainly continue to reappraise Brownlow, but it is
unlikely that the basic story of his public career as told by Merton Coulter
will ever be substantially revised. And, barring the discovery of some
treasure-trove of hitherto unknown personal papers, any future explora-
tions of Brownlow’s private life will be mere guesswork. Coulter’s study
of the “Fighting Parson” will thus have a place on the historian’s shelf for
a long time to come. Anybody else who enjoys a good book about a re-
markable character should save a place for it, too.

Stephen V. Ash
University of Tennessee, Knoxville
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CHAPTER 1
CRUSADING IN THE SOUTHERN HIGHLANDS

To apmrT that one sprang from the second families of Virginia
marks a strange trait. Indeed, it may well be argued that if the
admission were publicly made and without provocation, it points
to positive idiosyncrasies. So much undoubtedly can be proved
on William Gannaway Brownlow, known to his time and to
history as the Fighting Parson. Like Abraham Lincoln, his
ancestry was the short and simple annals of the poor, but un-
like Lincoln he made a virtue out of telling it.

Brownlow’s father was Joseph A. Brownlow, who was born in
Rockbridge County, Virginia in 1781. He spent his life drift-
ing down the great valleys of Southern Appalachia, and by
1816, when he died, he had reached East Tennessee. Brownlow’s
mother was Catherine Gannaway, also a Virginian. This couple
had proceeded southwestward as far as a farm in Wythe County,
when their first child was born. It was on the 29th day of August,
1805, and the child was a boy. They named him William, to do
honor to one of his father’s brothers, and they added Gannaway
out of respect for his mother’s family. Two brothers and two
sisters followed in rather close succession, to be his playmates.
At the age of thirty-five his father died, a victim of the hard life
of the frontiersman, and his mother, with feelings too tender for
so dire a fate, grieved much for her departed husband, and
followed him within less than three months. At the age of eleven
Andrew Johnson, later to loom large on the Brownlow horizon,
had lost only his father ; Brownlow at the same age had lost both
father and mother. Though an orphan he grew strong and by
the time he became the Fighting Parson he seems to have dis-
covered how to transform vehemence into strength, for he out-
lived all of his brothers and sisters by almost two decades.’

1 For the early life and ancestry of Brownlow see, W. G. Brownlow, Skeiches
of the Rise, Progress, and Decline of Secession; with a Narrative of Personal



2 WILLIAM G. BROWNLOW
Brownlow was born in that mountainous region below Mason

and Dixon’s Line, which might well be called Southern Appa-
lachia. It is one great physiographic unit, embracing more than
100,000 square miles, and extending southward 500 miles and
more as far as northern Georgia and Alabama. Ignoring the
mighty decrees of nature, man, with his adventitious political
divisions, cut it up and parcelled it out among no less than eight
states; but the natural coherence of the people of Southern
Appalachia has stood out boldly in every great crisis which has
confronted them. Nature built this region on a plan clear and
simple. On the west is the bold Cumberland escarpment, and
on the east is the Blue Ridge, which in North Carolina and Ten-
nessee goes under the name of the Unakas and the Great Smoky
Mountains. Between lies the Great Appalachian Valley, which
is in fact various valleys running northeast and southwest. This
region, instead of being inaccessible, and hostile to man’s es-
thetic tastes and his economic struggles, is kindly disposed to
both. The beauty of the smoothly formed green ridges and the
great towering peaks, and the fertility of the broad river valleys
attracted people no less in the early pioneer days than at present.

Into these beautiful valleys came the Scotch-Irish before the
Revolutionary War,? and so eager were they and other early
settlers to see and to seize what was further on that, without
knowing it, they passed on out of the Old Dominion and as early
as 1769 reached the Watauga and Holston valleys in the King’s

Adventures among the Rebels, pp. 15-17 (This book is best known under the
binder’s title, Parson Brownlow’s Book and is thus referred to hereafter);
Portrait and Biography of Parson Brownlow, the Tennessee Patriot, Together
with his Last Editorial in the Knoxville Whig; also, his recent Speeches, Rehears-
ing his Experience with Secession, and his Prison Life, p. 27, (referred to here-
after as Portrait and Biography); W. G. Brownlow, Helps to the Study of Pres-
byterianism or, an Unsophisticated Ewxposition of Calvinism, with Hopkinsian
Modifications and Policy, with a View to a more easy Interpretation of the
Same. To Which is Added a Brief Account of the Life and Travels of the Au-
thor, Interspersed with Anecdotes, pp. 242-43 (referred to hereafter as Helps
to the Study of Presbyterianism. The personal narrative part of this book has
been republished in S. G. Heiskell, dndrew Jackson and Early Tennessee His-
tory, 111, 227-72); R. N. Price, Holston Methodism, II1I, 315-18; Oliver P.
Temple, Notable Men of Tennessee from 1833 to 1875, p. 318; and dAmerican
Annual Cyclopaedia, 1877, p. 19.
* Many Germans drifted into the Shenandoah Valley.
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colony of North Carolina. With characteristic frontier initia-
tive they set up a government of their own, writing out on
American soil for the first time a fundamental charter, and call-
ing it the Watauga Association. They fought the King at the
battle of Kings Mountain and later when affairs in state and
nation were not going to suit them, they showed further initia-
tive and daring by declaring themselves the independent State
of Franklin.

The spell of the frontier led people of every estate in life
to drift westward, and as they trudged along, the Great South-
ern Highlands laid first claim on them and levied its toll. In its
strategic position it stood to win some of the best as well as the
worst. It had fertile valleys which satisfied the most fastidious,
and it possessed barriers, which stopped the weaklings and shift-
less and afforded them homes which no other would accept. So
it was that some seeing the fertile lands, stopped through choice;
others suffering the breakdown of a wagon wheel, remained by
accident; and still others too poor and too weak to proceed
farther, settled down through hard necessity.

In Southern Appalachia were developing such families as
the Breckinridges, the Prestons, and the Clays who were to
move out about the beginning of the nineteenth century and
attach their names indelibly to other parts of the country. On
the edges of this region were born the Jeffersons and the Cal-
houns. Originating on the outside Andrew Jackson entered it,
remained for a time, and then moved on; Andrew Johnson came
to stay; David Crockett and Sam Houston were born in the
heart of Southern Appalachia, and both moved westward to cast
their lots with Texas. Admiral David G. Farragut came from
this region, and it was not by accident that he supported the
Union in the Civil War. And in the latter part of the century
Bob Taylor, born in East Tennessee, fiddled himself into the
hearts of his fellow-citizens and into the office of governor of
the state. Later his brother Alf won the same office, though
through the power of the opposite party, the Republicans. And
downward into the twentieth century Southern Appalachia has
not ceased to attract attention. It remained for a little town in
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East Tennessee to draw upon itself the eyes of the world as it
sought to prove that a great Englishman was wrong if not sac-
rilegious when he formulated his theory of evolution.

In such a region Brownlow found himself at the age of eleven,
an orphan. He was not of the rich valley people who tilled farms
of plantation proportions, though both the Brownlows and the
Gannaways had been sufficiently well-to-do to own a few slaves.
It is also evident that there was at that time a class of people
in the out-of-the-way places who had an economic standing
lower than the Brownlows. Manifestly a boy of eleven could
do little toward feeding and clothing a family of four younger
brothers and sisters, so these five orphans were scattered among
their relatives. Billy Brownlow was sent to his Uncle John
Gannaway, and for the next seven years he worked on a farm
and earned his keep by the sweat of his brow. As the hard life
of a farmer did not appeal to him, at the age of eighteen he got
his uncle’s permission to leave, and went to Abingdon, in Wash-
ington County. Here he apprenticed himself to another uncle,
George Winniford, a house-carpenter and a planter, and for
three years worked at the business of sawing planks, and build-
ing them into houses. But he was soon convinced that he was
not destined to go through life doing such things, and so decided
to get an education and become a man of some importance.

In 1825 a camp-meeting was reported in progress at Sul-
phur Springs, twenty-five miles from Abingdon. Brownlow went
over to join the crowd, and soon found himself converted, and
then for the first time in his life was “enabled to shout aloud the
wonders of redeeming love.” As he recalled the occasion a few
years later, “All my anxieties were then at an end—all my hopes
were realized—my happiness was complete.” A sudden change
had now come over him. He quit being a carpenter, and hurried
away from Abingdon back up into Wythe County, there to have
his rude educational tools welded by William Horne into finer in-
struments. This year ended his formal schooling, but it height-
ened his insatiable desire to read and study almost every book
he could lay his hands on.

* Brownlow, Helps to the Study of Presbyterianism, pp. 243-44; Knowville
Whig, September 9, 1868.
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As Brownlow read, he also observed. He was soon convinced
that the quickest way to become a great man in his little world
in Southern Appalachia was to join in the great religious boom
then in progress. Not much education was needed, but a large
amount of religious fervor, excitability, and pugnacity would go
a long way, and if a ready tongue and a quick wit were added,
the combination would be complete. As Brownlow had all these
qualities in excellent proportions, he decided to join in the move-
ment. According to the law of probabilities, he should have be-
come a volunteer in the Presbyterian forces, for these crusaders
were the first to visit the back country of Virginia, in the Scotch-
Irish migrations of colonial times. The Brownlow family was
Scotch-Irish and naturally was Presbyterian, but the Ganna-
ways were Methodists and it was they who had the last word
on religious matters with Billy Brownlow before he became a
man. And then, too, the Methodist ways of doing things suited
Brownlow much better. Finally, it was a Methodist meeting
which had turned him to the Lord. So Brownlow decided to join
the Methodist movement and become a leader in the front ranks.
As the Holston Conference was scheduled to meet in Abingdon
in the fall of 1826, he planned to attend and to apply for ad-
mission into the travelling ministry. Bishop Joshua Soule pre-
sided this year, and it was he who admitted Brownlow, assigning
him to the Black Mountain Circuit, in North Carolina, an out-
post on the eastern slopes of Appalachia.

What sort of task confronted this new parson in the wilder-
ness? What had the forces of organized religion done for South-
ern Appalachia and what had been their manner of doing it?
These questions must of need be settled. It brings no profit to
any one to be able to say truly which might have been the first
denomination to be represented in any given portion of the
great Southern Highlands by some wandering preacher, per-
haps, self-appointed; but it is of much importance as far as
history goes to be able to say which denomination first came in
considerable force and tended to hold the upper hand. This
strategic position fell to the Presbyterians, as before intimated,
but they were soon being hard-pressed by the Methodists and
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Baptists. The Presbyterians were in Abingdon some years be-
fore the American Revolution broke out, for Charles Cummings
went there in 1772 to serve two congregations already organized.
On down into East Tennessee they drifted; when Francis As-
bury passed through that region in 1802 he found them well
organized. The Presbyterians were the religious aristocrats in
this frontier country. They believed in education and carried
out that belief by setting up academies and colleges. In 1783
Samuel Doak set up Martin’s Academy at Salem. A dozen years
later this was transformed into Washington College. Greene-
ville College was provided for in 1794, and the year 1819 saw
the beginnings of Southern and Western Theological Semi-
nary, which later became Maryville College.*

A few stray religious enthusiasts who called themselves Bap-
tists seem to have made their appearance in East Tennessee,
long before this name was applied to the region, even as early
as the Watauga settlement. The Indians demolished one of their
establishments before the Revolutionary War, but the Baptists
were back again by 1781, this time at Buffalo Ridge. Thereafter
one Baptist association followed another in a steady progression,
bearing such names as Holston, Nolichucky, Powell’s Valley,
Sweetwater, Sequatchee, and Ocoee.’

Methodist men of God were in the back country almost as soon
as a settlement would spring up; their activities began in South-
west Virginia before 1783, for it was in this year that the Hol-
ston Circuit was set up. The first Conference ever to be held west
of the mountains took place in East Tennessee in May, 1788,
at a place called Half-Acres; and it was the ubiquitous Asbury
who presided. Later he passed through this region often in his
wilderness travels, and now and then Lorenzo Dow, “the crazy

*J. E. Alexander, 4 Brief History of the Synod of Tennessee from 1817 to
1887, pp. 5, 11, 64-81; C. B. Coale, The Life and Adventures of William Waters,
the Famous Hunter and Trapper of White Top Mountain, embracing Early
History of Southwestern Virginia, Sufferings of the Pioneers, ctc. etc. pp. 246-
58; W. T. Hale and D. L. Merritt, 4 History of Tennessee and Tennesseeans,
p. 228; Journal of Rev. Francis Asbury, IT1,87; L. S. Merriam, Higher Education
in Tennessee, p. 63,

® David Benedict, 4 Qeneral History of the Baptist Denomination in America
and other Parts of the World.
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preacher,” came this way. Soon the Methodists were setting up
their circuits throughout all Southern Appalachia. As for
schools and colleges, the followers of John Wesley were not
quite sure that such man-made institutions might not afford easy
ways for wasting money. And at this time the feeling was not
completely dispelled from among them that a Methodist preach-
er needed no more education than that with which the Lord had
endowed him. Yet in 1831 they founded Holston Seminary at
New Market, in East Tennessee, and falling into the habits of
the times, they soon changed it into a manual training school.
In 1836 the Holston Conference succeeded in founding a college
which they had been contemplating for four years. At first they
decided to locate it at Strawberry Plains, in East Tennessee, but
their final decision was to go to Washington County, in South-
west Virginia. This institution developed into Emory and Henry
College.®

Carrying religion to the frontier was beset with almost as
many dangers and inconveniences as dogged the steps of the
Crusaders in the Holy Land. The Methodist circuit-rider was
in the forefront; the Baptist itinerant was not far behind; the
Presbyterians, while generally early on the field, enjoyed more
security back of the lines. The frontier preacher, though little
educated, was tremendously serious; indeed, his zeal often went
in inverse proportion to his learning. Hunting souls was to
some adventuresome frontiersmen much the same as hunting
bears might be to others. There was much the same sort of sport
for both, although the soul hunter might not always recognize
it. Each made a living, and neither grew wealthy. The Methodist
circuit-rider was allowed about $80 a year if he could find means
for getting it, and in computing this amount, gifts of food and
raiment and fees for marrying couples were included. He was
urged to remain single as long as he was on the circuit, and if
he felt he must marry he was urged to “locate,” in order to sup-
plement his income from other means than preaching. Old Peter

*J. B. McFerrin, History of Methodism in Tennessee; W. W. Sweet, The Rise
of Methodism in the West, p. 16; Journal of Francis 4sbury, 11, 33; Coale, op.
cit., pp. 205-8, 246-58; Brownlow, Helps to the Study of Presbyterianism, pp.
284-85.
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Cartwright, who knew well the business of circuit-riding, ob-
served, “But the Lord provided ; and, strange as it may appear
to the present generation, we got along without starving, or
going naked.””

The circuit-rider’s equipment generally consisted of a horse,
a bridle, a saddle, and saddle-bags. Among the contents of his
saddle-bags were a Bible, and perhaps occasionally a copy of
Milton’s works. The latter was valuable for descriptions of hell-
fire; the former must be a constant companion, for the Bible
should be continuously studied in order that the sinner might be
the more easily refuted. And furthermore a frontier preacher
would be forever disgraced among his fellows if he were ever
caught off guard to the extent that he could not preach a sermon
at the shortest notice on any given passage in the Bible. Ezek.
1:16 reads, “The appearance of the wheels and their work was
like unto the colour of a beryl: and they four had one likeness:
and their appearance and their work was as it were a wheel in
the middle of a wheel.” This difficult passage led a Presbyterian
preacher to construct a sermon which he called “A Wheel With-
in & Wheel,” and which he liked so well that he had it printed
in the Calvanistic Magazine, an East Tennessee publication.®
Once a Methodist bishop exhibited his learning by beginning
his sermon in this wise, “My beloved hearers, I shall in the first
place speak to you of the things which you know ; second, of what
I know, and you do not know; third, of the things that neither
of us know.”®

The frontier man of God was a hard rider, a hard preacher,
and a hard liver. One who knew the Methodist itineracy in its
greatest vigor declared that

it had no ruffles or lawn sleeves that it cared to soil, no love-locks
that it feared to disorder, no buckles it was loath to tarnish. It
lodged roughly, and it fared scantily. It tramped up muddy ridges,

TW. P. Strickland, ed., dutobiography of Peter Cartwright, the Backwoods
Preacher, pp. 521-22; William Henry Milburn, Ten Years of Preacher Life;
Chapters from an Autobiography, pp. 847-88.

® Vol. I11, No. 7 (July, 1829), pp. 199-213. This magazine was started in Jan-
uary, 1827, in Rogersville, in East Tennessee, by James Gallaher, Frederick A.
Ross, and David Nelson. See also Milburn, op. eit., pp. 365-66.

® Ibid., p. 368.
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it swam or forded rivers to the waist; it slept on leaves or raw
deer-skin, and pillowed its head on saddle-bags; it bivouacked
among wolves or Indians; now it suffered from ticks or mosquitoes
—it was attacked by dogs, it was hooted, and it was pelted—but
it throve.'

He threaded his way through the wilderness with a Bible
in one hand and a sword in the other. He might have had im-
perfect notions of the universe outside of Southern Appalachia,
but he was seriously going about the task which he knew it was
his duty to perform. His language was fiery and direct, for he
knew he had a great issue to settle every time he preached. He
had the conviction that there were souls in his audience which
if not saved then would go down to eternal damnation before he
should return. An East Tennessee religious publication excited-
ly declared, “With unspeakable distress we have heard of the
alarming prevalence and wide-spread ravages of moral death
in one of the western counties of Virginia.” A runner had but
recently arrived and told “with streaming eyes of the ruin which
appears to hang over the people.”"!

The earliest preachers of course found no meeting-houses, so
they preached under some large tree or on the doorstep of some
willing convert. Bishop Asbury came through East Tennessee
in the fall of 1802 and reported that he ‘“had sacrament and love
feast in the woods.”"? The lack of meeting-houses and the strange
religious outburst that swept over the whole western frontier
at the break of the nineteenth century, led to the camp-meetings
which were held out in the midst of the forest. The Great Revival
seems to have had its earliest and most intense manifestations
beyond the mountains out in Kentucky, but some of the strang-
est outbursts first appeared in East Tennessee. People for miles
around went to these meetings in almost unbelievable numbers
for where else could they go and what else was there to draw
them together, unless it were the tricks of a politician? Bishop
Asbury attended a camp-meeting in 1802 near Jonesboro. It

® Wm. W. Wightman, Life of William Capers, D.D., one of the Bishops of the
Methodist Episcopal Church South; including an Autobiography, pp. 471-72.

1 Qalvinistic Magazine, vol. 1, no, 1 (January, 1827), p. 29.

2 Journal of Francis Asbury, 111, 87,
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lasted for four days and drew a modest crowd of about 1,500
people. According to his account, “We had a shaking, and some
souls felt convicting and converting grace.”® But it remained
for “crazy Dow,” who debouched from Buncombe County, in
North Carolina, down the French Broad River, the next year,
to discover and report on happenings strange even to the early
frontier preacher. He had heard “about a singularity called the
jerks or jerking exercise, which appeared first near Knoxville
in August last, to the great alarm of the people. .. .” At first he
considered the report “vague and false,” but “at length, like
the Queen of Sheba” he set out to see for himself. He was soon
in the midst of things and saw remarkable sights. The afflicted
threw their heads to and fro hurriedly, at the same time jerking
furiously in every limb. At one of the camp-meetings, he saw
jerking-saplings, “where the people had laid hold of them and
jerked so powerfully that they had kicked up the earth as a
horse stamping flies.” Peter Cartwright knew much about jerk-
ing. He had had as many as five hundred people at one time
jerking in his congregations. According to him the bonnets,
hats, and combs of the women would fly off, and so violently
did their heads snap back and forth that “their long hair cracked
almost as loudly as a wagoner’s whip.” The Lord smote the
people of this wilderness in other strange fashions. People ran
hurriedly to and fro on the camp grounds and in the tabernacle
under the trees; some lay prostrate in beds of straw; others with
flays hurried out into the forests and whipped the trees as if
they were chasing and chastising the devil; some went through
the motions of playing the fiddle or sewing; and some went into
the holy dance. Dow visited a camp-meeting across the line in
Virginia where he heard a great pandemonium of the wicked
break out, as they were smitten by the Lord. One preacher had
used up his strength in exhorting the multitude and then an-
other “began to exhort, when there commenced a trembling
among the wicked; one, a second, and a third fell from their
seats and the cry for mercy became general . . . and for eleven
hours there was no cessation of the loud cries.” The Quakers in

* Ibid., p. 86.
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East Tennessee did not seem to engage in these antics, but Dow
found a sect of them “who do not feel free to wear colored
clothes.”™*

These holy demonstrations gradually began to degenerate,
in the eyes of some of the preachers, into gigantic frolics and
horse-play performances, and the whole system of camp-meet-
ings soon came in for condemnation. Lorenzo Dow declared
that he had heard a preacher produce “ten passages of Scrip-
ture to prove that dancing was once a religious exercise, but
corrupted at Aaron’s calf, and from thence young people got
it for amusement.” But the camp-meeting was destined to out-
last all its critics, even into the dawn of the twentieth century.
It became one of the fixed institutions in Southern Appalachia,
serving not only the religious group but also the irreligious ele-
ment. The announcement of a camp-meeting brought glee to
the hearts of all the bullies, drunkards, pickpockets, horse-
traders, horse-thieves, and whiskey-traffickers throughout all
the surrounding country. To preserve order was no easy task,
but in the performance of this function, some of the best preach-
ers developed into some of the most proficient fighters. Virile old
Peter Cartwright, in his western vineyard, stood equally ready
to instill the fear of God into his hearers through a sermon or
by wielding a club. Once with a club he knocked a rowdy off
his horse, seized him, took him before a justice of the peace and
had him fined $50. On another occasion he seized the whiskey
supply of a bunch of disturbers and drove them off the camp-
ground with a barrage of stones. When in the midst of his ser-
mon a woman disturbed the meeting by kicking her converted
daughters, he tripped her up and threw her sprawling among
the congregation, continuing his discourse as if nothing had
happened. Now and then he worked such strategems on the hood-

"7, W. Humes, The Loyal Mountaineers of Tennessee, pp. 339-41; Perambula-
tions of Cosmopolite; or Travels and Labors of Lorenzo Dow in Europe and
America, pp. 132-33; The Dealings of God, Man, and the Devil; as Exemplified
in the Life, Experience, and Travels of Lorenzo Dow, in a Period of over Half a
Century; together with his Polemic and Miscellaneous Writings. Complete. To
which is added the Vicissitudes of Life, by Peggy Dow, I, 27, 85 (referred to
hereafter as Dealings of God, Mun, and the Devil). Abel Stevens, History of
the Methodist Episcopal Church of the United States of America, 1V, 433,
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lums as playing on the vanity of their leader by appointing him
peace officer and thereby turning him against his own gang, and
by centering his heavenly artillery on the gang leader and sub-
duing him. Parson Cartwright’s creed was “to love everybody,
but to fear no one,” and he added, “I did not permit myself to
believe any man could whip me till it was tried.” A gentle Bap-
tist itinerant in the Big Sandy Valley of Eastern Kentucky, by
the use of his fiddle, tamed the spirit of the rowdies that might
otherwise have disturbed him.*®

To say that these fiery champions of the Lord should fight
only gangsters would leave unnoticed some of their greatest
battles. In this great arena of Southern Appalachia there were
three bands of gladiators—the Methodists, the Baptists, and
the Presbyterians—contesting for the souls of the people. Fights
waxed as hot among these three groups as ever they did between
preacher and rowdy. The general tendency was for the two Cal-
vinistic groups, the Baptists and the Presbyterians, to join
the fray against the Methodists. This union of forces was en-
couraged by the fact that the Methodists appeared to each of
the other denominations to be the most dangerous rival. Meth-
odism was a frontier religion, made so by the chief characteris-
tics of its doctrines and by the nature of the frontiersmen.
Among the cardinal principles of Methodism were free will,
free grace, and individual responsibility. These ideas worked in
definite harmony with frontier democracy. Such Calvinistic
doctrines as predestination and foreordination could have little
appeal to a headstrong son of the frontier, who wanted and
would have his own way, in this world if not hereafter. So, con-
tentions and disputes grew up in which there was none too lowly
to participate and none too high. At the very time Brownlow
became a parson, a war against Methodism was raging, with
Nathan Bangs and John Emory boldly fighting the battles for
John Wesley. Although one of the most historic fights against
Methodists in Southern Appalachia was carried on by a Pres-
byterian, the Baptists developed the more intense rivalry with the

® Milburn, op. ¢it., pp. 383-84; W. R. Jillson, The Big Sandy Valley. A Regional
History Prior to the Year 1850, pp. 105-6; Strickland, ep. cit., p. 133.
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Methodists and engaged in the greater number of battles.
Jacob Young, a Methodist preacher, experienced much
trouble in organizing a circuit until he was able to dispel the
feeling of the people that he was a Baptist. On one occasion,
as darkness was fast approaching, he spied a cabin in the midst
of the forest. He approached and asked the woman in the door-
way whether he might spend the night. She was on the point of
turning him away as a roving Baptist, when he explained that
he was a Methodist. Thereupon she exclaimed, “La me! has a
Methodist preacher come at last? Yes, brother, you shall stay
all night.”*® The point of difference between the Methodists and
Baptists that produced the greatest amount of disputing was
the question of baptism. So many revivals had been held in the
Clinch Circuit and the people had been preached to so much
that they had become “very superstitious in their notions—Ilook-
ing for miracles and things out of the common order. They ex-
pected for God to tell them everything that they ought to do.”
According to the Reverend Mr. Young,

A class-leader became dissatisfied with the baptism he received
when he was an infant, and began to think he ought to be baptized
by immersion ; he talked to the preachers and to the brethren, but
concluded he would lay it before the Lord. One morning he arose
early and went upon the mountain, and continued in prayer until
late in the afternoon. But before sundown, the family heard him
crying at the top of his voice, and he came down from the mountain,
in full speed, crying, “Baptism, baptism, baptism, by immersion !’
He thought he had received the revelation right from heaven ; others
thought so too, and away they went and were immersed—then they
felt that all was well.’”

Often Methodist and Baptist ministers interrupted each other
in their meetings and now and then meetings were broken up
by the indignant enemy. On one occasion a Baptist cried out
in a Methodist service, “Sir, you have preached lies this day,

'* dutobiography of a Pioneer: or, the Nativity, Experience, Travels, and
Ministerial Labors of Rev. Jacob Young with Incidents, Observations, and Re-

flections, p. 83.
¥ Ibid., pp. 126-27.
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and I can prove it from the word of God.”*® The congregation
dispersed in riotous disorder. But the Methodists were not
above taking the offensive. A Baptist, after bitterly castigating
a Methodist, called upon anyone in his audience to deny the truth
of his charges. Peter Cartwright arose and assailed him so mer-
cilessly that he fled from the house. Then, according to Cart-
wright’s account, “I ordered him to stop, and told him, if he
did not, I would shoot him in the back for a tory; he got out at
the door. He was taken so at surprise, and charged on so sud-
denly, that he forgot his hat, and he peeped around the door-
chink at me. I blazed away at him till he dodged back, and
started off, bare-headed, for home, talking to himself by the
way.”"® Parson Cartwright was greatly annoyed by the prose-
lyting Baptists who came across his trail, and he solemnly laid
this charge against them:

It was the order of the day (though I am sorry to say it), that
we were constantly followed by a certain set of proselyting Bap-
tist preachers. These new and wicked settlements [in the upper
Cumberland River region] were seldom visited by these Baptist
preachers until the Methodist preachers entered them; then, when
a revival was gotten up, or the work of God revived, these Baptist
preachers came rushing in and they generally sung their sermons;
and when they struck the long 7oll, or their sing-song mode of
preaching, in substance it was “water! water! You must follow
your blessed Lord down into the water!” . . . indeed, they made
so much ado about baptism by immersion, that the uninformed
would suppose that heaven was an island, and there was no way
to get there but by diving or swimming.?

The Presbyterians, less given to roving up and down the
wilderness, carried on their warfare in the more dignified printed
page. So they were answered likewise. Cartwright, equally ver-
satile as a pamphleteer or a verbal antagonist, hurled against
them such compositions as these, “A Useful Discovery: or I

 Ibid., p. 80.

* Strickland, op. cit., p. 136. This incident took place in the Cumberland River

region in 1813,
* Ibid., pp. 133-34.
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Never Saw the Like Before,” “The Dagon of Calvinism,” and
“The History of the Devil,” and “Crazy Dow” entered the
pamphleteer’s arena against them with his “Chain.””*

The ministers of Southern Appalachia had all the frailties
of the rough frontiersmen among whom they worked. They
suffered all the hardships that befell frontiersmen, but they
bore them with joy for in their unshaken faith they knew they
were performing the task the Lord had set for them. Had they
not been combative in disposition they would never have secured
a hearing or a following. People went to their meetings to be
entertained, and many came away converted. When civilizing
influences had softened the hard forces of nature and had tamed
the savage disposition of man, the preachers, no longer having
rivers to swim and rowdies to whip, intensified the warfare
among themselves. Mankind is endowed with an irreducible min-
imum of piety which always promotes true religion, but churches
have never depended on this fact alone.?* As time went on, edu-
cation and social standing were beginning to develop into re-
ligious assets, but stirring up prejudice and antagonism against
the other sects was long to be a powerful weapon wielded by the
preacher-warriors in Southern Appalachia.

=W, 8. Hooper, ed., Fifty Years as a Presiding Elder by Rev. Peter Cart-
wright, pp. 92 ff.

2 Controversy was nothing new in the development and spread of religious
sects. It has played so consistent a part in history that it might well be considered
the normal. Methodism was ushered into America in the midst of a dispute be-
tween George Whitefield and John Wesley. New England was being torn asunder

by her bitter religious contentions, while Southern Appalachia was yet the peace-
ful home of the Cherokees.



CHAPTER 1I
A NEW PARSON RIDES THE CIRCUIT

Bissor Josuua Sourk sent young Brownlow to one of the
roughest and most inaccessible parts of all Southern Appala-
chia. The Holston Conference, in which Brownlow was to carry
on his circuit-riding for the next ten years, was laid out with
no regard at all for state lines; it embraced parts of Virginia,
North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia, and Tennessee, and
the Parson on horseback carried his message into every one of
these states before he was finally allowed to locate. The Confer-
ence was composed of five districts, Abingdon, French Broad,
Knoxville, Hiwassee and Asheville, and the districts were made
up of varying numbers of circuits. In that part of the Confer-
ence where the long ridges prevailed, the circuit was more likely
than not to be made up of a single valley, as the Clinch Circuit,
which at one time was simply the Powell River Valley, 150 miles
long and 25 miles wide. But the Black Mountain Circuit, in the
Asheville District, where Brownlow was sent, lay far over in
North Carolina on the eastern slopes of the Blue Ridge where
the mountains were jumbled and piled so high that they formed
the roof of eastern North America.

According to the custom, he was taken on trial, and indeed
if he should succeed in cultivating the Lord’s vineyard in such
a region as this, he should soon well deserve the full connection
that each circuit-rider expected after two years. Into this region
in the fall of 1826 came the twenty-one-year-old Parson, stretch-
ing upwards to the extent of about six feet, with sharp features,
glaring eyes, and a determination written in his countenance that
might mean defiance, fright, or fanaticism. If Joshua Soule had
hoped to scare him out of the Methodist ministry by starting
him off in such a place as the Black Mountain Circuit, the Bishop
was much mistaken. The look in his face that some might have
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interpreted as fright was in fact the quintessence of defiance and
fanaticism. He seems never to have developed fear of anything
throughout his long life. Yet there was hidden in his being a
romantic love for nature in her most heroic moods. Instead of
running from these rough mountains and swift torrents, he
thought they were exquisitely beautiful. He signalized the day
following his first Christmas as a circuit-rider by nearly freezing
to death on Cane River. As for his vineyard, “There are few
places in the world which can vie with the counties of Buncombe
and Burke, in beauty and novelty of scenery—the extended
hill-side fields, rich ridges, beautiful springs, mountain coves,
high conical peaks, and astonishing verdure covering the soil,
set off to the best advantage, the lofty Black Mountain.” He
was also greatly attracted by Table Rock, a great jumping-off
place into the Piedmont region, which extended through Burke
County to the eastward.

If there was romanticism in the Parson which his countenance
did not show, there was a vast amount of fanatical zeal that
showed in every lineament. The Baptists soon brought this
characteristic into play. He had never come into contact with
this sect before entering the Black Mountain region, but here
he soon ran afoul of them, for they resented his activities and
opposed him with much bitterness. He found them exceedingly
bigoted and narrow and possessed of the certain feeling that
they were the only ones who held a claim on “the bounty of the
skies.” He ran into one of their meetings where they were en-
gaged in the religious observance of foot-washing and he ob-
served, “never did I, before or since, see as many big dirty feet,
washed in one large pewter basin full of water!”?

The next year he was moved back toward Tennessee to the
French Broad Circuit, still in the Asheville District, but before
the year was out he was sent to the Maryville Circuit in East
Tennessee for three months, and then transferred again back
into Buncombe County. While out in the Maryville region he
had his first skirmish with the Presbyterians, who were very

* Brownlow, Helps to the Study of Presbyterianism, p. 245; Autobiography of

a Pioneer, pp. 106-27.
? Brownlow, Helps to the Study of Presbyterianism, p. 244.
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strong in that vicinity. He complained of being continuously
pursued by a little Calvinistic upstart who made no end of pes-
tering him about such subjects as moral inability and the im-
possibility of falling from grace. He attended a meeting, where
a Presbyterian was trying to describe the comical dress of a
Methodist preacher. With a great bluster Brownlow stood up
and asked the audience to look for themselves. This unexpected
move threw the meeting into an uproar. By such acts Brownlow
was becoming known and getting talked about far and wide.
While in Knoxville one day he ran up on a Presbyterian min-
ister enjoying much fun in a movement he had launched to raise
money for having Brownlow’s picture painted. This promoter
asked Brownlow for a subscription, whereupon the Parson
quickly replied that he would contribute if it were set up “as a
pattern for minister-making.” By this time Brownlow had dis-
covered that his ugliness, which he never denied, served only to
spread his name and reputation farther. This year he also had
his brushes with the Baptists again, and when he heard them
ridiculing and reviling the Methodists he rose up in their meet-
ings and denounced and confused them. He declared the Bap-
tist ministers were very quarrelsome even among themselves,
that they often fought over a division of the money in the collec-
tion plate.

Amidst all his contentions with the Calvinists, he found time to
admire the beauty of nature and to try his powers of description
upon it. How beautiful it was in the summer! “But O, the huge,
enormous mountains! the steep and dizzy precipices; the pend-
ant horrors of the craggy promontories—how wild and awful
they look of a rainy evening !

At length another year rolled by and Brownlow prepared to
attend the Annual Conference, which met this year at Jones-
boro, across the line in East Tennessee; and Bishop Joshua
Soule was to preside again. In his mind he revolved this leave-
taking of his beloved mountains, “Adieu to those scenes, till the
last loud trump of God shall sound; and until eruptions, earth-
quakes, comets, and lightnings, disgorge their blazing maga-

® Ibid., pp. 246-48.
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zines ! Soule seems to have approved of his underling’s contest
with the Presbyterians and the Baptists, for the Parson noted
with much pleasure that the Bishop in a sermon at the Confer-
ence “certainly tore the very hindsite off of Calvinism!” This
year the Parson was sent on his way into southeast Tennessee
to the Washington Circuit in the Washington District. In this
region he let his zeal for disputing run riot to such an extent
that he soon found himself in the midst of a slander suit, which
he, however, succeeded in getting dismissed. Here he also made
another discovery. For the first time he now ran into a sect called
the Cumberland Presbyterians, a group who had broken away
from the regular Presbyterian Church out in Kentucky in 1810
because they believed the latter required too much education
for those seeking to enter the ministry.* He found their chief
activities to be proselyting from the other churches and preach-
ing long sermons. He declared, “I do not recollect to have ever
heard more than one who closed till he was completely out of
strength, words, and ideas!”” He also observed that he did not
believe in long sermons and that no sermon should be longer
than an hour, for “of all the deaths that ever any people died,
there is none so distressing as that of being preached to death!”®
This observation he soon forgot.

The Parson seems to have had a great deal of curiosity in his
make-up. Down in southeastern Tennessee he was in the former
home of the Cherokee Indians, and not far removed from their
abode at that time. He decided to make them a visit to see how
they looked, how they lived, and what their religion was like. At
this time Georgia was having trouble with her unwelcome red-
men, so Brownlow decided to carry out his visiting in Alabama.
Since he had an uncle living near Muscle Shoals, on the Ten-
nessee River, he first went there and then traveled through the
Cherokee nation. He found those Indians who were not savages
to be good Methodists, and he heard an excellent prayer deliv-
ered by Turtlefields, one of their preachers.®

* For an account of the rise of this sect see Lewis and R. H. Collins, History of
Kentucky, 1, 433-36.

® Brownlow, Helps to the Study of Presbyterianism, pp. 249-51.

* Ibid., pp. 251-52.
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In 1829 the Holston Conference met in Abingdon, Virginia.
Though he remained in the same district as formerly, Brown-
low was transferred to the Athens Circuit. While on this circuit,
the Parson succeeded so well in his work that his enemies named
a dog for him. He also got himself involved in a newspaper
controversy.?

Brownlow as a crusader seemed to suit the Methodists, for
in 1829 he was admitted into full connection, and the next year
he was given elder’s orders. This year the Annual Conference
met at Ebenezer in Greene County, Tennessee, attended by the
two bishops, William M’Kendree and Joshua Soule. The latter
presided, and sent Brownlow this year to the Tellico Circuit
in the Hiwassee region of Tennessee. Here the Parson ran into
an eddy of that disturbance which was sweeping over the coun-
try under the name of Anti-Masonic movement. He heard a
great deal of talk about Masonry, but since he was not quite
able to gain from the outside a knowledge of just what it was,
he decided to exercise a bit of self-restraint and not preach a
sermon against it. But here and elsewhere he was to run into a
species of quacks, which he felt quite sure he did understand,
and he thundered out against them with all his vehemence. They
were the so-called steam doctors, who carried around a concoc-
tion which they gave for all ailments.®

The Parson traveled over Southern Appalachia more or less
according to the laws of a cyclone. He had a daily motion
inside the circuit and a great circular forward movement, on
which he advanced each year by the aid of Bishop Soule. He
began in the eastern confines of the Holston Conference in
North Carolina and receded westward down the French Broad
River into East Tennessee and then southwest into the south-
east corner of Tennessee, only to be pushed back eastward
toward the place of his beginning. At the 1831 Conference he
was sent to the Franklin Circuit, which lay around about the
three-state corner, where North Carolina, South Carolina, and
Georgia touched one another. This year he made three tours
through the southeastern ramparts of the Southern Highlands,

7Ibid., pp. 252-54.
® Ibid., pp. 256, 281-82,
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the “Taxaway Mountains” as he chose to denominate them, and
he later marvelled that he did not lose his life.

He found this region infested with Baptists and he adjudged
them as pestiferous as ever. They were always shouting “water!
. . . as if the Saviour of mankind were a pennywinkle, and could
only be found hanging to a sand-stone, in the bottom of some
water course!” One of them, named Humphrey Posey, he en-
dured as long as he could, and he finally took the offensive
and accused Posey of selling Bibles which he was being paid to
give away free. Parson Posey denied the charges and indicted
Brownlow for libel. Brownlow had been rather bold to act as he
did in this Baptist community, and he should have expected
the decision which the court handed down. The case was tried at
Franklin, in Macon County, North Carolina. According to
Brownlow the judge was “corrupt and drunken,” and even
worse, a Baptist, so he fined Brownlow $5 and the costs. The
Parson felt able to pay the $5 and he reckoned the costs to be
negligible, so he went about his business of preaching, worrying
none about the court’s decision. But one Sunday morning while
he was in the midst of a meeting, “a corrupt and inexperienced
deputy sheriff,” with a bill of exhorbitant costs, run up by a
great horde of Baptist witnesses who had been summoned with-
out Brownlow’s knowledge, levied upon all the Parson’s avail-
able worldly possessions and seized them—*“an elegant dun mare,
saddle, bridle, saddle-bags, and umbrella.” This trick rankled
deep in Brownlow’s soul, and he never forgot it. He declared this
trial and the subsequent proceedings to be an outrageous
travesty on justice, the like of which had never disgraced the
annals of mankind since the trial of William Penn at Old Bailey,
excepting possibly the persecutions of John Wesley at Savan-
nah, and of Lorenzo Dow at Charleston.®

Twenty years later the Parson took an inventory of the
“wicked crew” who had done this deed to him, and to his great
delight he found just what he expected: The judge had died
“in a drunken fit of debauch”; Parson Posey had before his

® Ibid., pp. 257, 259, 261, 269-72; J. P. Arthur, Western North Carolina, 4
History; MSS Archives of Macon County, Franklin, N. C.
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earthly departure, turned into “a wretched and raving maniac”;
one of the jurors “died, drunk in the woods”; another was serv-
ing a sentence in the penitentiary for store-breaking; another
had fled the country to escape prosecution for forgery; and
still another guilty of perjury was in hiding to escape just
punishment. As for the remainder of these corrupt jurors, he
had not heard from them for a time, “but the probability is,
the Devil has those of them, who have departed this life, while
the living ones are likely in some state prison!” Thus, had the
Lord finally vindicated the name of one of His chief circuit-
riding parsons.'®

But unjust trials and court decisions could never stop Par-
son Brownlow or dampen his ardor for carrying Methodism
to the people. The year 1833 became historic on account of a
strange manifestation of nature so unusual that the tradition
concerning it has lasted down to the present generation, even
among the unlettered in the most out-of-the-way places. This
was “the year the stars fell.” This beautiful display of comets
produced great excitement in the Southern Highlands and led
the more curious to seek explanations. Some of the Baptists
soon guessed that this had been a sign placed in the heavens
to indicate the downfall of the Methodists, but one Hopkinsian
lady had what she considered a more plausible explanation. She
had heard that Parson Brownlow had died, and in some way
had squeezed into heaven, and on his entry he had created such
a disturbance that he was put out. But this ejection in being
accomplished had jarred loose from their moorings all the stars
which came tumbling headlong to earth.!

The Annual Conference in 1832 was held in Evensham, Vir-
ginia, presided over by Bishop John Emory. The Bishop shifted
Brownlow slightly to the southeast to the Tugaloo Circuit,
which lay mostly in Pickens District, South Carolina, but partly
in Georgia. The Parson was soon convinced that he could do
very little good here since the whole region was “overrun with
Baptists.” Nevertheless he was determined to try. He swam the

1 Rnoxville Whig and Independent Journal, July 5, 1851.
“ Brownlow, Helps to the Study of Presbyterianism, pp. 276-77.
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Tugaloo River four times in “the dead of winter” and preached
more than once with his wet clothes frozen stiff about him.
Once he was nearly swept over the shoals and “was in a squirrel’s
Jjump of the good world.” But over in the Georgia part of his
kingdom he saw something which delighted his nature-loving
soul; it was the “Telulee Falls.”*? Never had he “witnessed a
scene which struck my mind with such profound awe, and so
completely filled me with admiration of the infinite skill of the
great Architect of nature.” It was the general report that they
were more grand than Niagara. He could scarcely describe the
effect they had upon him, but it seemed to him after looking at
them for a while that he felt a desire to reach the eternal world
to see the Maker of such a wonderful work of nature.’®

While on the Tugaloo Circuit in Pickens and Anderson dis-
tricts, Brownlow came as near the lowlands of the slaveholding
planters as he had ever before approached ; he was on the verge
of running out of his beloved mountains. He would naturally
look with misgiving upon these aristocrats, but the time of his
arrival was most unpropitious for the planters. They were in
the midst of their Nullification Movement, and Brownlow im-
mediately turned away with loathing detestation. He was a
Unionist; he had ridden the circuit in five states and had not
got out of the Holston Conference of the Methodist Church in
doing it. He loved all these states equally well, scarcely knowing
or caring when he passed from one into another. If South Caro-
lina should successfully defy the United States Government
she might break up the Union and the Holston Conference with
it. He bitterly opposed this heresy, and years later declared
that the movement had been engineered by the descendants of
the Tories of the Revolution. He charged that more Tories
had lived in South Carolina “than in all the other States put
together.” The Parson was not surprised to find that all the
Presbyterians and Baptists were Nullifiers and that they were
boldly announcing that Christ was a Nullifier. The insignia

2 Nature was, indeed, in a grand mood at Tallulah Falls; but twentieth cen-
tury Georgians, having more shriveled souls than the Parson, destroyed this
beautiful cataract, turning its wasted power into electricity.

# Brownlow, Helps to the Study of Presbyterianism, pp. 268-69,
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of the Nullifiers was a blue cockade. To help along the cause
the Parson aided some Unionists in pinning these cockades on
the tails of the worthless curs of the neighborhood that they
might carry high Nullification. Starved out by the Nullifiers,
Brownlow was glad to retreat back into the Union-loving moun-
tain region, but before going, according to his word, he took
a parting shot at them in a pamphlet, for which, he claimed,
they tried to hang him.**

The government of the Methodist Church provided for the
governmental meetings known as “conferences”—(1) a quar-
terly conference in each district, (2) an annual conference in
each regional division, which embraces a number of districts
and which as a region is called a conference, and (3) a quadren-
nial conference embracing all the regional divisions, or confer-
ences, in the whole United States. These meetings gave the min-
isters a chance to show themselves to their fellows, they gave
more tone and respectability to the backwoods circuit riders,
and they afforded a chance for the play of ambition for future
preferment. It fell within Brownlow’s easy reach to attend the
quarterly and annual conferences, and through the very nature
of his irrepressible self he became well-known at these meetings
within the annual Holston Conference, and succeeded in get-
ting this group to appoint him a delegate to the General Con-
ference to meet in Philadelphia in 1832. Here was a glorious
opportunity to see what the big world outside of Southern
Appalachia looked like. The Conference no doubt thought that
if Brownlow should ever become properly tamed he might de-
velop into a mighty man in Methodism, whose influence would
extend far beyond the Holston Conference. In doing this elon-
gated mountaineer of only twenty-seven years so high an honor
they sought indirectly to tame him, but at the same time they
were direct and frank with him. They mildly condemned him
for his caustic style of writing in the newspaper controversies
he got into and for his wild and unbridled manner of opposing

M Ibid., pp. 265-66; Parson Brownlow's Book, pp. 21-23. I have never been
able to discover a copy of this pamphlet or to see a reference to it except in
Brownlow’s claim. According to the Parson his pamphlet contained 70 pages
and was entitled, Suffering of Union Men. See Portrait and Biography, p. 44.
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the other denominations. This condemnation was not made
greater than the Parson could bear, for his very condemners
were guilty more or less of the same offenses.’

In the spring of 1832 the Parson quit for a time his riding
around in circles and set out on a bee line for Philadelphia,
more than six hundred miles away. He started early enough to
stop on the way, to see the sights. His first great objective was
Washington. He spent a week at his country’s capital, viewing
the sprawling muddy town, and listening to the oratory of con-
gressmen. Being quite an important man himself, he decided
to pay a visit to Andrew Jackson, in the White House. T'wo Ten-
nesseeans so far away from home ought to be mutually glad to
see each other. Brownlow seemed to be duly mmpressed with the
height of Jackson, and he thought perhaps for that reason that
he was “a very ﬁne looking old man”-—but he left with the feel-
ing that he could not quite approve of the President. The Par-
son, being a Whig in the making, had never voted for Jackson,
so perforce he could never approve of such a person. Having
turned his thumbs down on the first citizen of the land, Brown-
low continued his journey on to Baltimore where he again busied
himself looking at the sights. He was attracted by the peni-
tentiary, and on seeing so many people who could not run away,
he immediately asked permission to preach to them. He slyly
contrived to get the report carried back to his enemies in Ten-
nessee that he was in the penitentiary in Baltimore—a fate they
had long been predicting and hoping for.

At last he arrived in Philadelphia where he spent the whole
month of May. He likely found more sights here than at any
other place he had visited, and without a doubt he himself was
a sight for many of his more urbane brothers in Methodism.
When not sitting with his own Conference or viewing other
ohjects of interest, he slipped over to the Presbyterian Assem-
bly, which happened to -be meeting in the same city. Of course,
nothing good could come from Presbyterians nor would looking
at them and listening to them afford anything more than amuse-

5 Price, op. cit.,, I1I, 316, 318; Journals of the General Conference of the
Methodist Episcopal Church, 1, 362.
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ment. He heard wrangles among them “which would, for intem-
perance of language and wholesale abuse of private character,
absolutely disgrace the lowest porter house, or ale cellar, in the
lowest place in the lowest town or city in the lowest country in
the world.” The Parson took an extremely inconspicuous part
in his own Conference. There is no record in the minutes of his
having introduced a motion or seconded one or even spoken a
word. He was appointed on no committees. Perhaps Bishop
Soule, who presided much of the time, had suppressed Brownlow
—or could he possibly have been awed by this august body? His
only accomplishment in the Conference, which he ever men-
tioned, and later regretted, was his aid in getting James O.
Andrew elected bishop.*®

After the Parson had seen Washington, Baltimore, and Phila-
delphia, it might well be guessed that his circuit-riding days
would soon come to an end ; and, indeed, he was destined to ride
only three more circuits—the Dandridge, around the confluence
of the Holston and French Broad rivers; the Scott, in South-
west Virginia; and the Elizabethton, in the extreme northeast-
ern tip of Tennessee.'”

Brownlow was coming to believe that he was important enough
to be written about; his name had been heralded all over South-
ern Appalachia and even to far-away Philadelphia. He imag-
ined that people must want to know more about himself, so in
the absence of any biographers, he decided that he would write
his own biography, though his scope of life had yet been less
than thirty years. He entitled his work, 4 Narrative of the Life,
Travels, and Circumstances Incident Thereto, of William G.
Brownlow.™ True enough this autobiography was an appendix
to a larger work which he called Helps to the Study of Presby-

* Brownlow, Helps to the Study of Presbyterianism, pp. 262-64; Irreligious
Character of the Rebellion, An Address by Parson Brownlow. Delivered before
the Young Men’s Christian Association, at Cooper Institute, New York, May
19, 1862, p. 28; Journals of the General Conference of the Methodist Episcopal
Church, 1, 362-423.

¥ For the record of Brownlow’s itineracy see Minutes of the Annual Confer-
ences of the Methodist Episcopal Church for the Years 1829-1839, 1, 518, 519,
550, ibid., 11, 12, 18, 52, 90, 133, 181, 234, 300, 366, 430. See also Brownlow, Helps
to the Study of Presbyterianism, pp. 275-89.

** This work embraced 53 pages.
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terianism or, an Unsophisticated Exposition of Calvinism, with
Hopkinsian Modifications and Policy, with a View to a More
Easy Interpretation of the Same. To Which is Added a Brief
Account of the Author, Interspersed with Anecdotes. This work
was printed for him by Frederick S. Heiskell, at Knoxville in
1834. The Parson was very frank with himself in his Life. Never
having heard of psychoanalysis, he made no attempt to put
himself through that process, but he was willing to state his
case in the best manner of which he was capable. He listed the
principal objections that had been urged against him as: his
inconsistency of character, a quarrelsome nature, his style as a
writer, talents as a preacher, and manners as a man, and a dis-
like by great numbers of people. He vigorously defended him-
self against every charge. As to his quarrelsome disposition, “I
pretend not to be a candidate for the honors of martyrdom, yet,
I should feel that I had gone down to my grave disgraced, did I
not incur the censure and abuse of bloated bigotry, and priestly
corruption.” And, whether people liked him or not, he cared
little: “I never professed to have a great deal of polish about
me, nor do I desire to be polite.” With a sort of a wounded
feeling, he added, “I never thought I was a great man—I never
desire to be what the world calls a great man.” The Parson may
have misread himself a slight bit here; his whole subsequent
career was proof that he had a craving for power over people
but perhaps, not so much for adulation as for vengeance.’

For a long time his wrath had been piling up against the
Presbyterians. He had been dealing with the other wing of the
Calvinistic forces, the Baptists, in a rough and tumble method ;
but the Presbyterians had been writing things against his re-
ligion, and he would now show them that there was at least one
Methodist who could also write, and who would write without
restraint if need be. One activity which he especially disliked
was a publication called the Calvinistic Magazine, edited by
James Gallaher, Frederick A. Ross, and David Nelson, who
hurled this missile at the Methodist Church from their stronghold

® Brownlow, Helps to the Study of Presbyterianism, pp. 290-94.
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in Rogersville, East Tennessee, in the midst of the Brownlow
country. As they entered upon this undertaking the very first
year the Parson began riding the circuit, doubtless he con-
sidered it a direct thrust at him and his work. They began their
first number with the prayer of a crusader and closed it with a
declaration of war against all who denied the doctrines of the
Presbyterian Church. Warfare it would be, between truth and
falsehood.

We are commanded to hold a controversy with the sinfulness of
our hearts, and it is equally obligatory to contend against error
wherever we find it. Written discussions, upon religious subjects,
are never to be deprecated, for error has never progressed so rap-
idly, as when the watchmen upon the walls of Zion, remain silent
and inactive. It will be said, controversy produces unchristian feel-
mgs, and that it brings before the public, the differences of those
who worship the same Lord and follow the same Saviour. The first
objection is strong, only, against those who attempt to find truth
without asking for the holy aid of the Spirit of truth. The second
objection is plausible, but deceitful, because, falsehood, in moral
opinion, is sin, whether it is seen in the belief of an infidel or a
christian. No man can reject the doctrines taught by Christ and
his apostles and be guiltless.?

They quoted with approval the dictum of a contemporary,
“The fact is, whatever progress the cause of truth and holiness
has made in the world, has been made by controversy.”*

This magazine carried on an offensive against the Methodists
by ridicule and by all the other weapons it could command. In
a skit entitled, “A Dialogue Between a Methodist and a Cal-
vinist,” the follower of John Wesley was demolished with ridi-
cule and contempt.?* Through four numbers in 1828 this maga-
zine reviled and mocked the Methodists in “Dialogues on Church
Government Between a Citizen and a Methodist Circuit-
Rider.”?® The trinity of Presbyterian divines who edited this
mThe Calvinistic Magazine came out monthly.

& Qalvinistic Magazine, vol. 11, no. 10 (October, 1928), p. 298.

B Vol. I, no. 5 (May, 1827), pp. 145-49.
® Vol. II, nos. 4-7 (April-July, 1828).
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magazine published the following as a typical verse in a Method-
ist songbook :

“The Devil, Calvin, and Tom Paine,
May hate the Methodists in vain;
Their doctrines shall be downward hurl’d—
The Methodists shall take the world.””**

The wonder is that the Fighting Parson, as he was later to
be called,”® showed so much self-restraint and desisted so long
from entering the fray. The Presbyterians had long been pes-
tering him, and just to prove how contentious they were, he
wrote for the Newmarket Telegraph, a Tennessee newspaper,
an article proving there was a God; and according to the Par-
son, a Presbyterian immediately denied that eternal truth.*®
But now, in the year 1834, he resolved to buckle on the armor
of the Lord and go out to do battle with the infidel Presbyterians
and all other Calvinists. He had written his book, and in a style
that many people might not like. As for his “exuberance and
redundancy of language,” he gladly admitted that they might
“be justly considered one, among the many other winning ways
I have to make folks hate me.” He, too, believed in religious
controversy—*‘‘had it not been for controversy, Romish Priests
would now be feeding us with Latin masses and a wafer god!”*

Brownlow selected some of the principal Calvinistic doctrines
and savagely attacked them. The ones to which he gave his par-
ticular attention were: that God decrees whatever comes to pass,
that there is unconditional election and reprobation, that Christ
died only for the elect, that there is irresistible grace to bring
in the elect, and that it is impossible to fall from grace. To show
how absurd and even sacrilegious these doctrines were, the Par-
son called attention to these two facts: that if God decrees all
things, then he produces murders, lying, and sins of all kinds;
and that if people are already saved or damned from the begm—
ning, what good is there in preachmg or carrying on missionary

#Vol. 111, no. 12 (December, 1829), p. 383.
% George D. Prentice is said to have given Brownlow this title. Putnam’s Mag-
azine, vol. 111, no. 16 (April, 1869), p. 528.

* Brownlow, Helps to the Study of Presbyterianism, p. 279.
# Ibid., pp. xii, viil.
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work?*® If it be foreordained that certain people are to be saved,
why baptize them; “they will be saved if they never see water,
and die drunk in the bargain *® In order to escape these hard
and irresistible conclusions, many of the Presbyterians had run
off into what came to be called Hopkinsianism, a name given to
the doctrines promulgated by Samuel Hopkins, of Newport,
Rhode Island, in order to soften and side-step some of the more
severe tenets of Calvinism.

But Brownlow was particularly interested in showing what
a terrible threat the Presbyterian Church organization carried
against the liberties and political institutions of the United
States. He called attention to the fact that the Presbyterians
and the New England Congregationalists were all of a feather
in their general doctrines and ambitions, that during the War
of 1812 New England had been pro-British and her ministers
had preached disloyal sermons, and what was most ominous of
all, that at one time New England had had a virtual union of
church and state which bond the Presbyterians were now secret-
ly praying to be restored throughout the nation. He greatly
feared this Presbyterian plot, for if it succeeded they would soon
be burning people as heretics. They were already referring to the
regions where the Methodists were strongest as “great moral
wastes.” In his opinion, “There is indeed no bigotry so intol-
erable as religious bigotry, nor any hatred so unrelenting as
religious hatred.” He sounded the warning: “Let the Presby-
terians once enslave us, as they are aiming to do, and we may
whine, and scold, and murmur, and wince, and threaten, and
beseech them to condescend, graciously to have mercy on us, but
it will all be to no purpose.”®

The Parson had not allied himself with the Jeffersonian
school in politics and he had generally not looked to Thomas
Jefferson for his ideas but he was in perfect agreement with the

# Ibid., pp. 208-9.

*W. G. Brownlow, The Great Iron Wheel Examined; or, Its False Spokes
Ezxtracted, and An Exhibition of Elder Graves, its Builder, in a Series of
Chapters, p. 173,

# Ibid., p. 216, For the nature of this doctrine, see Nathan Bangs, 4 History
of the Methodist Episcopal Church, 111, 11-29.

“* Brownlow, Helps to the Study of Presbyterianism, pp. vii, 94, 113-65, 167-76,
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Sage of Monticello on the subject of Presbyterianism. He was
delighted to find this paragraph in a letter Jefferson had written
to William Short in 1820, and he quoted it with approval: “The
Presbyterian clergy are the loudest; the most intolerant of all
sects, the most tyrannical and ambitious; ready at the word of
the lawgiver, if such a word could be now obtained, to put the
torch to the pile, and to rekindle in this virgin hemisphere the
flames in which their oracle Calvin consumed the poor
Servetus. . . .32

But Brownlow was not depending on Thomas Jefferson or
on any other person for his proof of how wicked the Presby-
terians were or of their insidious attempt to unite church and
state, with themselves at the helm. A great many societies and
organizations had been springing up with ostensible religious
uplift programs, but the wary Parson knew too well that if one
should dig deep enough it would soon be evident that Presby-
terians were in charge of all of them, and that these organiza-
tions were gigantic tentacles to draw the people unaware into
one great Presbyterian consolidation. There was the American
Sunday School Union, generally referred to by Brownlow as
the A. S. S. Union, which, according to reports, was non-de-
nominational, but which Brownlow knew was controlled by the
Presbyterians for the sneaking purpose of entering politics and
winning elections. The American Tract Society was got up and
controlled by the Presbyterians, though it claimed to have all
the principal denominations represented in it. Brownlow knew
this claim to be a subterfuge, for did not the Methodists have a
tract society of their own? The American Bible Society was con-
trolled by the Presbyterians. It claimed to be giving away
Bibles, but Brownlow knew that the Presbyterians and their
Calvinistic co-conspirators, the Baptists, were actually selling
these Bibles and growing rich from plundering the poverty-
stricken seekers after religion. He had charged as much against
Parson Posey at Franklin, North Carolina, and the only reason
he had not proved his charges was because a Baptist was the

# Ibid., p. 179. This letter may be found in T. J. Randolph, ed., Memoir, Cor-
respondence, and Miscellanies, from the Papers of Thomas Jefferson, IV, 322.
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Judge. No true Christian could object to the American Tem-
perance Society, but Parson Brownlow predicted that the
Presbyterians would soon control it, for they were “a set of
infatuated fanatics.” As for the Baptists, they were actually
against temperance, but he explained that situation on the
ground that they were “about a century behind the march of
mind.”%?

The American Education Society was also under the domi-
nation of these self-seeking Presbyterians. Brownlow was not
opposed to education, if it were not of the Calvinistic variety.
“Ignorance,” he declared, “never produced one item of felicity
to any man; the opinions of the Roman Catholics and Baptists
to the contrary notwithstanding.” He believed the American
Home Missionary Society was, perhaps, the most reprehensible
and insidious of all these Presbyterian-controlled organizations.
“And who are home missionaries?” queried the Parson. “Why,
every one of these little college-bred chaps and theological scav-
engers, who are without regular salaries, or other means of
support.” He declared they went “prowling and skulking about
through our country, ... making proselytes and begging money.
... And is not the bulk of their time spent,” he asked, “in trying
to invent new, and improved patent triggers, for their national
gull-traps?*

And as for the poor heathens in foreign lands, what person
could think without a shudder of the millions worshiping stones
and reptiles, of mothers casting their infants to alligators or
sacrificing them on altars, of widows being burned upon the
funeral pyres of their husbands, of fanatics being crushed under
the wheels of vehicles bearing their idol gods? Yet the American
Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions, dominated by
the Presbyterians, had made the business of saving souls so
expensive that there was not enough money in all the world to
finish the job. The Parson had demonstrated this truth by sim-
ple arithmetic. Under the caption, “The History and Mystery
of a Certain Forty-one Dollars and Forty-four Cents,” he ex-

= Brownlow, Helps to the Study of Presbyterianism, pp. 16-78, 86-95, 1038-7,
* Ibid., pp. 78-86, 95-98.
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posed the secret of how the Presbyterians had raised this amount
of money from a congregation with the promise that it should
go to missions but with the result that the Calvinists kept it.®

By 1836, Parson Brownlow had served an even decade in
the Methodist itineracy, and had worked harder and been more
zealous and vociferous in promoting Methodism than any other
circuit-rider in the Holston Conference. He had fought the
Baptists, the Presbyterians, and the devil in the fastnesses of
the mountains, in the courts of law, and in newspapers, pam-
phlets, and the printed book. He was now thirty-one, and might
well begin to think about marrying. But if he should marry he
must quit the circuit, for no circuit-rider could support a family
from his earnings. Moreover the Church frowned on the itinerant
marrying, and it had no objection to all of its ministers remain-
ing single. But on that day when the Parson looked into the
eyes of Eliza O’Brien, he knew he had met the first and only
girl he was ever to love. He immediately laid siege to her with
all the powers he could command, and according to Eliza, her-
self, “he was so earnest, persistent, and eloquent in his wooing,
there was no resisting him.” She also considered him a great
man, for he had talent, he was more talked about than other
preachers in the conference, and he always drew the largest
crowds when he preached. The wedding took place on September
11, 1836, and what could be more appropriate for celebrating
such an event than a camp-meeting. So it happened at the
Turkeytown camp-grounds, in Carter County, in the heart of
the mountains of East Tennessee. He now “located”*® and in the
course of time the Parson’s family grew to the number of seven
children—two boys, and five girls.*

% Tbid., pp. 98-103, 194-201,

3¢ «The difference between travelling and local preachers and ministers, con-
sists chiefly in the fact that the former give themselves wholly to the work of
the ministry, while the latter pursue some secular calling in connection with the
sacred office—the former might properly be called regular ministers, and the
latter secular ministers.” P. D. Gorrie, Episcopal Methodism, as It was, and is,
p. 29%4.

* Price, op. cit., 111, 315, 346 ; Temple, op. cit., p. 318; Parson Brownlow’'s Book,
p. 18. Eliza O’Brien was born at Kingsport, Tennessee, September 25, 1819, When
Brownlow retired from the circuit, the Holston Conference numbered about
18,000 white communicants and about 2,000 colored. Minutes of the Annual Con-
ference of the Methodist Episcopal Church for the Years 1829-1839, 11, 13.



CHAPTER III
PERSONAL JOURNALISM

Parson BrowNLow possessed not only a ready tongue, but also
a quick pen, and while riding the circuit he had made much use
of both. So now when he was about to settle down to preach, he
found it advantageous to use the latter more. Methodist preach-
ers who had located, still found that they were not considered
worthy of their hire, since it was necessary to supplement the
church allowance by any gainful employment they could find.
The Parson soon decided to capitalize his pen, and what could
be more lucrative than a newspaper, and, indeed, what could
give the Parson a better outlet for what he thought? He now
prepared to occupy himself with a business which was to grip
him for almost all his remaining life. He would always be known
as the Parson, and he never gave up his license to preach, but
he should never again allow his usefulness to be hemmed in by
the limits of a location or the confines of any circuit. He was
not compromising with his conscience, for he could preach the
Lord through his newspaper as well as from a pulpit.

It happened that he settled in Elizabethton, the seat of
Jjustice in Carter County, in the beautiful Watauga Valley of
extreme northeastern Tennessee. So here, in this town of about
200 people, he began his first newspaper venture. Being a Whig,
he called his journal the Whig, but expecting to become the
mightiest journalist in Tennessee if not in the nation, he pre-
fixed the distinguishing term T'ennessee. As a concession to local
pride, he used on the inside pages the running head The Eliza-
bethton Whig. The first issue appeared on Thursday, May 16,
1839, with the slogan prominently displayed, “Life, Liberty
and the Pursuit of Happiness.” The Parson was a great believer
in mottoes and in their use. He kept a large supply on hand, and
selected from them a new one now and then, to keep step with
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his changing moods. By the time the issue of July 4 was due,
pugnacity and patriotism had come so to control him that he
threw away his less positive motto, and ran up the streamer of
defiance, “Cry aloud and spare not.”

The cost of the paper was to be two copies for five dollars a
year, and the Parson would not be too fastidious as to what he
would accept in payment: “Indeed, we had like to have said,
that a well-executed counterfeit, on a solvent Bank would do,
but we forbear, lest the ‘democracy of numbers’ should handle
the proposition to our prejudice!” The purpose and policy of
the paper, announced at the beginning, were to support Whig
principles and to advocate the nomination and election of Henry
Clay for president. The sub-treasury system and presidential
despotism were the twin demons which the editor set out to
attack ; the times were serious, liberty was on the wane with the
country ruled by the Democrats. Brownlow so far mistook his
own mind and heart as to announce in the first issue that “re-
ligious controversies, village squabbles, neighborhood broils,
and family feuds” would find no place in his paper. But the
signs were unmistakable that he would be a fighter and that he
would make the coves and valleys, the mountain tops and the
plains, of all East, Middle, and West Tennessee resound with
the din of battle. He was impatient to start: “. . . Let us get
the blast on, as we have been several days heating, and we will
cast our ‘sayings and doings’ before you, as fast, as hot, and
thick, as ever darts flew in the Trojan War!”

It was an evil day for this little mountain town when Brown-
low came here to live. It would have been as unnatural for the
Fighting Parson to lead a quiet life as it would have been for
him to turn Baptist. He soon had the village torn with strife.
It was unfortunate from Brownlow’s standpoint that here on
the banks of the Watauga in 1816, Landon Carter Haynes,
another self-willed man, was born. He had gone to Washington
College and had graduated there the year Brownlow finished his
circuit-riding. Now back again dividing his time between Jones-
boro and his home town, he soon became convinced that he
could never agree with the parson-journalist, as they differed
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from each other both in politics and in religion. Furthermore,
Haynes considered himself a gentleman of ancient lineage who
should try to keep away as much as possible from an interloper
like Brownlow, who had perhaps crept out of a hollow log, and
was now attempting to become a great man.' Others had come
to agree with Haynes that Brownlow was an insufferable trouble-
maker and a pest, and so it came about that someone whom
Brownlow could never discover and history has never revealed
attempted either to assassinate Brownlow or merely to scare
him out of town.

On March 2, 1840, the Circuit Court was holding a session in
Elizabethton, and as was the custom, there was a crowd in town
and some rowdyism prevailed. On the evening of this day, be-
tween eight and nine o’clock, the Parson was sitting at a table
in his home before a candle, writing. Suddenly a shot rang out,
and two bullets whizzed by his head, one burying itself in the
chimney-piece and the other, in the ceiling. The Parson im-
mediately sprang to the door and, following the attacker across
the garden, shot at him as he leaped through a gap in the garden
fence. Brownlow had expected to be attacked but he thought
“an attempt would be made to mob me—not to shoot me in this
way.” In preparing to repel the assault Brownlow secured the
reénforcement of his friend, James W. Nelson, who now joined
the Parson in his pursuit of the enemy, snapping his pistol at
the culprit three times. But Nelson in his haste to follow had lost
the cap from his pistol, and his onset was futile. Brownlow
now openly charged Haynes with this attempted assassination.
He secured a number of affidavits from his friends which seemed
to cast suspicion on Haynes and a few years later he published
them in his newspaper. The Parson’s final verdict was that
Haynes likely did not do the shooting but that he had had some
hand in the sorry business. Haynes seemed little troubled by

* Haynes was born in Elizabethton, Tennessee in 1816 and died in Memphis
in 1875. He studied law and became prominent in Tennessee politics, When the
Confederacy was set up he became a Confederate Senator and continued to
serve throughout the life of the government. He was a brilliant orator. Bob
Taylor, the Tennessee governor of “Fiddle and Bow” fame was a nephew of
Haynes.
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Brownlow’s charges, holding that the Parson was “the infamous
perpetrator of an attempt at his own mock assassination.”
Brownlow had trumped up the whole story in an attempt to
destroy Haynes or to win pity—*“that he might once again
command the commiseration and sympathies of the people.”

Whatever the truth concerning “the attempted assassina-
tion,” it is an uncontested fact that the Parson was not scared out
of town when he moved away from Elizabethton exactly a year
after setting up his Whig, for he went to Jonesboro, in the
adjoining County of Washington, where Haynes was entering
into the business of a newspaper editor. He would here have
better opportunities to come to close quarters with his enemy
both fistically and journalistically. And he would be in a larger
town. He now called his paper simply The Whig, adding Jones-
boro about a year later. On the inside pages he gave the more
lengthy title, T'he Jonesboro Tennessee Whig.® Having learned
during his first year that running a newspaper would not likely
be a peaceable business, he began his second volume with the
threatening motto, “Unawed by power, unbribed by gain, the
people shall be heard, and their rights vindicated.” But he did
not confine his warlike attitude to mottoes, for he made the plain
statement, “The ‘Whig’ will be courteous and respectful to all
who behave themselves, and who when speaking of it, or its edi-
tor, or patrons, keep within the bounds of moderation. Toward
those who act otherwise, this paper will conduct itself as hereto-
fore, only more so.” In fact the Parson would be perfectly frank
and admit that a perusal of the Whig would

perhaps, conduct any candid and dispassionate mind to the con-
clusion, that, in point of severity, and wholesale abuse of indi-
viduals, our paper is without a parallel in the history of the Ameri-

2W. G. Brownlow, 4 Political Register, Setting Forth the Principles of the
Whig and Locofoco Parties in the United States, with the Life and Public Serv-
ices of Henry Clay. Also an Appendiz Personal to the Author; and a General
Index, pp. 332-39 (Referred to hereafter as Political Register); Jonesboro
Whig, February 8, 1843.

3 Brownlow used both Jonesboro and Jonesborough indiscriminately. I use
the former spelling, except in quoting or where it is otherwise necessary to
depart from it.
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can Press. The existence of this truth, in connection with this bold
confession, however, finds an apology, in the fact, that it has been
peculiarly our misfortune to have to encounter a disciplined corps,
of the most obdurate sinners, and unprincipled scoundrels, that
ever annoyed any community.*

Brownlow’s stay in Jonesboro was to be tempestuous. In fact
his very entrance into the village was signalized by a bloody
fight. Haynes was the editor of the Jonesboro Sentinel, and he
looked with no pleasure on competition in the newspaper busi-
ness, especially from such a person as he considered Brownlow
to be. Haynes being a gentleman, and being aware of it, cast
some slurring remarks in his paper on the ancestry of the Par-
son. Brownlow interpreting this move as an insult to the memory
of his mother, who had been dead a quarter of a century, pre-
pared for battle. On May 14, 1840, the two met on the streets
of Jonesboro, and a bloody fray ensued. Brownlow, who went
armed with a pistol and a sword cane, sought to determine
whether Haynes possessed a pistol, but the latter cleverly de-
ceived the Parson. Not wanting to take advantage of an un-
armed person, Brownlow seized Haynes and began beating him
with his cane and then throwing his left arm around Haynes’
neck he held his head down and began pounding him with his
pistol butt. The exact order in which the fight proceeded seems
never to have become straightened out by the various witnesses,
but at some stage of the combat Haynes produced a pistol and
shot the Parson through the thigh. Neither was injured seri-
ously, but from then on Brownlow carried on a savage warfare
in his Whig against the editor of the Sentinel, referring to him
as the “prince of villains, hypocrites, and political prostitutes.”
He followed after Haynes to the minutest personalities, charg-
ing him with joining the Presbyterians in 1841 and the next
year with getting converted at a camp-meeting and joining the
Methodists, and lastly with getting a license to preach and then
being deprived of his license two months later for “slander and
falsehood.” The Parson charged him with not only being a

* Jonesboro Whig, May 14, 1840.
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turncoat in religion but a traitor to the Whigs, whom he had
deserted for the Democrats in 1839.°

The next encounter that was of sufficient importance for the
Parson to chronicle prominently in his Whig took place in the
late summer of 1842 at a camp-meeting. This time his enemies
with clubs executed an attack upon him from the rear. He
wheeled around quickly, warding off some of the worst blows,
and at the same time whipped out a derringer pistol which he
fired point-blank at his chief assailant. Only the cap exploded;
otherwise he would certainly have killed his attacker. The Par-
son admitted in the Whig that his enemies had given him a rather
bad beating, but he still had much to be thankful for, for “out
of the nine blows and wounds, I received, they failed to hit me
on the right arm, the hand I use when I write out the history
of rogues, perjured villains, stealers of TOLLS, of HOGS, and
of all other like measures.”®

It happened that Brownlow’s conception of what should go
into a newspaper fitted excellently into the situation, for he al-
ways had a great supply of just the things he wanted. He reveled
in a fight, and he filled his paper with vituperation, abuse, and
denunciation of his personal enemies close by, of his religious
enemies not much farther away, and of his political enemies
everywhere whom he knew to be scoundrels either because they
were Democrats like Andrew Jackson or because they were turn-
coats and traitors like John Tyler. With Brownlow, journalism
was peculiarly personal, for he, himself, was in the very midst
of much of his news. He was fearless, and he had a highly de-
veloped feeling of personal rights. Hence he was quick to sense
an insult and utterly reckless in following it up. In this manner
he made a large amount of news for the Whig.

There can be no doubt that Brownlow’s enemies gave him
ample provocation, but his methods of retaliation were bound
to aggravate rather than cure any controversy. In 1843 a
quarrel broke out with J. M. Smith, who according to Brown-
low, was “an infamous old blackguard, though a member of the
may 20, 1840; Brownlow, Political Register, pp. 339-43; Price, op, cit.,

111, 348 and V, 112,
¢ Jonesboro Whig, August 24, 1842; Price, op. cit., 111, 349.
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Church to which I belong.” It was, perhaps, true that the quar-
rel was started by the Parson’s enemies for the purpose of pro-
voking him to do something to such an excess that his Church
would take away from him his license to preach. Knowing that
Brownlow loved his Church and clung to his ministership as
tenaciously as a child to a toy, they would thus attack him at a
place where a victory would mean the most. Those who were not
of the Brownlow camp, however, seemed to think there might
have been another reason for Smith’s charges. The Parson had
sometime previously published what appeared to him to be a
bit of news of the highest value and propriety, that Smith’s
son had broken into a store, stolen money, and then fled to the
far West. Smith specifically charged that Brownlow, while at-
tending the Whig Convention in Nashville in 1840, had stolen
some jewelry and that an enraged mob had seized him, escorted
him to the nearest cedar tree to which they tied him, and that
they then proceeded to whip him until he turned over the stolen
Jewelry.”

This news, whether true or not, was highly important in the
eyes of many newspaper editors—from Georgia to Massachu-
setts—for journalist Brownlow’s fame had gone far. Four news-
papers immediately published the good news. They were the
Jonesboro Sentinel, the Abingdon Virginian, the Boston Olive
Branch, and the Sandersville (Georgia) Telescope. Pounced
upon here by two sets of enemies, Brownlow decided to deal with
the editors first. To begin with, these four “infamous papers”
were “conducted by convicted liars, expelled Methodist Preach-
ers, thieves and debauchees.” For his near neighbor the Jones-
boro Sentinel he had the most vitriolic hate:

It is the most reckless sheet in the State; and those who are
acquainted with its history, will agree with us, that it has, from
first to last, been edited by more broke down Preachers, and lewd,
lying, irresponsible men, than any other single sheet in existence.
And yet, in point of depravity, a want of honor, and a total dis-
regard for truth, its present Editor is a head and shoulders taller
than any ruffian who has yet controlled its filthy columns.

T Jonesboro Whig, December 27, 1843; Brownlow, Political Register, pp. 323-24.
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And the Parson hereby published him “to the world, with the
evidence, as guilty of almost every crime known to the criminal
laws of the country.” As for the other three newspapers—the ed-
itor of the Abingdon Virginian was a renegade from the Meth-
odist Church, who had spent a term in prison and who had
“lived in adultery with a notorious woman, to the annoyance
of a decent wife” ; the editor of the Boston Olive Branch had been
expelled from the Methodist Church for seduction; and the
editor of the Sandersuville Telescope was so depraved that the
Parson hesitated to use language to describe him.®

Following out his old plan of defense the Parson secured from
his Nashville acquaintances a bundle of recommendations, show-
ing great surprise that anybody could ever have thought of such
absurd charges as were presented by Smith. Armed with these
documents he appeared before a meeting of the congregation,
proved his innocence, and had Smith thrown out of the Church
for lying. Smith defended himself by saying that if he could
not prove the jewelry-stealing and whipping charges against
Brownlow, he could prove other things just as bad, and he ap-
pealed from this decision to the Quarterly Conference. This con-
ference met on December 5, 1843, and affirmed the decision of
the first trial. Thus was the Parson vindicated and much news
made for the Jonesboro Whig.?

Brownlow’s newspaper ethics were very much more meagre
than the average in a generation when editors’ codes of honor
were extremely short. When he began his paper, he promised
to conduct it far above the plane of feuds and broils, but these
promises he immediately forgot, never to be recalled again ex-
cept as quickly to be broken. Scarcely two years had passed
before his beloved Methodist Church in Quarterly Conference
was trying him for printing violent and harsh things against
the brethren. But there was never much danger of Brownlow not
being able to control a quarterly conference. He was acquitted
by a vote of 20 to 3. Quite often thereafter he was pestered by
his enemies in these quarterly conference trials, but it had not

8 Jonesboro Whig, December 27, 1843; Brownlow, Political Register, pp. 214,

323-24.
® Jonesboro Whig, December 27, 1843; Brownlow, Political Register, p. 325.



PERSONAL JOURNALISM 43
been to no purpose that he had ridden the circuit for ten years.1

In 1844, the Parson made a strange announcement in the
Whig. On December 11th, he declared that he would print no
further personalities in his newspaper. This sudden relapse into
gentleness toward the enemy was not the result of the approach-
ing Christmas times ; it was because he needed the space for other
purposes—and he would also make it plain that no one had ad-
vised him to take this course. But however honest he was in this
announcement, he should have known the utter impossibility
of his abiding by it—the leopard could not change its spots
nor the Ethiopian the color of his skin. On New Year’s Day,
less than three weeks after this promise, Brownlow launched a
savage attack against his most detested enemy, beginning, “Liar
Culprit [Landon Carter] Haynes. This thrice convicted private
and public debauchee and hypocrite . . .,”” and so on. Brownlow
became so intolerable in the eyes of certain Jonesboro citi-
zens that they contemplated treating him and his newspaper
establishment after the fashion of the enraged Kentuckians, in
Lexington, who had recently dealt with their insufferable Cas-
sius Marcellus Clay and his anti-slavery T'rue American, by
sacking the newspaper office and shipping the type into another
state.™

It has been sufficiently evident that Brownlow’s mental acu-
men, nervous tension, and physical prowess existed in a highly
developed degree; and as far as that part of the world which
might desire to know may ever find out, all these qualities came
through natural development. But in 1848, he suffered a club-
bing, which throughout the remainder of his life left his health
not only physically impaired, as he thought, but which also
probably affected him mentally. Certainly, as time went on, he
became more reckless as his power increased; perhaps, it was
not due entirely to his natural bent—his assailant’s club left
permanent marks and impressions on his skull. The Parson’s
party had had little to do with the making of the Mexican War

and had done even less by willing service in carrying it on, but

 Jonesboro Whig, September 1, 1841.
™ Ibid., September 17, 1845.
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this situation did not blind him to the fact that if he could dis-
cover anyone whom he thought to be a deserter, he would there-
by make some timely news for his Whig. In 1848, he developed
such suspicions concerning a Jonesboro citizen and published
the fact. The fellow retaliated in a true deserter fashion by way-
laying the Parson in the darkness and striking him down with a
hickory club. This put the Parson to bed for two weeks, and
while thus helplessly confined, the miscreant pelted his house at
midnight with a barrage of rocks.'?

The report got abroad that the Parson had been killed in
the encounter, and from the tone of the Clarksville Jeffersonian,
the news was received among the newspaper editors generally
with joy and relief. It said, “A gentleman who arrived here last
night from East Tennessee, reports that the notorious parson
Brownlow, was shot dead a few days since, by a soldier he had
abused in his paper. Whether the report is true or not, it is

very certain that he long since deserved this fate at the hands
of hundreds he has vilely slandered.”*®

Amidst all his physical encounters and his journalistic scalp-
ings at the hands of his fellow-editors, the Parson never forgot
the work which he had originally set out to do and which had
given him his title. He would never forget the Lord and the
service he owed Him, neither would he ever forget that the ter-
rible Baptists and Presbyterians should be exterminated. There-
fore, the Whig devoted a considerable amount of space to re-
ligious contention, his first love. Baptism and the correct meth-
ods of administering it, would always be news as far as the Whig
could judge, and the intelligence of the Methodists adding con-
verts to their faith called for jubilation signs such as screaming
eagles. The Whig carried the following block of news, sur-

¥ The Jonesboro Monthly Review, vol. 11, no. 12, pp. 876-80; Price, op. cit.,
111, 849. Browlow talked and wrote much about the war. He had a four-hour
speech which he often delivered in which he condemned President Polk for having
appointed Catholic army chaplains, and yet he called upon the people to enlist
even though it was a Democratic war. He, himself, joined a company called
the “Protestant Invincibles,” but it never marched. See V. M. Queener, “William
G. Brownlow as an Editor,” East Tennessee Historical Society Publications, IV
January, 1932), 78.

® Knoxville Whig and Independent Journal, May 19, 1849.
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mounted by an eagle carrying in its mouth a streaming ribbon
with the word victory written upon it: “We have just heard . . .
of the perfect triumph of the Redeemer’s Kingdom, at Stone
Dam, in Greene County, over ‘the world, the flesh and the devil’.”
One hundred converts were added to the Church.'* As an aid in
his fight against the Presbyterians, he set up a special magazine
devoted almost entirely to one of their chief local representatives,
Frederick A. Ross. He called this publication The Jonesboro
Quarterly Review, and claimed that it was a religious review.
The first issue appeared in 1847 ; the next year he made it into
a monthly so that he might the better exterminate his great re-
ligious enemy Ross.’

Editor Brownlow did not give over his newspaper entirely to
personal encounters, neighborhood broils, and religious dis-
putations; he kept himself well informed on national politics,
developing prejudices as keen and using language as cutting
as in any of his other activities. When the Whigs in 1840, using
expediency at the expense of principle, had nominated John
Tyler as a running mate for “Old Tippecanoe” Harrison, they
should have known they were foolishly laying up troubles for
the future. The death of President Harrison one month after
his inauguration, elevated Tyler to the presidency. Whig
troubles began immediately, and the national administration
was soon torn to pieces over the issues of the day. Brownlow,
following the lead of his hero Henry Clay, soon opened up the
vials of his wrath against traitor Tyler. Thus was he speaking
of the President of the United States not more than six months
after his accession: “The Long-eared Virginia Ass, who occu-
pies the Presidential chair, has vetoed the bill incorporating the
‘Fiscal Corporation of the United States,” otherwise a National
Bank."1¢

Brownlow could never desert the Whig Party, but he felt that
he should do some independent thinking. He would never be
restrained even by the Whigs, especially when John Tyler was
trying to run the party, so in 1842 he compromised with the

¥ Jonesboro Whig, September 28, 1842,

* This publication will be discussed further in Chapter IV,
® Jonesboro Whig, September 22, 1841.
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name Whig in his newspaper title by adding “and Independent
Journal.” About this time he adopted a few new slogans, run-
ning them at conspicuous places in his paper. He padded a
former motto and presented it thus, “Cry aloud—spare not;
show my people their transgressions, and the house of Jacob
their sins—Scripture.” At the head of his editorial column he
placed the banner, “Be just and fear not.”

The Parson had ridden the circuit throughout the Southern
Highlands for ten years, then he had become an editor and in
two little mountain towns had conducted a newspaper for ten
years in an amazing fashion. This brought him down to 1849
and to a stage in life when he thought another change was neces-
sary. He was not leaving the newspaper business; he would
merely leave Jonesboro. He loved the mountains and would never
desert them, but Jonesboro was too far up the creek. He decided
to move down to Knoxville, on the Holston River, made so deep
by the waters of the French Broad that steamers could navigate
it. Here was the metropolis of the Southern Highlands, a town
of almost 4,000 population, the center of Highland culture and
education. Brownlow had been growing in importance in the
world, his Whig had been quoted throughout the nation, it
should not hereafter be necessary to search the map for the
town in which it was being published. It was with dread that
many of the élite of Knoxville and the newspaper editors heard
of Brownlow’s coming, and well might they have been disturbed,
for here he was to spend the rest of his days, and for the next
quarter of a century so to order his coming and his going as
to make his name a by-word throughout the nation.

On April 19, 1849, the Jonesboro Whig ran through the
printer’s press for the last time. Exactly one month later there
appeared on the streets of Knoxville Brownlow’s Knoaville W hig
and Independent Journal; and immediately a newspaper war
began whose devastating effects soon made themselves felt in
almost every detail of the city’s life. He continued to bespeak his
mind in his little mottoes. To his Jonesboro slogans he added
“Willing to praise but not afraid to blame”; and by 1858 he
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announced another article of faith, “Independent in all things
—Neutral in nothing.” At this time the Whig Party was show-
ing signs of disintegration, and the Parson was, no doubt, in
this sentiment making easy the road for his escape from the
catastrophe. Stephen A. Douglas, the “Little Giant” from Illi-
nois, put through his Kansas-Nebraska bill in 1854, and there-
by demolished the party that had sheltered Brownlow from his
youth. As the Know Nothings were now appearing on the hori-
zon, the Fighting Parson cleared the decks of all outworn mot-
toes, and preparatory to joining them in an assault upon the
foreign enemy and the Catholics, ran up to the masthead the
banner, “Put none on guard but Americans.”

But Brownlow had enemies in Knoxville long before he had
discovered the foreign foe, and he began fighting them on almost
the very day he arrived. Many citizens had deeply resented
Brownlow’s removal to Knoxville, and the more bold ones de-
termined to take the initiative and drive him out before he
could secure a foothold. Even Whigs and Methodists joined
in the campaign, and eight years after his entry into Knoxville
he openly admitted that he had not got the sympathy and sup-
port that he considered his due.’” The two principal newspapers,
the Register and the Sentinel, Whig and Democratic respective-
ly, welcomed him with a fusillade of indictments new and old.
There was undoubtedly some lack of sportsmanship in this, for
knowing that they could never hope to attain the publicity and
circulation that came through vituperative language and whole-
sale abuse, which Brownlow could so effectively employ, they
feared his competition. The personal abuse that filled up these
three papers came near wrecking the respectability of the Knox-
ville press. There was no possibility of the Register and the
Sentinel coping with Brownlow in the utter devastation that
could be wrought through the use of words; so before he had
been in Knoxville scarcely six months there was a cry to adjourn
personalities. But the Fighting Parson refused to enter into

¥ Knoxville Whig, July 18, 1857 (This short form is used in footnotes through-
out this book.)
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such an agreement. He claimed that he had not started the fight,
and that if it was to be stopped the enemy must first quit at-
tacking him.'®

On December 15, 1849, the Whig appeared on a small sheet
of four columns, printed on only one side; the regular issue con-
sisted of four pages, with seven columns to the page. The Parson
in explaining this abbreviated edition, declared that a mob had
attempted to destroy his printing office and presses, and that
he was able to snatch from defending himself time sufficient only
for the four columns. His enemies and rivals declared that this
was only another typical Brownlow trick, that no attack had
been made on his printing plant and that none had ever been
contemplated. The Parson was merely looking for sympathy.*

The old charges of stealing jewelry and being flogged for
it in Nashville in 1840 were revived against Brownlow, and the
Knoxville press was filled with personal indictments and abuse
ad nauseam. Landon C. Haynes was soon back in the fight with
each abusing the other and charging him with crime. Brownlow
again accused Haynes of shooting at him in Jonesboro a
decade previously, and Haynes declared that his assassination
had been plotted by Brownlow through the latter’s brother, and
that Brownlow’s brother had admitted it. In 1851, Brownlow
declared that for the past two years his enemies had been con-
triving his destruction in every way imaginable, by assassina-
tion, by wrecking his paper, and by tampering with his labor
force. At times, single-handed and even when sick, he had de-
fended himself against the whole horde—but he explained his
preservation by covertly charging cowardice against them:
“They could not find us while they were enraged, and had no
disposition to kill when they got in a good humor.”*°

Another enemy whom the Parson long and bitterly hated,
threatened, and fought was William S. Swan, who with John
Mitchell, the exiled “Irish Patriot,” had set up in Knoxville a

* Knoxville Whig, June, 1849, December 22, 1849, July 5, 1851. Brownlow’s
most bitter newspaper enemy in Knoxville was Miller McKee, the editor of the
Register,

* Knowxville Whig, December 15, 29, 1849,

® Ibid., July 5, 1851.
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newspaper called the Southern Citizen. For reasons good and
sufficient in the Parson’s eyes, he appeared before Judge Swan’s
home, and armed with a six-shooter, paced back and forth de-
nouncing him.** There was considerable rejoicing in the camps
of the enemy when someone discovered a lottery advertisement
in the Parson’s paper and procured an indictment against him.
Unknown to the Parson there was an old Tennessee law against
the publication of such material, but before a conclusion had
been reached in the proceedings, the legislature repealed the law,
the indictment was dismissed, and he escaped his enemies again.
He declared that the Register was responsible for this persecu-
tion.?

That the standards of journalism were no higher could cer-
tainly be laid largely at the Parson’s door, yet he was not solely
responsible. The enemy editors were not deterred by standards
when they thought they might get an advantage over him. It
unfortunately happened that one of the Parson’s sons, in school
at Emory and Henry College, in Southwest Virginia, in a fight
with a schoolmate, killed him. The young student was indicted
and held under a $1,000 bail for trial. Such happenings were
legitimate news, however devastating to the feelings of kinsmen
their publication might be. Enemy editors here had an excel-
lent opportunity to make some stinging thrusts at the self-
righteous Parson. That they did so can hardly be doubted for
very soon Brownlow was calling them liars, thieves, and assas-
sins of character. But he was soon able to rejoice again, for
his son was acquitted.?®

With all his other exaggerated characteristics, Brownlow had
a vast store of determination and stubbornness. He was abso-
lutely abnormal in his utter lack of fear, either physical or
mental. It is, perhaps, no great compliment to his generation
to say that these attributes made it impossible for a person to
fail. Certain it was that Brownlow soon became the greatest
journalistic force in Knoxville, and he drew constant attention
to his Whig throughout the South, and as a matter of fact was
T % Pemple, op. cit., pp. 273-6; Price, op. cit., 111, 350.

® Knowville Whig, December 1, 1849; Temple, op. e¢it., p. 276.
2 Knowxville Whig, March 8, April 21, 1860,
4
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by no means unknown in the North. Brownlow’s Knoawville W hig
and Independent Journal had one of the largest circulations of
any newspaper in the Southern States. When he went to Knox-
ville in 1849 he had about 2,000 subscribers; in 1861, he had
10,700. His utter abandon in style made the paper readable;
readability brought large circulation; ten thousand subscribers
made it an effective advertising medium, and all these things con-
spired together to produce an income for the Parson of $10,000
yearly.** In 1859 he reached out for that class of people who
read little either because they thought it was a waste of time or
because their low intelligence gave them little inclination ; he set
up the T'ri-Weekly Whig, issuing the first number on Jan-
uary 4.

Editor Brownlow, when he first entered the newspaper busi-
ness in Elizabethton, had facetiously offered to accept a “well-
executed counterfeit” in payment for subscriptions; when he
had graduated up to Knoxville he was still willing to accept iron,
flour, wood, and other miscellaneous goods. In promoting his
paper, he was not afraid to indulge in self-praise. He declared
that the Whig was “superior as an Advertising medium to any
other paper”; he also admitted that “we make up the best news-
paper in circulation, in these ends of the earth.”?® His ideas of
honesty were so highly developed that he could not with equa-
nimity see people subscribe for his paper and never pay for it.
These “equivocal gentry” he soon lost patience with, and tizen
he began publishing the names of those who owed him, under
the title of “Black Knights.” Now and then his patience with
them became so exhausted that he threatened to sue them for
debt.?®

As has appeared, the Parson’s style was amazing, and much
of his journalistic success was due to this fact. He had an ex-
travagance of expression and a sharp cutting diatribe which
reckoned little the limits of good taste and tact. His language
had a wild earthy flavor which it might be thought only the
most rugged and inaccessible parts of the Southern Highlands

# Price, op. cit., 111, 320.

% Knoxville Whig, May 19, 1849, July 21, 1855.
% Jonesboro Whig, December 1, 1841, March 23, 1842, November 24, 1847.
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could have produced, a language as impervious to outside pol-
ish and associations as his will was unbending in the face of
the enemy. The primitive frontier in which the Parson grew up
receded, but his style of language remained immutable. The
frontier soon outgrew the barbarity of physical gouging, but
the Parson never gave up his literary gouging. He was so im-
petuous and fiery that he overstepped his rugged honesty with-
out always knowing it. He often contradicted himself and fre-
quently dealt in inconsistencies. He was as unrestrained in his
language as the mechanism of warfare was on the battlefield,
and no doubt, when he realized his contradictions, he argued
with his conscience that everything was fair in a fight. He was
often sued for libel, but he generally slipped through the meshes
of the law either by reasoning cleverly or by playing on the
sympathy of the jury.*

In all the vehemence and indignation that the Parson could
so easily express, there was some reason to think that there was
present a slight element of the comic-opera—and that the Par-
son himself dimly realized it at times. For he had a sense of
humor which his ponderous pugnacity, indomitable will, and
self-righteous intolerance could never quite smother out. Like
Abraham Lincoln he was not afraid to admit that he was ugly,
and he was even willing to joke about it. Brownlow received a
letter purporting to come from Esopian Hall, Devil’s Fork of
Little Red River, Arkansas, which carried the salutation “De-
formed Sir” and which notified him that he had been unani-
mously elected to membership in the Ugly Club of the Hard
Favored Fraternity. In answer the Parson denied that he was
eligible, for “We are a rather good looking man than otherwise,
and especially when we have our Sunday clothes on.” In recom-
mending the work of a friend who made daguerreotypes, the
Parson declared “He has copied our beautiful face, to a gnat’s
hee .7’28

He had various little idiosyncracies and tricks of style which
he constantly used to draw attention to his paper. A catch-

¥ Ibid., September 30, 1846; Knowzville Whig, March 6, 1858.
% Jonesboro Whig, November 24, 1847,
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phrase which he frequently used was “Stick a pin down here.”
When in vigorous pursuit of the enemy he would often say,
“We are after them with a sharp stick, and no mistake.” A
favorite characteristic of his in a diatribe was to begin each
paragraph with the expression, “Keep it before the people.”
The great sectional struggle beat down upon the country,
setting up a vast disturbance, and the Parson was soon left hope-
lessly behind the times. Brownlow’s Knoaville Whig and Inde-
pendent Journal made its last appearance on October 24, 1861,
and everybody except the Parson marvelled that the Confed-
erate authorities had permitted it to continue so long. But this
story is one of politics more than of journalism. War came and
swept the Parson out of his Highlands, but the receding tide
left him where it had found him. And the first thing he did on
his return was to set up his newspaper again, but that was in
another age and it must bide its time.



CHAPTER IV
RELIGIOUS WARFARE RENEWED

WauEeN Parson BrRowNLow turned journalist, he had no inten-
tions of giving up his interest in the promotion of Methodism
and least of all did he expect to forego that great pleasure of
religious disputation. As has heretofore appeared, he gave over
a considerable portion of his Whig, whether at Elizabethton,
at Jonesboro, or at Knoxville, to quarrels with the enemy
churches and to news of the Methodists. For certain periods he
dedicated a special column or corner of his paper to some par-
ticular religious leader who happened to be his greatest enemy
at the time. As the Baptists and Presbyterians were his chief
antagonists, it turned out that a representative from each of
these denominations began a combat with the Methodists and
before the contest was over, each was forced to do battle against
the Parson. The two clerical gladiators who crossed swords with
Brownlow and who led him into the two most bitter religious
contests he ever waged were Frederick A. Ross and J. R. Graves,
Presbyterian and Baptist respectively. Warfare with Ross broke
out first.

The Presbyterians were the best educated church on the fron-
tier and perhaps it was for this reason that this denomination
was devastated with more internal quarrels of a cataclysmic na-
ture than were the other chief religious groups. Early in the
century it lost its New Light wing and then soon thereafter the
Cumberland Presbyterians split off. Next came the Campbellite
or Christian Church, which did not follow a direct schism in the
Presbyterian Church but which a former Presbyterian minister
largely organized, and which thereby militated considerably
against the Presbyterians. And then by 1840 the rock on which
the old Church sat was split in twain, and out of it came the Old
School and the New School. So it appears that to quarrel was a
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natural proclivity of the Presbyterians, and when they found
no family matter to dispute over, they began to attack the bar-
barian Methodists. In 1829, they started publishing The Pedo-
baptist in Danville, Kentucky, and every month religious dis-
putation ran through its columns, especially on the subject of
infant baptism, which they strongly upheld. The next year The
Presbyterian Advocate sprang up in Lexington and carried
on a very particular quarrel with the Methodists. The Camp-
bellites were born in controversy and grew up making quarrels.
Their Millenial Harbinger was started in 1830 at Bethany, Vir-
ginia by their chief leader Alexander Campbell. But not all the
Presbyterians thrived on controversy; in Columbia, South Car-
olina in 1847 they started the Southern Presbyterian Review, a
quarterly, which was dignified and scholarly and which bespoke
a directive power and a clientéle of culture. Of like dignity was
a publication begun in 1855 and edited by Stuart Robinson and
Thomas E. Peck of Baltimore, called The Presbyterian Critic.
But in East Tennessee people lived more vigorously than
in any other part of the South, and they fought more desper-
ately, both religiously and otherwise. Whether the champion
represented the Presbyterians or Baptists or Methodists, he
would likely become so reckless before the fight was over that
he would find himself disowned by certain ones of his own breth-
ren who lived in less belligerent regions. The Presbyterian terror
who roused Brownlow to a greater boldness and rashness than
any other religionist ever succeeded in doing was Frederick
Augustus Ross. Ross was born at Cobham, Maryland, on Christ-
mas day, in 1796. His father was a wealthy landowner, and on
his death the son came to East Tennessee to look after some of
the property. Here he became a gay irreligious dandy, building
a handsome home at Rotherwood, near Kingsport, where his
lavish entertainment became famous. Now and then he went
to church either out of curiosity or for company, and by acci-
dent he was converted by the Presbyterians in 1823. Two years
later he became an evangelist and made his home at Kingsport,
where he preached for the next quarter of a century.!

! Alexander, op. cit., pp. 120-22.
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As has been previously noted, he was one of three who began
the Calvinistic Magazine at Rogersville, two years after he
began preaching. He dedicated the first number to controversy
and soon had declared war on the Methodists, because this de-
nomination was charging the Presbyterians with a plot to unite
church and state. The Holston Conference had retaliated by
setting up the Messenger. The Calvinistic Magazine ran for
five years and then gave up the fight, having defeated the Meth-
odists according to Ross. About this time the Eleven Years’ War
broke out inside the Presbyterian Church. This resulted in
the Old School and New School divisions, and while this civil
war was in progress, the enemy outside the gates were allowed
to rest. But in January, 1846, the Calvinistic Magazine was
revived on the grounds that the Methodists had renewed hos-
tilities, especially in their Episcopalian, published at Knoxville.
Ross was aided by Isaac Anderson, James King, and James Mc-
Chain, and the publication was now issued from Abingdon,
Virginia.?

Ross started a major offensive immediately. In 1846, besides
reviving the Calvinistic Magazine, he wrote a book which was
published in Philadelphia, entitled T'he Doctrine of the Direct
Witness of the Spirit, as Taught by the Rev. John Wesley,
Shown to be Unscriptural, False, Fanatical, and of Mischicvous
Tendency. A great amount of disputing went on over the simple
doctrinal point that God’s spirit and the individual’s spirit
bear witness to the latter that he is a child of God. These foolish
zealots attempted to tear cach other to pieces over impractical
metaphysical distinctions while needy neighbors might freeze
in the winter or die of starvation—but thus did they gratify
their pugnacity and fight the battles of the Lord.?

Having announced his offensive with this piece of heavy
artillery, Ross laid down a barrage with lighter guns. In the
eleventh number of the first volume of his Calvinistic Magazine

2 Calvinistic Magazine (new series), vol. I1, no. 1 (January, 1847), pp. 21-46.
This publication later became the Presbyterian Witness, a weekly paper pub-
lished at Knoxville. The last issue of the Magazine was vol. V, no. 12 (December,
1850).

* Brownlow, The Great Iron Wheel Examined, pp. 112-10.



56 WILLIAM G. BROWNLOW

he began a series of articles which he called “The Great Iron
Wheel” and which continued intermittently through eight num-
bers, lasting from November, 1846 to April, 1850. These articles
made up a consistent and sustained attack on Methodism, from
almost every imaginable angle but emphatically on the despot-
ism of the Methodist form of church government. It was a great
iron wheel which would run down and crush the liberties of
America. He declared the Methodist Church was, therefore, a
menace to the country and ought to be put down by the sword.
Furthermore, Methodists voted only for candidates for public
office who were followers of John Wesley. Methodists could not
be patriots for they were largely descended from the Tories of
the American Revolution, made so by the teachings of John
Wesley, the greatest of English Tories.*

Having been Tories in the Revolution, they were now natural-
ly of the lower classes, “the wool hats and coperas-breeches
gentry,” who in camp-meetings whipped up the unsuspecting
hearers to such a pitch of madness that they joined the Method-
ist Church. They had their “amen corners” and their “anxious
seats,” and they went through the barbaric custom of “shout-
ing” like red Indians. All of this great excitement and display
was worked up not only to secure new members but also to make
the old ones forget that they had lost their liberties. In fact,
according to Ross, camp-meetings were highly vulgar and often
downright immoral.®

Not only was the Methodist Church tyrannical in government
and unattractive in membership, but its doctrines were worse.
Wesley, its high priest and founder, believed in witches, spooks,
signs, and omens, and naturally all Methodists believed like-
wise. Methodism was a “debauched pietism, in which the imagi-
nation has run wild, and passion, bodily sympathy, and mysti-
cism are supreme, while true moral character is subordinate and
degraded.”® The Methodist band and class-meetings were so

¢ Calvinistic Magazine, vol. II1, no. 2 (February, 1848), p. 62; no. 12 (Decem-
ber, 1848), p. 861; Jonesboro Monthly Review, vol. 11, no. 1, p. 15.
8 Calvinistic Magazine, vol. I1, no. 1 (January, 1828), pp. 9-12; Price, op cit.,

1V, 24,
® Calvinistic Magazine for August, 1846, quoted in Brownlow, Great Iron

Wheel Exzamined, p. 188.
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coarse and vulgar, that Ross declared he found it necessary to
print in Latin the questions asked. The Reverend Mr. Ross in
the early part of the fight declared that he had routed the
Methodists and subdued their proud spirit—that they “walk
softly, i flannel socks, before Presbyterians in Abingdon, Jones-
boro, Greeneville, Rogersville, Kingsport, Athens and Knox-
ville 7

Ross not only wrote against the Methodists, but he preached
against them also. He had a special address known as the “Turn-
pike Sermon” which he dedicated to the Methodists and used
against them on numerous occasions. The followers of Wesley
might have excused the Presbyterians of blame for the wild
and intemperate charges made by Ross had not certain of the
synods endorsed this warrior and his “Iron Wheel.” 8

Some Methodists would ignore Ross, but others believed to
do so would be to admit his calumnies and to acquiesce in their
endorsement by organized groups of the Presbyterian Church.
Francis Hodgson immediately set about writing a book in an-
swer, which he called The Great Iron Wheel Reviewed: or, 4
Defense of the Methodist E. Church Against the Caluminous
Assaults of Rev. F. A. Ross and Rev. A. Converse, D.D. Ross
and his henchmen could now be considered answered, book for
book, but the pounding effects of periodicals like the Calvinistic
Magazine must be met and returned. The Methodist E piscopal-
tan in Knoxville carried on, and after its demise, its successor
the Holston Christian Advocate struck many licks. Down in
Georgia, Russel Reneau fortified one of the hills at Rome, set up
the Armenian Magazine, in January, 1848, and answered Ross
blow for blow.

But where was the Fighting Parson? It would be unthink-
able to have such an attractive religious war going on with the
Parson absent. No one in East Tennessee, in the Southern High-
lands, or in all America could surpass the Parson in the extreme
abandon with which he could use sharp cutting words and vulgar

7 Quoted in Jonesboro Quarterly Review, vol. 1, no. 1 (June, 1847), p. 24,

8 Among those endorsing Ross was the Athens Synod, in southeast Tennessee.
Brownlow, Great Iron Wheel Examined, p. 104; Jonesboro Quarterly Review,
vol. 1, no. 4 (October, 1847).
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phrases and innuendos. Some of the Methodists were already
trying to answer Ross but not according to the Parson’s style
or ability, and others who were to come later in the fight were
never able to equal him. On May 12, 18477, Brownlow announced
in the Jonesboro Whig that he was preparing to declare war on
Ross for his attacks on the Methodist Church, and he claimed
that this degenerate Presbyterian deserved capital punishment
“for his wanton assaults on the dead body of JOHN WES-
LEY.” The Parson was going to set up the Jonesboro Quarterly
Review and he announced that “if he does not make Mr. Ross
sick of his wicked and uncalled for assaults upon the Methodists,
and his friends sorry for him, in one short year, he will agree
to quit all controversy, in all time to come.”

The first issue appeared in June, 1847, and though the Parson
held it up as a religious publication, he also let it be known that
this periodical was designed definitely against Frederick A.
Ross. He was entering a rough and ugly war with Ross, and he
would not consciously swerve away by any attempts to be nice
and polite. In fact the Methodists already had a publication
which was answering Ross in that fashion, but it could not use
Brownlow’s methods, for it went into the homes of refined people
who “would be disgraced, were it to lay hold of Ross and his
extremely vulgar chargcs, and hold them up to the public gaze.”
Hence the necessity of the Parson’s Review to deal out justice
to a man “whose insolence, insults, and unmitigated villainy
ought no longer to be tolerated.” Some of his friends had sug-
gested that it be a monthly but he disagreed, for “one such pub-
lication every three months, will be as much as mortal man can
bear!”® But once in the heat of battle the Parson changed his
mind, and quickly bringing his first volume to an end within less
than six months, he began the Jonesboro Monthly Review in
December, 18477. He bound the first volume and made a repul-
sive caricature of Ross the frontispiece, stating that he was
preserving the review in this fashion for posterity “when I am
dead and gone,” that they might know the charges he had
brought against Ross.

* Jonesboro Quarterly Review, vol. 1, no. 1 (June, 1847), pp. 4, 39.
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In beginning the monthly, he promised that it “shall be less
smutty than our Quarterly has been, having disposed of the
obscene items necessary to be noticed.” Yet, he promised, it would
be severe. Ross had announced that he had enough ammunition
to continue the war another twelve months against the Method-
ists. Brownlow replied that he had enough munitions “for a
twelve years war, and promised, to serve ‘during the war,” making
new and extraordinary disclosures every month!” He reported
in early 1848 that he had already 1,200 subscribers.'
Through his Review, quarterly and monthly, the Parson
printed such scurrilous charges in such open and direct language
as would have led in another age to prosecution of the editor
and demial of the publication’s rights to the mails. The Parson
issued this declaration of war in the first number, “War he
would have, and now that war exists by his own acts alone—he
shall have it to his heart’s content. No misteries [sic], no secret
plots, no private relations, or domestic delicacies connected with
his past and present history, which shall not be brought to light,
before we are done with him.”'* Some of the Methodists had
made the mistake of treating Ross as a “dignified Christian
minister” ; Brownlow would make no such mistake: “I take the
slanderer by the throat, and drag him forth from his hiding-
place, and shake him naked over hell, in all his deformity ”*!?
Ross was “a low-bred, false-hearted, adulterous, and unprin-
cipled free negro”;'® he was a “ruffian by birth and instinct — a
practical amalgamator—and habitual adulterer—a loathesome
blackguard—a notorious libeller—a common liar—the son of an
old Revolutionary Tory—the degraded offspring of a Negro
wench. . . .”'* “His admirers shall know, that there are better
men in Hell than he is! He shall be shown up—he shall.””*®
If the Reverend Mr. Ross wanted to deny these charges, let
him prosecute the Parson in the courts for libel, for Brownlow

* Ibid., no. 4 {October, 1847), p. 175; Jonesboro Monthly Review, vol, 11, no. 2,
p. 123; Jonesboro Whig, November 24, 1847,

I Jonesboro Quarterly Review, vol, 1, no. 1 (June, 1847), p. 5.

 Brownlow, Qreat Iron Wheel Examined, p. 108,

® Ibid., p. 131.

* Jonesboro Monthly Review, vol. 11, no. 1, p. 67.

*® Jonesboro Quarterly Review, vol. I, no. 1 (June, 1847), p. 89.
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gave warning he would “rake, pound and pummel” him.
Brownlow pressed his charges regarding the ancestry of Ross,
both as to Tory and African antecedents, and he often referred
to him as “Frederick Africanus Ross.” He charged that David
Ross had begat Frederick through a Negro slave belonging to
Governor John Page of Virginia, and that he had secretly
bought her and set her free; but this did not make F. A. Ross
a free man. He quoted the Virginia law concerning Negro
preachers, called forth by Nat Turner’s Insurrection in 1832,
and declared that if the law were enforced Ross would receive
thirty-nine lashes for preaching. The Parson now and then
slackened his fire sufficiently to deal in the supposedly more
gentle art of poetry:

“Lay it on him, Billy Brownlow,
He gives you cause enough,
You’ve got ‘de nigger’ down low,

And treat him mighty rough.””*®

The Parson having touched the depths of scurrility in his
war against Ross, then resorted to a method of attack which he
had employed before and would use again; he set out in pursuit
of Ross’ kin. A brother had cut open a pair of saddlebags and
“stole therefrom six thousand dollars”; his father, besides be-
ing a Scotch Tory, had “died as he had lived, a debauched old
thief”; a niece had run away with a married man and the two
were then “living together as man and wife”; a nephew had left
his wife and child, eloped with a base woman, and was then liv-
ing in the far West; another brother had committed suicide;
and his son had at a camp-meeting been guilty of immodesty
so gross that the Parson would not fully describe it. This charge
led the son to threaten to shoot the Parson on sight. In retalia-
tion the Parson devoted two pages of his Quarterly to young
Davy Ross, and while disclaiming any intention of pushing the
combat with either father or son, he announced the warning,

» Ibid., no. 2 (July, 1847), pp. 73-76; no. 3 (September, 1847), p. 100; Jones-
boro Monthly Review, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 44, 47; Brownlow, Great Iron Wheel
Ezxamined, pp. 146-51. He even charged Ross with consorting with the hired
girl. Jonesboro Quarterly Review, vol. 1, no. 2 (July, 1847), pp. 58-61.
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“Let either of them, or any of the breed, dare move toward us,
with a view to assault us "

Thus again did the Parson fight the battles of his Lord and
of his Church. But this deluded crusader, perhaps, deserves
more pity than blame, for he lived in an age which produced
many other such figures who tried to be just as earnest as the
Parson but who were less able and therefore not so successful.
"To those Methodists of his own generation who thought that he
had lost his balance and that he had passed beyond the stages
of good taste, he replied, “What! write lovingly about one who
calls us all hypocrites—usurpers of man’s rights—robbers of
men’s privileges and prosperity—tyrants in government—per-
secutors of the innocent—slanderers of others—popes—friars
—inquisitors—adulterers—slaves—uvassals—dupes—rfools! As
soon would heaven form an alliance with hell, as for Methodists
to have Christian fellowship for those who have thus accused
them 1”18

Parson Brownlow not only thundered out defiance against
Ross in his Review, and not only set aside in the Jonesboro Whig
an “F. A. Ross Corner,” but he took to the dusty road, and like
Peter the Hermit, preached a crusade against this calumni-
ator of Methodism. He devoted much of the summer of 1847
to this sacred duty of carrying the war up and down the South-
ern Highlands from Knoxville to Abingdon, Virginia. Each
day he spoke “three long hours and upwards,” taking off “the
mortal covering of the darkest subject ever discussed”; and he
announced that all “who consider it Sabbath breaking to at-
tend, are respectfully, but earnestly urged to remain at home,
and read the ‘Calvinistic Magazine’.”'® At Abingdon he talked
to more than 1,000 people “for more than four dreadful hours,”?
and in an outburst of zeal nothing short of fanatical, he
travelled in the course of four days 100 miles, talking at the
top of his voice for a sum total of sixteen hours and forty min-

¥ Jonesboro Quarterly Review, vol. I, no. 1 (June, 1847), pp. 11, 19; no. 8
(September, 1847), p. 103.

® Ibid., no. 8 (September, 1847), p. 99.

* Ibid., no. 1 (June, 1847), p. 40.

* Jonesboro Whig, July 5, 1848.
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utes.** In October, 1847, he announced three engagements to
talk against Ross, each of which was to last four hours, prom-
ising “If in good health, and good trim, as I now am, I propose,
with God’s help, to make the wool fly I”?* The Parson, who de-
lighted to use statistics in most unusual circumstances, reckoned
that during the course of two years he had talked for thirty-
three solid days to at least 50,000 people. But his message had
gone even further for he had printed it in the Review, which
had 3,000 subscribers.®® No churchman in all America had
likely exerted himself more within an equal length of time, and
the Lord had smiled on all this work, for “during all that time
I have been but once interrupted by rain (at Greeneville, Tenn.,),
and never have had so much as a bad cold to prevent my speak-
ing.”** Down in the highlands of Georgia, the Armenian Maga-
zine looked on and applauded. It declared, “Ross in a wonderful
oblivion of memory overlooked the fact that Brownlow was in
Tennessee and was a dangerous customer.”?

So sure was the Parson of his ability to overwhelm Ross in a
word to word combat that he issued a challenge to him to a joint
speech-making tour. These were the specific charges the Parson
would debate:

1. I shall charge you with wilful and malicious lying, in various
instances, and prove you guilty. 2. I shall charge you with personal
dishonesty, and give chapter and verse. 8. I will charge and prove
home upon you, corrupt forgery. 4.1 will charge upon you the awful
crime of adultery, and give the proof. 5. I shall charge that none
other than Tory blood courses through your veins, and as such
you cannot be friendly to a Republican form of Government. 6. I
shall charge that but for the worst species of immorality, you never
would have been in existence, and that you are the last man in the
world who ought to complain of a want of respectability among
others!

And lastly he would prove that the Athens Synod of the Pres-

2 Jonesboro Quarterly Review, vol. 1, no. 3 (September, 1847), p. 142,
# Ibid., no. 4 (October, 1847), p. 176.

# Brownlow, Great Iron Wheel Examined, p. 102,

* Ibid., p. 161.

¥ Vol. I, no. 5 (March, 1849), p. 203.
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byterian Church in passing resolutions of approval of Ross’
work was made up either of liars or ignoramuses. So innocent
was the Parson of all knowledge of the standards of good taste
that he seriously concluded his challenge with the statement,
“I will say nothing during the day, offensive to any Lady who
may be present.”?® Ross, though his sense of propriety was
somewhat below the highest standards of his day, was not so
foolish as to put his head in the lion’s mouth, by going out and
engaging in a rough and tumble bout with the terrible Parson.

Brownlow was by no means alone in his speech-making against
Ross, nor did he hold the championship in a single endurance
record. President Charles Collins, of Emory and Henry College,
preached to an audience for seven hours without intermission,
and then after allowing the multitude a short breathing spell,
turned them over to Brownlow for an unstated time.*”

So easily did the Parson find it to attack Ross personally
that he largely forgot all about doctrinal disputation; and like-
ly he thought he had fought the battle of the Lord sufficiently
when he had destroyed the reputation and character of the
enemy. In answer to Ross’ charge that Wesley believed in spooks,
Brownlow declared that people generally believed in witcheraft
in those earlier days, but he averred the Presbyterians still be-
lieved in it. He declared that Ashbel Green, a distinguished
Presbyterian clergyman, “reflected upon the subject of necro-
mancy and sorcery until he finally concluded that he was a veri-
table teapot, and so declared himself from the pulpit. He would
place one hand on his hip, so as to form the handle—the other arm
he would elevate to an angle of 45 degrees, and declare it to be
the spout. The opposite leg from the spout he would give a tilt,
and make an effort to pour out the tea!”’*® Brownlow also knew
another Presbyterian who sent to heaven by a dying man “a
whole batch of local news from Blount County—as if the inhabi-
tants of heaven cared more about Blount than any other county
in the Lord’s moral vineyard !’?* And Ross and many other Pres-

2 Jonesboro Monthly Review, vol. 11, no. 5, pp. 191-92,
* Price, op. cit., 1V, 121-22,

= Brownlow, Great Iron Wheel Examined, p. 156.

* Ibid., p. 157.
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byterians believed in divining-rods which they used in attempts
to find stolen money and silver mines. In fact Brownlow declared
that Ross had recently set up in a Presbyterian Church festival
in Jonesboro a fortune-telling wax doll which would predict the
future for fifty cents. The Parson did not know what the doll
had told Ross but he believed it must have whispered, “Fred-
erick Augustus! in 1847 and *48, Brownlow is to get after you
with a sharp stick, and such another time you never had in this
life!” And as for James McChain, another Presbyterian and an
editor of the Calvinistic Magazine, “I confess to you frankly,
that I know nothing about the man, only that he is a WEAK
BROTHER, having scarcely sense enough to practice the en-
chanted frauds of the marvellous believers in witcheraft.”3°

Brownlow felt that he had already sufficiently dealt with
Presbyterian doctrines in his book Helps to the Study of Presby-
terianism, which he had written while he was still riding the cir-
cuit. But he dedicated a verse in his Review to Presbyterian
ministers:

“Vile Preachers !—Demons blush to tell,
In twice two thousand places;
Have taught poor souls the road to Hell,
Escorted by Calvinian graces %

The Parson loved his God, his Church, and his country, and
he and the church-going Southern Highlanders generally ir-
respective of creed stood up boldly for this trinity, each express-
ing that love in his own particular way. Their solicitude for the
first two has been amply demonstrated; their regard for the
last they almost instinctively expressed in their use of the
word T'ory. To call a person a Tory or the descendant of a Tory
was to touch almost the lowest depths of abuse. Hence the glee
with which the Presbyterians and Baptists charged Toryism
against John Wesley. The Methodists, having great difficulty
in defending Wesley, switched the argument as quickly as pos-
sible to the generally expressed charge that all Methodists were

» Ibid., p. 159,
% Jonesboro Monthly Review, vol. 11, no. 2, p. 173.
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Tories, and here they let no one outdo them ‘in testifying to
their love for their country. Brownlow was quick now, as well
as In 1861, to boast of his patriotic ancestry. His father and
his father’s five brothers had fought in the War of 1812, and
his Gannaway uncles had also been soldiers.

The great American eagle screamed loudest in his native
haunts; the farther it was in the Highlands, the louder it
screamed. It is, perhaps, no exaggeration to say that there were
Highlanders who were either so ignorant or so patriotic as to
believe that their Revolutionary forefathers had not only de-
feated Great Britain but that they had destroyed the British
nation. When John Mitchell, the Irish patriot, banished to Van
Diemem’s Land by the British, made his escape and came to East
Tennessee to live, some of the natives from far up the creek
marvelled at the mention of the British government as still being
in existence. One of them expressed his surprise with the re-
mark, “I thought we had whipped that consarn out long ago.””*

The active fighting in the Brownlow-Ross War ended in
1849, when the Parson moved to Knoxville. He ceased firing in
April with the last number of the Jonesboro Monthly Review.
He declared that he had won the victory, for soon thereafter
Ross left East Tennessee and settled in Alabama. The Parson
boasted that he had driven him out, and very likely there was
much truth in this claim, for whether Brownlow’s accusations
against Ross were true or not, he had heaped such unrestrained
abuse upon him that any person with sensibilities would rather
flee them than involve himself in a defense.®?

3 Humes, op. cit., p. 29.

* Ross made his home in Huntsville and there died in 1882. He long remained
an active figure. In 1857 he published a book called Slavery Ordained of God,
giving the familiar argument that slavery was a divine institution, and bitterly
condemning the North and its customs. In a specch at the General Assembly
of the Presbyterian Church held in Buffalo, in 1853 he said, “I have little to say
of spirit-rappers, women’s rights, conventionalists, Bloomers, cruel husbands,
or hen-pecked. But, if we may believe your own serious as well as caricature
writers, you have things up here of which we down South know very little in-
deed. Sir, we have no young Bloomers, with hat to one side, cigar in mouth,
and cane tapping the boot, striding up to a mincing young gentleman with long

curls, attenuated waist, and soft velvet face—the boy-lady to say, “May I see
you home, sir?” and the lady-boy to reply, ‘I thank ye—no; Pa will send the car-

5
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But no sooner was Brownlow out of one war than he was plung-
ing himself into another. This was a battle of books more than
of pamphlets and periodicals. As has been previously mentioned,
religious disputes and clerical debates were characteristic of
the development of sectarianism in America from colonial days.
In some cases disputation went on orally in joint encounters and
the speeches were published later in book formj; in others, it
was a contest of book against book. Back m 1829 a contest took
place which is well described in the title of the book that was
published as a record: Debate on the Evidences of Christianity;
Containing an Examination of the ‘Social System’ and of all the
Systems of Scriptures of Ancient and Modern Times, Held in
the City of Cincinnati, Ohio, From the 13th to the 21st of April,
1829 between Robert Owen of New Lanarck, Scotland, and
Alexander Campbell, of Bethany, Virginia.** In 1834, Campbell
engaged in another bout which was recorded in the book, 4
Debate between Rev. A. Campbell and Rev. N. L. Rice on the
Action, Subject, Design and Administration of Christian Bap-
tism; also on the Character of Scriptural Influence in Conver-
sion and Sanctification and on the Expediency and Tendency
of Ecclesiastical Creeds, as Terms of Union and Communion:
Held in Lexington, Ky., from the Fifteenth of November to the
Second of December, 1843, a Period of Eighteen Days. Re-
ported by Marcus T'. C. Gould, Stenographer, Assisted by A.
Euclid Drapier, Stenographer and Amenuensis.

Book war and sectarian debating continued unabated during
the 1850’s. In 1850, Alexander McCaln wrote a book entitled
A Defense of the Truth, as Set Forth in the “History and Mys-
tery of Methodist Episcopacy,” Being a Reply to John Emory’s
“Defense of our Fathers.” In 1857, a debate took place in the
Baptist Church at Ghent, Kentucky, which lasted for three
days. This debate, reported by George C. Steadman, “Phonog-
rapher,” and published at Louisville the next year under the

riage’.” Ibid., p. 20. He was instrumental in starting the trouble which resulted
in the organization of the United Synod of the Presbyterian Church in the
United States of America.

“ It was published at Bethany by Campbell, in two volumes.
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title, Debate on Some of the Distinctive Differences between
the Reformers and the Baptists, Conducted by Rev. Benjamin
Franklin and Elder T. J. Fisher. In 1855, Jeremiah B. Jeter
wrote Campbellism Examined and two years later Moses E.
Laird replied in 4 Review of Rev. J. B. Jeter’s Book Entitled
“Campbellism Examined.” Sectarian promotion also ran
through a glorified fiction period with such books as Thodosia
Ernest or Heroine of Faith and Theodosia Ernest, or T'en Days
Travel in Search of the Church. These two books were described
as “the most charming works ever published in America,” but
they did not charm William P. Harrison, who combatted them
with his Theophilus Walton; or, The Majesty of Truth. In
1856, loyal Baptists were being urged to buy R. B. C. Howell’s
The Influence of Baptists in the Formation of the Government
of Virginia, J. M. Pendleton’s T'hree Reasons Why I am a Bap-
tist and An Old Landmark Reset, and J. F. South’s Objections
to Methodism. A Baptist journal, set up in Louisville in 1852
and edited by John L. Waller, which fought the Methodists as
well as the Presbyterians, was the Christian Repository. A Re-
ligious and Literary Monthly.

Parson Brownlow, beset by a journalistic war in Knoxville,
might have withstood the various book-attacks being made on
Methodism had it not been for the activities of J. R. Graves,
who assumed the position of commander-in-chief of the Baptist
warriors in Southern Appalachia. Graves was born in Vermont
in 1820, of French Huguenot and German ancestry. He went to
Ohio where he taught school for a time; then he drifted down
to Kentucky to continue teaching, and there was ordained a
Baptist preacher. In 1845, he moved to Nashville, preached in
the Second Baptist Church, and edited the T'ennessee Baptist.
Aided by J. M. Pendleton he set up ten years later the Southern
Baptist Review and Eclectic. These activities highly displeased
the Parson, but the casus belli of the Brownlow-Graves War was
a book which Graves wrote in 1856 and which he called The
Great Iron Wheel; or, Republicanism Backwards and Chris-
tianity Reversed. In the same year Graves also furbished and
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published T'he Little Iron Wheel, A Declaration of Christian
Rights, And Articles Showing the Despotism of E piscopal Meth-
odism by H. B. Bascom, D.D.%®

How the Parson pictured the duplicity of
his religious and political enemy, J. R. Graves.
From Brownlow’s T'he Great Iron Wheel
Ezamined.

It was The Great Iron Wheel which infuriated Brownlow. The
contents of this work, previous to publication in book form, had
appeared in the T'ennessee Baptist in a series of forty letters
addressed to Bishop Soule, senior bishop of the Methodist
Church, South. But most of the material that went into these
articles and that later made up the book had been first used by
TFrederick A. Ross in his Calvinistic Magazine in a series of
eight articles as previously stated, and this fact maddened the
Parson still further. Graves declared that he had written this
book to ward off the attacks that the Methodists had been mak-
ing against the Baptists in a deluge of books and tracts. He
dedicated it “To Every American who loves our free institu-

* As indicated, this book had been written by Bascom, a Methodist who was
dissatisfied with Methodism and later joined the Episcopal Church. Graves
. added Notes of Applications and IHlustration.
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tions and scorns to be degraded or enslaved in Church or
State. . ..”

The Methodist Church organization was an acute danger
to the country. It was a great despotism which tyrannized its
membership and threatened the stability of civil government. It
was like a great iron wheel which had wheels within wheels. The
bishops were the great outer rim which made a revolution every
four years. There were twenty-eight conference wheels revolv-
ing around annually. To these were attached one hundred pre-
siding elder wheels which moved 1,200 quarterly conference
wheels revolving once every three months. Governed by these
were 4,000 travelling preacher wheels revolving monthly and
setting in motion 30,000 class leader wheels which whirled round
weekly. These controlled between 700,000 and 800,000 member
wheels which went spinning around every day like whirling
dervishes.?®

He also “assaulted the dead body of John Wesley,” and took
up the familiar points of sectarian contention—all of which can
best be discussed in connection with the Parson’s answers. Here
it is pertinent to inquire what Graves’ standing was among
Southern Baptists and what reception his Great Iron Wheel
received.

This militant Baptist was one of the most powerful leaders
in his church and was looked upon by multitudes of his co-
religionists as “an eloquent speaker and a very handsome writ-
er” and as their greatest hope on earth. Joseph E. Brown, gov-
ernor of Georgia from 1857 to 1865, declared that Graves had
done more for the Baptist Church than any fifty men living,*
yet it would be foolish to say that every Baptist agreed with him
or supported his methods. The world is not ordered in such a
fashion. Brownlow declared that Graves was a “sort of Hindoo
leader of the warlike wing of his Church,” and that the better
Baptists disowned him and his T'ennessee Baptist, but the Par-
son’s statement here is subject to a heavy discount since he

®J. R. Graves, The Qreat Iron Wheel; or, Republicanism Backwards and
Christianity Reserved, pp. 159-60.
% J. H. Borum, Biographical Skeiches of Tennessee Baptist Ministers, p. 288,
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was in the midst of an argument.®® Yet this much is true, that
a little later Graves’ pugnacity got him into trouble with his
own Baptists and that as a result the Nashville church deprived
him of its fellowship.?” He went off on an extreme angle of the
Baptist religion, which was called Landmarkism, and in support
of it he wrote a book called Landmarkism—W hat is it?*°

As for The Great Iron Wheel, it received the endorsement and
acclaim of Baptists throughout the country, North and South.
It was endorsed by a great many Baptist associations, and some
of them, like the State Line Baptist Association, included in
their endorsement Graves’ T'ennessce Baptist.** The Baptist
Publishing Society of North Carolina adopted it for sale and
circulation through its agency, and the North Carolina Biblical
Recorder in its fight against the Methodists used many texts
from T'he Great Iron Wheel.** North Carolina Baptists were par-
ticularly loud in their praise and zealous in their promotion of
this book. When the Richmond Christian Advocate declared The
Great Iron Wheel to be false, foul, and slanderous, the Baptist
Publication Society challenged Leroy M. Lee, the editor of the
Advocate to debate the question with Graves in Raleigh.*® On
Lee’s refusal they challenged Charles F. Deems, of the North
Carolina Conference, but he also refused the “degrading propo-
sition.” Next they sought to bring out Dr. Smith, president of
Randolph-Macon College, but he also declined to turn clerical
gladiator.**

The book had an immense sale and every day, according to
Graves, its acclaim was becoming “more general, warmer and
louder.” The sale of it during the first twenty months after its

* Brownlow, Great Iron Wheel Examined, p. 22,

® P. H. Mell, Jr., Life of Patrick Hues Mell, pp. 108-24.

“J. J. Burnett, Sketchos of Tennessee’s Pioneer Baptist Preachers, pp. 184~
98; B. F. Riley, 4 History of the Baptists in the Southern States East of the
Mississippi, pp. 177-78.

“J. R. Graves, The Little Iron Wheel, 4 Declaration of Christian Rights, and
Articles Showing the Despotism of Episcopal Methodism by H. B. Bascom,
D.D., pp. 244-307; Brownlow, G'reat Iron Wheel Examined, p. 292.

“ Ibid., p. 298.

“ Biblical Recorder, August 9, 1855 quoted in Brownlow, Great Iron Wheel
Examined, pp. 256-57. * Ibid., pp. 259-61.
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publication had averaged a thousand copies a month, and at
no time had the supply equalled the demand. It was claimed
that over 100,000 copies were ultimately sold. Graves boasted
of many people being converted from Methodism by it, but he
never stated the number of dollars it had turned toward him.**

Just as Brownlow had come to the rescue of the Methodists
in his Review when Ross and his Presbyterians had attacked
them, it was naturally to be expected that he would join the issue
with Graves and his Baptists in their latest onset against the
followers of Wesley. Again must the Parson buckle on the armor
of the Lord and go out to do battle. He had written already five
books of a controversial nature and he had hoped that it would
not be necessary to write a sixth, but the enemy had forced it
upon him.*® Amidst many other duties, he set to work and wrote
The Great Iron Wheel Examined; or, Its False Spokes Ex-
tracted, and an Exhibition of Elder Graves, its Builder, in a
Series of Chapters. He lost little time, for it appeared the same
year in which Graves’ book was published, 1856. It was printed
in Nashville. He made a hostile demonstration in the dedication
and then for 331 pages he fought Graves and the Baptists with
fire and sword, not neglecting to make some of his worst assaults
on Ross, who had afforded Graves so much ammunition. In this
spirit he began:

TO
Every honest and impartial reader,
who loves Truth and despises False-
hood, whether perpetrated by a Priest or
a Levite, for the sake of Fame, or money-
making: To every Protestant Christian, who,
to whatever sect or denomination he may be at-
tached, is unwilling to see a sister Church pulled
down by a collection of tales, fabrications, and black-
guard insinuations, which a decent man should be ashamed
to listen to, and utterly too disgraceful for a Minister of
the Gospel to repeat and publish, this work is confidently

* Graves, Little Iron Wheel, p. 287.
“ Brownlow, Great Iron Wheel Examined, p. xii.
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DEDICATED BY ITS AUTHOR:

Who here, most respectfully, as a Local Preacher of the
Methodist Episcopal Church, South, apologizes to the
Christian public for the seeming severity of this
work, in some parts, on the ground that he has
performed the painful task of refuting a series
of the most scurrilous falsehoods, and a col-
lection of the lowest abuse of the age!

He felt equal to the task and sufficiently informed on true
religion for he had during the past twenty years read the whole
Bible fifteen times and the New Testament twenty times.*” As
was his custom in dealing with his enemies, he first disposed of
Graves’ character, charging among the crimes he had commit-
ted, slander for which he had been fined $7,500.#® And further-
more, at a service he held at Bowling Green, Kentucky, Graves’
abuse of other sects had been so low and “his conduct so degrad-
ing, that a Baptist lady remarked that if any one would hold
him, she would cowhide him!” He had actually been horsewhip-
ped on the streets of Nashville.*

The Parson had been viciously inclined toward the Baptists,
since the days when he first rode the circuit and had come into
collision with Humphrey Posey. He charged most of the Bap-
tist preachers with being illiterate and opposed to learning,
claiming that thev objected to “the use of any and all books
except the Bible,” that they “publicly boast that they have no
‘edecation’ or ‘human larnin’,” and that they “announce to an
audience such texts of Scripture as God reveals to them for
special purposes and occasions, either after their arrival at the
place of worship, or on their way thither " With lmpatlence
the Parson exclaimed, “When will this denomination learn wis-
dom. When will the hide-bound clerical dolts of that order, ac-
quaint themselves with the Scriptures.”*

“ Ibid., p. 207.

® Ibid., pp. 268-77.

“ Ibid., pp. 70, 264.

* Ibid., p. 191.

St Jonesboro Whig, May 18, 1812
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Baptist preachers were not only innocent of common learning,
but a third or a half of Baptists were superstitious, often giving
“no other evidence of a genuine conversion to God than that of
a dream, the hearing of a voice, the sight of a ghost, or the visi-
tation of an angel, or of God himself!”’** Brownlow declared
that a woman had been received by the Baptists in Carter Coun-
ty, Tennessee on the testimony that she had “walked out into
the woods, where she met Christ and the apostles, in open day-
light, under a large tree, singing a Baptist song!”%

As a blanket indictment, the Parson charged the Baptists
“with selfishness, bigotry, intolerance, and a shameful want of
Christian liberality.”®* They assumed to be the only true Church
and the only way to Heaven, and as an example of their “com-
bined bigotry and despotism,” he cited a recent meeting at
Sinking Creek, in Carter County, which was typical of the Bap-
tists in the South and West. At the meeting described, the
preacher after informing the Methodists and Presbyterians,
who had been invited to be present, why they should not be al-
lowed to commune, announced that “all who were in good stand-
ing in their own Churches might occupy the front seats, and see
the Lord’s people partake of his shed blood and broken body.”*
There were even some Baptists, known as Close Baptists, who
prescribed other Baptists on various points.

Having disposed of the character of both Graves and the
Baptists generally Brownlow began the defense of his Church
against Graves’ charges. After rescuing Wesley’s good name
from both his Savannah experiences and his subsequent career in
England, he repelled the charges against the form of the Meth-
odist Church government. As for the Baptists, they had no
government, being “without form and void,” or, indeed, the most
that might be said was that they had “a sort of Indian Council-
ground form of govermment.” Against the charges that the
Methodists were not Christians because they had been founded
by a man, and that they were too young to be a Church and that

52 Brownlow, G'reat Iron Wheel Examined, p. 96.
® Ibid., p. 98.

 Ibid., p. 181.

® Ibid., p. 182.
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they were dying out, the Parson hurled a table of statistics
showing how fast the Methodists had been growing and he abused
the Baptists as being “sectarian bigots,” “pig-pen orators and
whiskey-shop saints.””>

The Parson found so many falsehoods in Graves’ book that he
scarcely knew where to begin answering them. With his flair for
statistics, he announced that Graves had perpetrated twenty-five
falsehoods in one chapter of twelve pages, being over two lies to
a page.”” But the greatest subject for sectarian dispute in all
the land was baptism. There was scarcely any one, no matter
how lowly, who did not hold his immutable views on this subject
and argue learnedly about it. The word Baptizo had as great
currency in the Southern Highlands as it had had in ancient
Greece; it was analyzed, parsed, declined, and conjugated from
“Dan to Bersheba.”™® This was the great rock on which the
Baptist Church rested, and to budge an inch was blasphemy.
Of course, the Baptists held that immersion was the only way

® Ibid., pp. 27-90.

 Ibid., pp. 243-44.

™ For the Parson’s discussion of it see ibid., pp. 224-31. The Parson used this
story to illustrate the importance the Baptists put on baptism; he also thought
it would illustrate Baptist bigotry: “I am here reminded of two dreams by two
preachers, the one a Baptist, the other a Methodist. They had been holding a
protracted meeting together, which lasted for days, and which resulted in the
conversion of a number of souls to God. The two preachers now agreed to open
the doors of their respective churches, and gather in the fruits of their labors.
It was agreed that the Baptist brother should lead the way. He stated to the
audience generally, and to the young converts in particular, that he had had a
remarkable dream, in which he had died and gone to hell! His Satanic Majesty
received him very politely, and proposed to escort him through all the apart-
ments of the infernal regions before assigning to him his position. He travelled
extensively through the dark dominions, and met with quite a number of Meth-
odists, Episcopalians, Presbyterians, and Catholics, but did not see one Baptist
in all the infernal regions-—their compliance with the ordinance of baptism
having carried them all safe to God’s habitation!

“The Methodist minister followed. He too had dreamed a remarkable but
similar dream! He had died and gone to hell as he stated to the audience; and,
like his Baptist brother, the Devil had conducted him through all .his dark
dominions. He saw ‘lots and squares’ of Methodists, Presbyterians, Episco-
palians, and Catholics, but not a single Baptist. He inquired of the Devil, with
anxious solicitude, if there were no Baptists there? His Satanic Majesty seized
him by the arm, turned him suddenly around, and said, ‘Come out here? The
Devil raised a large trap-door and pointed to a multitude, grappling in ‘a lower
deep,’ and exclaimed, “These, sir, are all Baptists holding close communion?”
Ibid., p. 2117.
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to Heaven, and according to Parson Brownlow they held that
people “could no more get to heaven without being immersed by
a Baptist preacher, than they could arrest the sun in his course,
or check the impetuous cataract of Niagara in its onward and
terrible progress %

The Parson objected to immersion for many reasons. In the
first place he was opposed to the method, for it propelled the
convert into the Church backwards. Most Christians entered
the Church “face foremost,” but “Our Baptist brethren are
almost alone in their vulgarity in backing into the Church of
God!”% And they held even immersion was not efficacious unless
performed by a Baptist preacher who must not be friendly to
missions or friendly to any minister who was friendly to mis-
sions.®* But the Parson especially objected to immersion because
of its vulgarity and to prove it to be thus he published an illus-
tration of “Elder B. Changing Clothes Before the Ladies, After
Immersion ”®* The process of immersion, he described thus:

The usual custom throughout the South and West is to bandage
the forehead of a delicate and beautiful female, and tie a handker-
chief round her waist, as a sort of handle for an awkward Baptist
preacher to fasten upon; and thus she is led into the water, step
by step, in the presence of a mixed multitude, who are making their
vulgar remarks and criticizing her steps as she fights down her
clothes, which rise to the top of the water, and float around her
delicate and exposed limbs! She is taken by the preacher, who
fastens one hand in her belt, and the other on the back of her head;
and after planting his big feet firm upon the bottom of the stream,
and squaring himself as though he were about to knock a beef in the
head, he plunges her into the water !*

Immersion was not only very cumbersome to perform but it
was also contrary to the Bible John’s form of baptism was not
Christ’s; it was merely “one of those divers washings in use
among the Jews.” And even at that it was not immersion, for

® Ibid., p. 183.

* Ibid., pp. 202-3.

% Ibid., p. 305.

% Ibid., opposite p. 241. For the Parson’s description see ibid., p. 241.
®Ibid., p. 214.
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One of the Parson’s graphic arguments against the Baptists. The Baptist pastor,
“after immersing several persons, came out of the water and changed his clothes in
the presence of the multitude, as indicated by this engraving, and all in the presence
of males and females. He was a very tall man, knockkneed and rawboned—anything
but handsome when dressed.” From Brownlow’s The Great Iron Wheel Examined.
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reasons that Brownlow ingeniously worked out. Again did he
enter the realm of mathematics and now work out a statistical
commentary on the Bible. Through a sifting process he deter-
mined that there were in the Holy Land “just three millions of
human beings” whom John baptized. Estimating the length of
John’s ministry at nine months (and that he continued longer
“cannot be proven from the Bible, by all the Baptist preachers
and writers in existence,” though the Parson would grant ten
months), and allowing six hours a day given over to baptizing,
the total number of hours that John devoted to this rite would
be 1,300. The inexorable mathematical conclusion would be that
John baptized 2,000 to the hour, thirty to the minute, or one
every two seconds. Now common sense proved that he could not
have immersed them at this rate. It was therefore inescapable
that John sprinkled them—and likely with a sprig of hyssop,
since that was an old Jewish custom.® Should further proof be
demanded against the use of immersion by John, the Parson
would cite all skeptics to the physical characteristics of the Jor-
don River. The banks of this stream were so steep and the
current so swift that no person could hope to enter its waters
and not be drowned.®

Again, the Parson analyzed the great Biblical baptizing on
the Day of Pentecost, and proved that immersion could not have
been used. He estimated that the Twelve Apostles baptized
3,000 on that day, but not until they had preached to the multi-
tudes long enough to leave no more than five hours to be devoted
to baptizing. Dividing these 8,000 equally among the Twelve,
the Parson reckoned that each Apostle would be forced to bap-
tize fifty to the hour. To immerse at this rate would tax be-
yond the breaking point the physical endurance of anyone.
Furthermore, the nearest stream was the Brook Kedron, which
at this time of the year was almost dry. Manifestly no person
could be immersed in such a stream; for not only was there little
water in it, but what little existed was polluted. At the very
thoughts of immersing a person there, the Parson’s anger welled

* Ibid., pp. 206-11.
% Ibid., pp. 231-32.
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up: “If one of the apostles had taken a wife or daughter of ours,
and plunged her into this filthy brook, he would not have im-
mersed another female soon again.”® The Baptists placed much
emphasis on the case of Philip and the eunuch, but both went
down into the water, and if “going down into the water” meant
immersion, then Phillip immersed himself at the same time he
baptized the eunuch. Absurd, the Parson concluded.®

olo

blofoin]

ololalo}s

Pictorial proof that sprinkling was the form of
baptism in Biblical times. This representation, said
to be the centre-piece in the dome of the baptistery in
the Ravenna Cathedral, was used as an argument by
James L. Chapman, a Tennessee Methodist minister,
in his book Baptism, with Reference to its Import,
Modes, History, Proper Use, and Duty of Parents to
Baptized Children. Here John the Baptist is sprinkling
water upon the head of Christ, while the mythological
figure representing the River Jordan views the act.

To Brownlow’s way of thinking, immersion was impractical
and foolish from any point of view. It was not only spiritually

*® Ibid., pp. 234-35. ¢ Ibid., p. 235.
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wrong, but it was physically dangerous—and surely the Lord
would not have doomed to damnation the 8,000,000 people
living in the Polar Regions.®® If immersion were correct, how
could it be done? The inescapable conclusion was that sprinkling
was the proper method of baptism: “And we defy every Baptist
on earth to produce explicit proof from the Scriptures of any
persons ever having been immersed in the primitive Church.”®®
The Parson also battled against the Baptists to save the infants
from eternal damnation.™

Graves had attacked the Methodist Church for its schism in
1844, and attributed the cause to the form of Church govern-
ment and to the ambitions of a corrupt and designing ministry.
The Parson was as good a Southerner as he was a Methodist,
and forgetful of Nullification days, he called on John C. Cal-
houn as his champion. And he would inform Graves that it “was
a glorious act on the part of the Methodist Church, and a proud
day in her history,” when she broke with the abolitionist North.™
Brownlow declared that the separation of Southern Methodists
from Northern Methodists was “both inevitable and desirable,”
and he expected all other denominations in the South to break
with the North.” Graves should be looked upon with suspicion
by a true Southerner, for he was born “north of Mason and
Dixon’s Line,” and he had written his Iron Wheel, of 570 pages,
and had not said “one word AGAINST ABOLITIONISM, or
one word in favor of SOUTHERN SLAVERY.” He should
be “forced to define his position at once, or leave the South in
hot haste.” The Parson saw a dark future:

We are on the eve of unconjecturable events, and every South-
ern man ought to show his hand. . .. A struggle of unequalled fury
is swiftly approaching us; and if the ties of our cherished Union
come out of it unrent, they are made of sterner stuff than the his-
tory of the past would seem to warrant! The bonds of the Union
have resisted political agitation, but can they withstand religious

% Jbid., pp. 288-41.

% Ibid., p. 238.

 Ibid., pp. 221-23.

" Ibid., p. 268.

™ Jonesboro Whig, May 28, 1845.
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fury? Abolitionism has travelled from political dominion to re-
ligious conviction, and has infected the whole mind and heart
of the North. Under its palsying touch, some of the strongest cords
that held the Union together have snapped: others are now assailed,
and I fear will give way!™

The Parson identified Methodist independence with Southern
nationalism and pledged himself to support both with equal
vehemence.

Having examined T'he Great Iton Wheel and removed its false
spokes, the Parson believed he had performed his major task,
but there still remained T"he Little Iron W heel, which the Parson
felt he could not ignore. So he proceeded to spin The Little Iron
Wheel in a book he entitled, The “Little Iron Wheel” Enlarged;
or, Elder Graves, its Builder, Daguerreotyped, by Way of an
Appendixz. T'o Which are Added Some Personal Ezplanations;
and so the war was continued over familiar ground.™ Graves,
for the most part, treated the Parson with silent contempt,
stopping only to declare him “notorious and scurrilous” and
a “foul libeller.” He stated that he had not read Brownlow’s
attacks and had no intention of doing so.™

Undoubtedly all Methodists, Baptists, and Presbyterians
were not as crude, impetuous, and contentious as were Brownlow,
Graves, and Ross, but great numbers supported these three
clerical gladiators and others like them who for their churches
fought and gouged fairly and foully. The Southern Highland-
ers were pugnacious, manly, and brave; they enjoyed a fight
religious or otherwise. The churches would not have been so
foolish as to refrain from using one of the handiest devices for
securing members, even if it had not naturally suggested itself.
Many a Highlander could never have been induced to enter a
church or attend a religious gathering if he were not assured
ahead of time that there would be a great deal of excitement.
Coming in unsuspectingly he might be made a member through
guile. The public debate on religious questions was used to

™ Brownlow, Great Iron Wheel Ewamined, pp. 285-86.

™ This book was published by Brownlow in 1857 at Nashville.

"™ Graves, Little Iron Wheel, pp. 244, 248. Graves also had a quarrel with
Alexander Campbell.
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gather in those who either could not read or did not care to make
the effort, while the book war either brought in or strengthened
the faith of those who were better educated. Graves sold more
than 100,000 copies of his Great Iron Wheel, to be read and
passed around among the Baptists; Brownlow claimed to have
sold a like number of his Great Iron Wheel Examined, which
delighted the hearts of at least an equal number of Methodists.™

It would, therefore, be a vain argument to say that those
who served and received their religion in this manner were in
numbers negligible. The pugnacious proselyting church mem-
bers were respectable in numbers even if they might not be in
religious character. And they did not act as individuals; con-
ferences, synods, and assemblies stood back of their respective
warriors and endorsed their methods. Graves said, “Look at the
distracted state of christendom! . .. Methodists and Baptists
engaged in an exterminating warfare. Presbyterians and
Methodists in East and West Tennessee unchurching and un-
christianizing each other, and pronouncing each other’s peculiar
doctrinal teaching dangerous to the souls of men.””” In East
Tennessee the Methodists and Baptists were about equal in
numbers, while the Presbyterians were a weak third. Primitive
ideas lasted a long time in the Southern Highlands. As late as
1845 the Holston Conference declared that instrumental music
in churches was “preventive of the worship of God in spirit and
in truth.”™ At the same time this group of Methodists resolved
that they would support “prudently conducted institutions of
learning” yet they would disapprove and would “oppose any
means tending to or savoring of the establishment of a theologi-
cal institute or seminary.””

In Southern Appalachia there were valley lands as beautiful
and as fertile “as ever the sun shone on,” and inhabitants as
cultured and as learned as could be found elsewhere in the South.

" These religious contentions were not peculiar to the Highlands. The plan-
tation South played a minor part and in addition developed quarrels of its own,
though on a somewhat different basis. Into them entered such names as Thomas
Cooper, Horace Holley, and James H. Thornwell.

" Graves, Great Iron Wheel, p. 16.

® Price, op. cil., 1V, 21.

® Ibid. The ban on theological institutions was removed by 1858.

6
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These people were Presbyterians, Methodists, and Baptists like
their less fortunate neighbors farther back in the mountains.
They were a minority in numbers, yet their influence was great.
Though they could not prevent these devastating religious wars,
they could disapprove of them and hope that the day would
come when religious denominations would not choose such meth-
ods by which to promote their growth. They founded and sup-
ported colleges and hoped that education and culture would
direct into the souls of the people all the religion they were cap-
able of truly absorbing. Parson Brownlow in the midst of his
war with Ross stopped long enough to make the damaging ad-
mission :

There are many kind-hearted Methodists in the country who
are opposed to all of this angry controversy, and who oppose it from
correct motives. Their kindness feeds on reflection rather than
impulse: they know that Christians cannot add to their graces by
this busy, bustling spirit of controversy—this struggle to be seen
and heard., They recollect that Elijah found not the Lord in the
tempest, but in the quiet and calm—*“Be still, and know that I am
God.”®®

Another Methodist objected to joint religious debates, declar-
ing, “As feats of intellectual gladiatorship, they attract a gap-
ing crowd of those who admire the pugnacious combatants, or
who care nothing for them or the subject they are to fight about,
and who are only a little less interested than they would be in
‘seeing the elephant’ and ‘stirring up the monkeys’ in a me-
nagerie,”®!

Without reference to how sincerely they embraced their re-
ligion or how efficacious it was, it can be said that a majority
of the Southern Highlanders joined a church.®* It can also be

® Brownlow, Great Iron Wheel Examined, p. 145.

® Ibid., pp. 259-60, quoting from the Richmond Christian Advocate.

® The United States census for 1850 and for 1860 did not attempt to give
statistics on church membership. The most the marshals who took the census
tried to do was to estimate the number of accommodations in the churches and
school-houses, according to denominations. Virginia, whose population was
in 1860, 1,596,318 had church accommodations for 1,067,840; Tennessee, with
1,109,801 population, had accommodations for 728,661; North Carolina, with
992,622 population, had accommodations for 811,423; and Georgia, with 1,057,286,
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said that this fact was the result of a vast deal of hard preaching,
hard fighting, and hard praying. If success was to be measured
by the standard of numbers, then did Southern Appalachia well
deserve the title of being a vineyard of the Lord.

had accommodations for 763,812, Eighth Census of the United States, 1860,
Mortality and Miscellaneous Statistics, pp. 497-502.



CHAPTER V
BLACK SLAVES AND MOUNTAIN WHITES

Tre rirst Southern Highlanders came into being through a
sifting process which produced both the strong and the weak,
and in the struggle for existence a person might pass from one
class to the other, but the two classes continued, even as it must
always be in a normal society. There was no reason calling for
the weaklings to increase their proportion over their more for-
tunate neighbors to any greater extent in the Southern High-
lands than in the Southern Lowlands and Piedmont regions.
Southern Appalachia was never so densely populated that many
of its inhabitants were forced through the scarcity of land to
live on the steep slopes of its rugged mountains." Those who
chose to live in the out-of-way places made their decision because
they were natural lovers of solitudes, or else because they were
so shiftless that hard circumstances washed them there with little
resistance on their part. The isolated Elizabethan mountaineers
developed in no greater proportions than did the “poor white
trash” in the piney woods and wire grass country. There was
no part of the South that did not have its unfortunates, and at
no period and in no region was it all the one or the other. To
denominate all mountaincers as illiterate ne’er-do-wells would
be as absurd as to claim that all lowlanders were cultured aristo-
crats.

Making a living is cver a conscious thought with all normal
people, but how much it shall take and the manner in which it
shall be done vary widely. Southern Highlanders differed not
with this philosophy of life. For some a small field and a rude
cabin were sufficient, and the number of hogs kept could be made
to vary inversely with the number of bear hunts the fall might

1Even in the year 1936 there are great stretches of the Southern Highlands
which have never known the mountaineer’s cabin.
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produce. This class of people lived rudely but well. They were
not in the business of producing anything for sale, although
they were never without something to sell. They never knew
the meaning of financial depressions and of the hunger and pov-
erty that the industrial revolution brought to their twentieth
century descendants in Elizabethton, in Kingsport, in Bristol.
But highlanders were just as ambitious as lowlanders; they
were just as desirous of becoming great as were the people in
any other part of the country. They would turn their hand to
whatever business their region best promoted. The river valleys
of the Tennessee, the French Broad, the Powell, and the Clinch
and many less spacious levels, called coves, which the mountains
so obligingly provided, afforded agricultural land of the great-
est fertility. Here farms sprang up and some of them grew
to such sizes that they came to be none other than Southern
plantations.

Agriculture came in with such vigor that it was forced to do
homage to that handmaid of ante-bellum Southern agrarianism,
slavery. In 1860 there were thirty counties which made up what
was called East Tennessee, and in every one of them slavery
gained a lodgment. With the exception of Scott County where
the proportion of slaveholding families to non-slaveholding was
one to fifty-seven, the East Tennessee counties ranged in the
proportion of slaveholders to non-slaveholders from one to twen-
ty-one, to one to five. Two-thirds of these counties had a tenth
or more of their population holding slaves. For the whole South
the average was about a third. The number of slaves per county
ranged from 59 in Scott County to 2,370 in Knox County.
Exactly two-thirds of these counties had more than 500 slaves
each, and an even dozen had more than a thousand. While most
of the slaveholders owned less than fifteen slaves, about 170
owned twenty slaves or more, and one planter in Jefferson
County owned more than 200. These East Tennessee farmers
and planters raised corn, wheat, rye, oats and other grains. They
also raised hay, cattle, and swine, and horses and mules.

There was also a sort of industrialism growing up, which was
not allied to planters nor necessarily friendly to agricultural
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philosophy. A great deal of flour and meal was manufactured,
amounting in each of seven counties to more than $100,000
annually. In 1860 the value of this product in Knox County was
$263,000. Lumber, leather, liquor, and cotton goods were also
produced in varying quantities, and in 1860 Hamilton County
packed $130,000 worth of pork and beef. Mining interests were
beginning to be developed, with Marion County taking out of
the ground in 1860 coal to the value of $408,000, and Polk
County producing copper worth $404,000. Little cities like
Knoxville were growing into industrial centers of some im-
portance.?

In the earlier days East Tennessee had been self-sufficient,
shut-off, and contented, but as this region began to produce
something to sell, it became more interested in the way out.
Nature had provided two main roads—up the valleys toward
Roanoke, Lynchburg, and Richmond, and down the valley to-
ward Chattanooga, Atlanta, Birmingham, and Nashville. Minor
ways lay northwestward through Cumberland Gap and east-
ward up the French Broad to Asheville. However, in the case of
the latter two ways, it was necessary to cross the two great
mountain systems which flanked the Tennessee valleys. But
the people beyond the Gap were the competitors of the East
Tennesseeans in selling their products to the planters, so the
Cumberland Gap became a pass into and through East Ten-
nessee to the southward. The road up the French Broad led
to Asheville without great difficulty, but the markets that would
buy what East Tennesseeans wanted to sell lay far on beyond
to the southward, and between was a mountainous country yet
to be crossed. So strongly did the magnet of trade draw to
Columbia, Charleston, and Augusta, that the great six-horse
wagons dragged themselves through this mountain highway,
sliding down through Saluda Gap into Greenville District, South
Carolina. The first easy way to market was down the Holston
and into the Tennessee River to Chattanooga, but soon the
Tennessee unobligingly broke navigation at the Muscle Shoals,

? Eighth Census, 1860, Manufacturers, pp. 560-79; ibid., Agriculture, pp.
132-39.
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and then later illogically wandered northward, finally emptying
into the Ohio River, five hundred miles away from East Ten-
nessee’s markets. A canal around the shoals would allow unim-
peded navigation across the whole stretch of Alabama, but the
project never produced anything more valuable than the plans.

The markets that stood gaping for East Tennessee flour,
meal, salt, iron, pork, horses, mules, sheep, and hay lay to the
south and southeast, in Georgia and South Carolina. These
great plantation markets by right belonged to East Tennessee,
for they were close by. Yet they lay beyond a great wall of
mountains which was not so accommodating as even to allow a
water course to trickle through. But in the early 1820’s, a reso-
lute East Tennesseean determined to take a cargo to the low-
land markets of Alabama, mountain walls and Muscle Shoals
notwithstanding. He built himself a keel boat on the Holston,
loaded it down with flour and whiskey, and embarked on a re-
markable Odyssey. He floated down the Holston, past the mouth
of the French Broad and on into the Tennessee until he reached
the Hiwassee. Here he turned his boat southeastward up this
stream and poled it until he reached the Ocoee. He belabored
his boat up this stream almost to the Georgia boundary, when
being unable to proceed further he dragged both boat and
cargo across the height of land to the headwaters of the Cona-
sauga. Down this river he floated into the Oostanoula, Coosa,
and Alabama, and finally deposited his cargo in Montgomery.?

It was easy enough to see that East Tennessee would have
great difficulty in reaching her markets as long as navigating
rivers and canals was the national mode of travel. And so it
was that new hope sprang up in East Tennessee when news
reached there that a railroad was a practical invention and that
it could be built where people would never dream of trying to
put canals. Knoxville, which had long been the wagon center
of East Tennessee,' now aspired to be the railroad center. An
enthusiastic meeting held here in 1831 humbled the mountains
and determined that a railroad should be built across them to

3 Niles’ Register, XX, 63, 64 (March 24, 1821).

“In 1825 it was estimated that the number of wagons entering Knoxville
averaged 975 annually. Niles’ Register, XXIX, 263 (December 24, 1825).
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Charleston, South Carolina.® The next year, Asheville, North
Carolina, which expected to be on this new railroad, was the
scene of another enthusiastic meeting.® This idea of a railroad
through the heart of the Southern Highlands soon came to be
developed into a grand conception which fired the imagination
of Calhoun, Hayne, and many other Southerners. This road
would not stop at Knoxville, but should speed its conquering
way into the heart of the Ohio Valley—to Cincinnati. Not only
would the Southern Highlands be annexed to the South At-
lantic, but the wealth of the Middle West would flow southward,
and with it would come an alliance so powerful that the South
could defy all New England and the East, commercially as well
as politically.”

The whole country had now become excited over railroads,
and nowhere was there greater enthusiasm than in the Southern
Highlands and in the Southeast. On July 4, 1836, more than
400 delegates from nine states met in the Methodist Church
in Knoxville to promote the Charleston and Cincinnati project.
Without waiting for the slower parts of the country to awaken,
the East Tennesseeans organized during this year the Hiwassce
Railroad Company, and in the course of the next few years,
before being overtaken by bankruptcy, they spent more than
a million dollars in their fruitless efforts to pierce the moun-
tains. The twentieth century reminder of this former ambition
to go through the mountains rather than around them is a short
line of track from Knoxville to Maryville, which still bears the
ambitious title, Knoxville and Augusta Railroad. The attempt
to join by a railroad the Lowlands and the Highlands was re-
vived in 1848. This time a flank attack would be made on the
mountains. Under the name of the East Tennessee and Georgia
Railroad, this project was begun at Dalton, Georgia, in 1850

® Ibid., XL, 307 (July 2, 1831).

¢ U. B. Phillips, 4 History of Transportation in the Eastern Cotton Belt to
1860, pp. 170, 171.

"This was the famous Charleston and Cincinnati Railroad, which as such
was never built. See ibid., pp. 168-220. For a discussion of this project which
grew up after the Civil War and which resulted in the Cincinnati Southern
Railway from Cincinnati to Chattanooga, see E. M. Coulter, The Cincinnati
Southern Railroad and the Struggle for Southern Commerce.
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and by the end of the following year it had been pushed north-
ward to Athens, Tennessee. It continued northeastward, cross-
ing the Tennessee River in 1852 and reaching Knoxville in 1855.
In 1859 a branch was built from Cleveland, Tennessee to Chat-
tanooga, to connect with roads to Nashville and Louisville and
with the Western and Atlantic, which had been built by the
state of Georgia from Atlanta to the latter city, and had been
completed in 1851. By 1860 the Virginia and East Tennessee
Railroad had been pushed through Lynchburg and on to Rich-
mond. At this time East Tennessee found herself well connected
with all the principal cities of the United States through this
strategic line which passed from Chattanooga to Bristol.®

East Tennessee was never plantation country and never would
have become so, but by 1860 it was fast making preparations
to tie itself to the planter class by the tough thongs of a lucrative
trade. Though entirely different from the Lower South in topog-
raphy and largely in occupation, it was not an enemy territory
alien in sympathy. On the all-absorbing Southern institution,
it was harmonious with the rest of the South. It had been exposed
very early to influences hostile to slavery, but it had listened no
more attentively and had reacted no more favorably than many
other regions of the South not in the mountains.

It was characteristic of the pionecer preachers, irrespective
of denomination, to oppose slavery, coupling with it the other
great sin, whiskey-drinking. These impecunious wanderers,
having no worldly possessions, saw few slaves in their earthly
kingdom, but those few they did see likely belonged to people
who considered themselves too high in the scale of life to notice,
except to spurn, the frontier preacher. Coupled with this wholly
human personal feeling against slaveholders and therefore
against slavery, were specific teachings of some of the denomi-
nations. The Quakers were as well-known for their anti-slavery
sentiment as for any other doctrine. Methodists, Presbyterians,
and Baptists were likewise in varying degrees opposed to slav-
ery. As the Presbyterians became more wealthy and educated
they soon forgot their hostility, and left the Methodists to get

® Phillips, op. cit., pp. 372-76, 382-85.
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away as best they could from the teachings of John Wesley and
the pronouncements his Church had made.

Wesley had declared that slavery was a “complicated vil-
lainy,” and that man-buying was no more respectable than
man-stealing. The earliest Methodist saints, such as Thomas
Coke and Francis Asbury, imbibed their anti-slavery feelings
from Wesley, and when in 1784 in Baltimore they set up the
Methodist Church in America, they forbade all members of the
Church to own slaves, except in states where manumission was
prohibited by law. But they had climbed onto too high a plane;
within less than six months the rule was indefinitely suspended.
As far as slavery was concerned the Methodists were now in a
state of nature until 1796, when they marched toward high
ground again by forbidding all Church officials to own slaves or
any Methodist to buy or sell slaves “Unjustly, inhumanly, or
covetously.” They soon suffered a relapse and in 1808 they
repealed all rules which attempted to regulate a private mem-
ber’s dealings with slavery. The Methodist Church was now
becoming wealthy enough in the South and respectable enough,
to feel an interest in the destiny of its surroundings, and so
Bishop Asbury came to the conclusion that it were much better
to work for the salvation of the slave’s soul and the alleviation
of the harshness of his position rather than to attempt further
to have him set free. In 1840 the Church abandoned the sub-
ject of slavery entirely, by repealing the rule against officials
owning slaves. But at the next conference in 1844 the storm
broke, and the Church split into two permanent bodies on the
subject of slavery. Southern Methodists now like other denomi-
nations in the South became a church for the land of slavery,
a land that was consciously developing a nationality.?

East Tennessee very early became the scene of vigorous
attempts to organize manumission societies, and some of the
earliest anti-slavery leaders who came to be best known made
their start here. Samuel Doak came into the Holston River Val-
ley before the end of the Revolution and for the next generation

® Milburn, op. cit., pp. 347-88; Journal of Francis Asbury, 111, 290; J. N, Nor-
wood, The Schism in the Methodist Episcopal Church, pp. 9-22.
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educated the people against slavery both from the pulpit and
in Washington Academy and Tusculum Academy, which he
founded. A pupil who showed the results of this teaching, fifty
years later in far-away Texas, was Sam Houston. By 1814 the
Quakers had organized the Manumission Society of Tennessee
and had begun their appeal to all, but especially to the religious
denominations, to help spread the movement. In 1816 this so-
ciety held a meeting in Greene County, and over the names of
Thomas Doak, Elihu Embree, and others, it sent out an appeal
for the gradual emancipation of the slaves.’

East Tennessee became the cradle of the emancipation press.
In Jonesboro in 1816 the Manumission Intelligencer sprang up,
soon to be followed by the Emancipator, edited by Elihu Em-
bree. When Embree died his place was taken by Benjamin Lun-
dy, who set up his Genius of Universal Emancipation, first begun
in Ohio and later moved to Greeneville. But with all the writing
by newspaper editors and all the preaching by Quakers,
Methodists, Baptists, and Presbyterians, the manumission move-
ment made little progress in Southern Appalachia. Before slaves
were brought in, the Highlanders could not become greatly
excited over something about which they had no first-hand in-
formation, and when the valley farms began to be developed
sufficiently to make slaves desirable, the manumission movement
became correspondingly undesirable. Abstractions never took
up a great amount of the time Southern Highlanders had at
their disposal. Although Lundy’s program was innocuous as
compared with the later abolition movement conducted by Wil-
liam Lloyd Garrison, yet it appeared vicious enough to lead
East Tennesseeans to threaten Lundy in various ways. “Often
the bullies,” declared Lundy, “vapoured around me with bludg-
eons, in such a manner, that the sparing of my life might seem to
have been providential.” In 1824 Lundy moved out with his
Genius of Universal Emancipation and continued it in Balti-
more.'!

© Niles’ Register, X1V, 321 (July 4, 1818).
1 The Life, Travels and Opinions of Benjamin Lundy, Including his Journey
to Texas and Mexico; with a Sketch of Contemporary Events and a Notice of



92 WILLIAM G. BROWNLOW

It has heretofore been amply demonstrated that Parson
Brownlow was interested in all the religious and journalistic
activities in the Highlands, and it might well be inferred that
he would spring into the midst of any movement which he might
succor or belabor and in which he might whip up excitement.
The Parson did not necessarily predicate his position on con-
formity with the prevailing sentiment ; he was entirely too eccen-
tric, independent, and honest for such slavishness. So it does not
logically follow that to explain East Tennessee is to explain the
Parson. Yet in the matter of internal improvements and of slav-
ery, it is true that Brownlow coincided with his surroundings
and that he had no little part in directing and supporting sen-
timent in East Tennessee on these two subjects. In his news-
paper he gave a great deal of space to railroads, and he applied
to the abolitionists some of his most devastating invective.

The question might well be asked, How did Brownlow look
upon aristocrats, both in his midst and on the slave plantations?
It expresses much to say that he did not hate them and never
hurled his terrible bolts at them. Through grim circumstances
he had been forced to believe in hard labor; the aristocrats
frowned upon manual labor as something for the slave to do.
The Parson with good feeling told them how mistaken they
were in upholding such a system of philosophy.’® Andrew John-
son had a personal feeling against aristocrats because he had
begun life among them as a poor white, and he held them respon-
sible for his hard lot. Brownlow had grown up among his own
kind, and when he came into contact with aristocrats he had
become a man of some importance. In fact Brownlow was not
sure that he would not like to be an aristocrat, if he could only
learn the formula. The most that the Parson had to say about
aristocrats was to make some good-natured fun at their expense.

He was well acquainted with the planter aristocrats and with
their ways, for he travelled widely throughout the South as poli-
tician, preacher, moral lecturer, or delegate to any kind of a
meeting to which he could get the appointment. He was an in-

the Revolution in Hayti, pp. 20-21; William Birney, James G. Birney and hiz
Times, pp. 74-78; Humes, op. cit., pp. 32-33.
2 Knowville Whig, June 19, 1852,
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veterate wanderer, and most of his travels were in the South.
In 1848 he turned up at Madison, Georgia in the heart of planter
aristocracy, with no other reason than to attend the meeting of
the Georgia Conference there.” In 1854 he set out on a lecture
trip which took him down through the Lowlands from Charles-
ton to Savannah and up through the heart of Georgia. He showed
no distaste for the planters, though at times they showed a dis-
like for him. On this trip he visited the little intellectual and
aristocratic center of Athens, Georgia, and spoke in the town
hall on temperance. The élite of the town came out to listen, “at-
tracted more through curiosity than anything else” and ex-
pecting to hear something “original and racy.” Their expecta-
tions were fully gratified, for the Parson soon dipped into low
and vulgar allusions and set the aristocratic ladies to leaving
the meeting or blushing behind their fans in the most approved
fashion.™

If no other evidence existed, the fact that the Parson at-
tended some of the meetings of the Southern commercial con-
ventions would be sufficient to show that he was climbing up
among the planter aristocrats and was attempting to become
respectable among them. By appearing at such meetings he was
tending to identify himself with that longing in the South to
develop Southern nationalism and Southern unity and to speed
the day when the destiny of the South would be fully realized,
under aristocratic leadership. He attended the convention which
met in Charleston in 1854, and although he did not dominate
the meeting like he would a Methodist conference, still he slipped
in a speech whenever possible and in other ways made the con-
vention realize that he was present. In 1857 the Southern Com-
mercial Convention met in Brownlow’s home city, Knoxville,
and, of course, the Parson was there. He announced his presence
early in the session when he opposed a movement to keep out the
“Black Republican” and Yankee newspaper reporters, by de-
claring that he would be in favor of admitting a reporter from
his Satanic majesty if one should appear. Other East Tennessee

3 Jonesboro Monthly Review, vol. 11, no. 2, p. 107.
* The Southern Banner, April 27, 1851. For a trip into Alabama in 1858 see

Knoxville Whig, February 13, 1858.
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leaders such as Horace Maynard and Oliver P. Temple, were
here also identifying themselves with Southern extremism. This
Knoxville convention was so outstanding in the threatening at-
titude which many speakers took toward the Union that the
Parson later admitted that these conventions were becoming too
dangerous to please him.'®

But what were the Parson’s definite views on slavery, this
institution which made possible the great planter class? Having
been born with a seeming prejudice against Negroes he naturally
considered their proper position to be one of slavery as long
as they remained in his sight. His earliest views were strictly
in keeping with those of Henry Clay, whom he had chosen as
his guide for all earthly affairs. While he was still riding the
circuit, the question came up, and he admitted that to solve the
problem would take a better mind than his “or those possessed
by these emancipating preachers, who are continually bawling
out set your negroes free.”*® As his own Methodists held a halt-
ing record on the slavery question, he was unable to attack other
churches for opposing slavery, but he could at least say that
the American Colonization Society would be an excellent or-
ganization, if it could be kept free from the Presbyterians. As
a true disciple of Henry Clay’s he favored colonizing all freed
Negroes in Liberia or elsewhere outside the United States. He
was opposed to free Negroes remaining in America, and when
in 1840 it appeared that the testimony of a free Negro had been
accepted in a trial in the navy, Brownlow made a bitter attack
on President Van Buren for allowing such an outrage.'

In line with the development of the slavery argument in the
South, Brownlow declared that the free Negroes in both North
and South were more miserable and destitute than the slaves.
By the 1850’s he stood as a strong friend of slavery, and in de-
fending it he would go as far as the boldest—“even dying in

¥ DeBow’s Review, XV1, 633, XVII, 99, XXIII, 304; Ought American Slav-
ery to be Perpetuated? A Debate between Rev. W. G. Brownlow and Rev. 4.
Pryne, held at Philadelphia, September, 1858, p. 32; Herbert Wender, South-
ern Commercial Conventions, 1837-1859, pp. 185-206.

* Brownlow, Helps to the Study of Presbyterianism, p. 110.

¥ Ibid., pp. 107-11; Parson Brownlow’s Book, p. 25; Brownlow, 4 Political
Register, pp. 184-90.
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the last ditch!” Slavery was wholly scriptural throughout, di-
vinely planned by the Lord, and clearly intended by Him to
“exist even to the end of time.”®
Nothing aroused the Parson to a greater heat of passion than
to have the institution attacked by Northerners, whom he
variously denominated “fiery bigots,” “vagabond philanthro-
pists,” and “vile Abolitionists.”*® Back in 1839 he announced in
his Whig: “A young upstart from Philadelphia, who figures
with as many ALIASES as the Emperor of Russia has titles”
visited East Tennessee for the purpose of getting converts to
abolition, but not a soul would hear him.?® Uncle T'om’s Cabin,
the Parson considered the greatest outrage ever perpetrated
in book form, and as for Mrs. Stowe, “We are sorry to say that
she is certainly a deliberate liar, and it is the greater pitty [sic],
as she is the daughter of a Clergyman, and has been better
raised I”*! Later on when the Parson saw her picture he passed
the further comment on her: “She is as ugly as Original sin—
an abomination in the eyes of civilized people. A tall, course,
vulgar-looking woman—stoop-shouldered with a long yellow
neck, and a long peaked nose—through which she speaks.”??
The Parson was maddened to the extent of being willing to
accept any wager of battle the Abolitionists might throw
down. In 1853, in the most advanced fire-eating fashion he de-
clared, * ‘A bloody revolution’ is the only alternative the Abo-
litionists of the North intend to present to the South. As a
Southern man, we accept the proposition for ‘a bloody revo-
lution,’ and we are ready to go into it, whenever the ball opens.”?
Having thundered out against the Northern Abolitionists for
twenty years in his newspaper, Brownlow in 1856 decided to
preach a formal sermon against them.? On June 8th he spoke

* Brownlow, Great Iron Wheel Examined, pp. 314-21.

®W. G. Brownlow, dmericanism Contrasted with Foreignism, Romanism,
and Bogus Democracy, in the Light of Reason, History and Seripture; in which
Certain Demagogues in Tennessee, and Elsewhere, are shown up in their True
Colors, p. 197,

# Elizabethton Whig, September 19, 1839,

* Knozville Whig, February 5, 1853,

2 Ibid., August 13, 1853,

® Ibid., August 6, 1853,

# Of course, he had much to say about slavery, in his sermons heretofore.
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in Temperance Hall in Knoxville for an hour and fifteen min-
utes on slavery, showing the great part that institution had
played in history, how Abraham had had more slaves than any
cotton-planter in South Carolina or Mississippi, how it was
through slavery that King Solomon built his Temple, how the
Egyptians built the Pyramids, and how the great civilizations
of Greece and Rome had been reared and maintained. It was
nothing to their credit that Northerners did not own slaves, for
“their virtuous and pious minds were chiefly exercised in slave-
stealing and slave-selling.” As for the pious Abolitionists, they
preached against slavery on Sunday, “and on the next day, in a
purely business transaction, behind a counter, or in the settle-
ment of an account, cheat a Southern slave out of the pewter
that ornaments the head of his cane!” “Nay,” cried out the
Parson, “the villainous piety of some leads them to contribute
Sharpe’s Rifles and Holy Bibles, to send the uncircumcised
Philistines of New England into Kansas and Nebraska, to shoot
down the Christian owners of slaves, and then to perform re-
ligious ceremonies over their dead bodies %

Having improved upon this sermon and made some additions,
the next year he displayed his complete Southern orthodoxy
before the meeting of the Southern Commercial Convention then
being held in Knoxville, by delivering it in Temperance Hall
before the assembled delegates and others. At this time he took
the opportunity to renew his warfare against Elder Graves and
to vindicate his beloved Methodist Church South from the slan-
ders of the Reverend Presbyterian. His chief quarrel with Graves
now sprang out of the latter’s statement that the Presbyterians
in a recent schism in the New School wing were the first religious
denomination to allign itself definitely in support of slavery.
Brownlow, after castigating Graves, reminded him that the
Methodist Church South had wedded slavery back in 1844.%¢
So pleased were the Southern Commercial Convention delegates
with this sermon that ten of them from Alabama and eighteen
from various other Southern states called upon Brownlow to
_TBmlow, Americanism Contrasted with Foreignism, pp. 195-201,

2 W. G. Brownlow, 4 Sermon on Slavery; A Vindication of the Methodist
Church South: Her Position Slated, pp. 22-31.
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print the sermon in pamphlet form to be scattered throughout
the slaveholding South. They also respectfully begged the Par-
son to repeat his “Lecture” in all the principal cities and towns.
Brownlow, greatly pleased by the reception he had received from
these planter aristocrats, agreed to comply with both kind in-
vitations.*?

The Parson’s blood was now tingling for the fray with the
Abolitionists. His slavery sermon appeared to him to be irre-
sistible. He would not waste it on East Tennesseeans and other
Southerners, who were already favorable to slavery; rather
would he challenge the combined hordes of all the North to come
out and fight. He would especially like to cross swords with Theo-
dore Parker or Henry Ward Beecher, and he was not afraid
to have the combat on Boston Commons amidst a ten acre lot
full of people. The reputation of the Parson was too well known
in the North for his challenge to be immediately accepted or
even considered. The first “black hope” of the North to come
out was Frederick Douglass, whom the Parson spurned as an
untouchable. It would be an immeasurable disgrace to debate
with a Negro. But the Parson was in earnest in his desire to
debate any white Abolitionist and he hoped one would appear.
Late in the spring of 1858 a radical Garrisonian emerged from
his retreat at McGrawville, New York, and informed the Par-
son that he would debate the question of slavery with him. This
champion for the North identified himself as Abraham Pryne,
a Congregational clergyman, and the editor of an anti-slavery
paper, the Central Reformer. Should Brownlow like to know
more he was referred to Joshua R. Giddings, Gerritt Smith, or
Mark Hopkins. Pryne stipulated that the debate must be held
somewhere in the state of New York, and that he must have four
weeks notice.®

The Parson was eager to begin the fight, and he got his
heart’s content, for hostilities began even before the terms of the
debate had been settled. Pryne not getting an immediate an-
swer to his acceptance of the Parson’s challenge addressed him

# Ibid., p. 2.
% Ought American Slavery to be Perpetuated, pp. 5, 6, 129, 281.
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again with the hope “that after your blustering announcement
that you would meet the entire North on this question, you will
not back out from the first debate offered you.”*® Brownlow came
back with a ready answer: He had not replied sooner because
when Pryne’s letter arrived he was 1,000 miles away “on a tour
of observation among the negroes, and sugar and cotton plan-
tations of Mississippi, Arkansas, Louisiana, and Alabama.”
Having already been insulted by the Negro, Frederick Doug-
lass, the Parson was wary of Northerners whom he did not
personally know. “There are two points of information I wish
from you,” he wrote, “before I respond to your challenge. First,
what church are you connected with? Next, are you a white man,
or a gentleman of color?” Not to be trapped by a Negro or an
atheist, Brownlow on the same day wrote Giddings, asking the
same two questions about Pryne. Giddings informed him that
Pryne was a Congregationalist, but he did not mention his
color. This aroused Brownlow’s suspicions, and again he de-
manded of Pryne his color, stating that since there was a Negro
college in McGrawville, he suspected that Pryne was its presi-
dent. Pryne now replied that he was “not a very white man,” but
that there was no Negro blood in his veins.*

Now that Pryne’s color was established, Brownlow would con-
sider the terms of the debate. He did not want to debate in the
state of New York, but he would be satisfied with Philadelphia.
Pryne acceded, agreeing to debate anywhere from Augusta,
Maine to Chicago. As to the nature of the question and its
statement, Brownlow wanted great latitude, for he had deter-
mined to take advantage of this occasion not only to defend
slavery and all things Southern but to carry out a terrific as-
sault against the North and all of its ways. He declared, “I will
be the judge of what is to the point, and will not be ruled out
of order, or off of the subject, by any moderators, or judges of
the debate.” He would begin the debate and let Pryne close it,
and it might continue through as many installments as Brown-
low might desire. Each should speak an hour, and neither should

* Ibid., p. 6.
* Ibid., pp. 6-9.
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continue more than an hour and a half. There should be no
interruptions, and however much Pryne might need the help
of others he must fight alone, but Brownlow would not object
to him surrounding himself “with all the anti-Slavery leaders
at the North, and with counselling them, and being prompted
by them at intervals; and when we are through, if any one of
them shall think you have not done me or the South justice, I
will renew the contest with him.” Brownlow wanted it under-
stood that he was not entering this debate for the purpose of
making money. Therefore, it ought to be “a free fight”; but he
could not afford to be at greater expense than his fare to Phila-
delphia and return and his lodging while there. Consequently,
if the hall should not be free, then an admission price must be
charged. Pryne was sure that it would be wholly permissible
to charge an admission fee, for in fact that was the custom in
the North. Although Brownlow would not debate with a Negro,
he would not object to having Negroes listening to him debate.
So it was agreed that all without regard to color should be ad-
mitted, if they presented the required tickets. The debate should
be held in early September. Now that the terms were fixed and
the date set, the Parson warned Pryne “to be fully ready, as I
purpose to give you battle after a style you have not been ac-
customed to. . . .”%

During the summer the Parson marshalled his facts at spare
moments, and on September 8, he arrived in Philadelphia—
but not ready for the fight: He had ammunition sufficient to
annihilate the North, but he was unable to fire it at the enemy.
He had lost his voice. He suggested to Pryne that the debate be
postponed, explaining, “By speaking both too long and too
loud, and by over-heating myself in a controversy during the
last summer, I have brought upon myself bronchitis, rendering
it impossible for me to speak, or even converse, without an ef-
fort somewhat painful” With a feeling akin to humility he
admitted that this was the first time he had found himself with-
out a strong and powerful voice for thirty years. Pryne de-
murred : The hall had been engaged and the audience was ready;

®Ibid., pp. 9-14.
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no one must be disappointed. Brownlow had never been a cow-
ard and rather than have the appearance of being one now,
he hired a reader to perform for him. But the great joy of ap-
pearing before an audience in exciting debate he was now forced
to forego, and although those who listened to his speeches heard
language unusual to their ears, they missed the greatest at-
traction which the joint debate had promised.

This forensic disputation was held in the National Guard
Hall, and beginning on September 7, it lasted through five
successive evenings, attracting considerable attention among
the Philadelphians. On the first evening there were about 400
present, and according to the Penmnsylvanian, the audience
throughout the five days was a “mixture of whites and blacks—
Southern students, Quakers, Black Republicans, and negro
barbers and bootblacks, and the Abolitionists outnumbered the
decent portion three to one.”® Despite the fact that this debate
was much like giving the play with Hamlet left out, the Parson’s
arguments seem to have drawn much attention. One Philadelphia
paper declared that his speech was received “with especial fav-
or,”® and another reported that it “abounded in racy denun-
ciation, keen hits, and amusing and felicitous turns of expres-
sion” and “the audience applauded immensely.”?®

As the two participants were fanatical in their zeal on oppo-
site sides of the same subject, there was no reason for a polished
debate, neither logical argument nor nice personal considera-
tions. Perhaps the audience might have been disappointed and
less appreciative had the debate turned out otherwise. The
Parson very early complained of being interrupted by people
in the audience crying out, “Time expired.” He charged the
guilty ones with being “ruffians and insolent free negroes,” who
were Pryne’s chief supporters, for “Southern men, unlike Abo-
litionists, are men of good breeding!’*® According to Brown-
low’s estimate the audience was in the proportion of five to one

3 Ibid., pp. 15-16.

* September 13, 1858.

* North American and United States Gazette, September 8, 1858.
3 Pennsylvanian, September 8, 1858.

% Ought American Slavery to be Perpetuated, p. 140.
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against him, and he explained it by declaring that Pryne had
“a horde of free negroes and fugitive slaves here all the time
clapping for him, and hissing me.”*" In closing the debate Brown-
low said, “For the general decorum and most exemplary behav-
ior of the decent portion of the audience, I return my sincere
thanks. To the opposite class, largely in the majority, my com-
petitor will no doubt make suitable acknowledgments !”’*® Brown-
low also found the newspapers of the city prejudiced against
him. They gave to Pryne’s speeches much more space than to
his own—and he openly confronted them with charges of this
favoritism.*® Pryne accused Brownlow of running over his time
in almost every one of his speeches. Smarting under some of
Brownlow’s thrusts, he declared that he had stooped lower than
he had anticipated when he agreed to debate the Parson. He
took especial offense at this question which Brownlow asked him:
“Would he be willing to see his daughter married to the son of
such distinguished buck negroes as Sam. Ward or Fred. Doug-
lass?” He answered that he would not stoop to such tactics as the
Parson employed, but he would say that his daughter should
never marry a Southern slaveholder.*

At times during the debate Brownlow assumed that he had
demoralized Pryne and had thrown him into a disorganized
retreat. He challenged him to repeat the debate throughout the
North and South—especially would he have it repeated in the
South. Pryne snarled back at the Parson and refused, for South-
erners “meet reason with brickbats and pistols, and settle ques-
tions of ethics and logic with gutta percha canes, even on the
floor of the Senate. .. .”*

Personalities added excitement to the debate, but most of
the time was consumed with arguments, new and old, Southern
and Garrisonian, in which the slaves sometimes got lost amidst
the display of bitter sectionalism. At the outset Brownlow an-
nounced that slavery had been found to be in existence at the

3 Ibid., p. 215.

® Ibid., p. 278.

* Ibid., p. 277.
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dawn of history and that it would also be found at the setting
thereof. He had traced slavery “up the stream of time to God’s
awful mysteries which enshroud the origin of society *? Aboli-
tionists should know that “if their great-grand-children live to
see ‘American Slavery’ eradicated from the States South, where
it now is, by the sanction of law and the provisions of our Con-
stitution, as well as with the approbation of God himself, they
will live until their heads are as grey as a Norwegian rat.”*® In-
deed, he would go further: “When the angel Gabriel sounds
the last loud trump of God, and calls the nations of the earth
to judgment—then, and not before, will slavery be abolished
south of Mason and Dixon’s line I”**

He found slavery Biblical throughout, and no Christian could
deny that slavery had been ordained by God. He exhibited doz-
ens of passages from the Bible to prove his point. He declared
that Abraham owned “more slaves than any cotton-planter in
South Carolina, Georgia, Alabama, or Mississippi; or any to-
bacco or sugar planter in Virginia or Louisiana.”® God not
only established slavery but he ordained fugitive slave laws for
its enforcement. The proof he found in Genesis 16:9, which
reads, “And the angel of the Lord said unto her, Return to thy
mistress, and submit thyself under her hands.” This passage
referred to Hagar’s flight from Sarai. At the peril of having
his audience charge that he was crazy, Brownlow declared that
he would solemnly say “that the Angel of God, on this occasion,
was acting in the capacity of a United States Marshal under the
then existing fugitive slave laws of the Old Testament, and ar-
resting a fugitive slave. . . .”*® Christ had seen slavery of the
worst kind on all sides, yet he had never preached against it,
neither had St. Paul. In fact St. Paul had opposed the abolition-
ists of his day.*

Slavery was a great Christianizing influence. In Africa the
black savages worshiped “stones, insects, and reptiles.” In their

“ Ibid., p. 202.

“ Ibid., p. 210.

* Ibid., pp. 217-18.

“ Ibid., p. 20.

“ Ibid., pp. 79-80.
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barbarism they were “fierce, cruel, cowardly and treacherous,”
ignorant and lascivious, constantly fighting among themselves,
burning each other at the stake, and actually devouring each
other. American slavery had rescued them from this terrible
existence and had placed them in the salubrious South where
they ate the bread of contentment and where every Sunday hun-
dreds of thousands heard the Gospel preached.*® Slavery “has
brought five times more negroes into the fold of the Church than
all the missionary operations of the world combined. Slavery
has tamed, civilized, Christianized, if you please, the brutal
negroes brought to our shores, by New England kidnap-
pers. ...”* Theslaveholders, even those who were not members of
any church, had encouraged the Christianization of their slaves.
As a result there were in the South 466,000 slaves who were
members of churches. The Parson had found slave churches in
all the principal cities of the South, and he had preached to
many slave congregations. In Mobile he had recently seen a
slave congregation of 700 members, who owned a church build-
ing costing $7,000. In his own home town of Knoxville, there
were two slave Sunday Schools.*

The Abolitionists had attempted vast damage to God’s King-
dom among the slaves. They had forced the Methodist Church to
divide into a Northern and a Southern branch, for “we cannot
affiliate with men who fight under the dark and piratical flag
of Abolitionism, and whose infernal altars smoke with the vile
incense of Northern fanaticism!”® The Southern Methodist
Church was then doing “more for the souls and bodies of the
negro race; than all the Wendell Phillipses, Josh Giddingses,
Horace Greelys, Ward Beechers, Loyd [sic] Garrisons, Theo-
dore Parkers, Madam Stowes, and other freedom-shriekers, now
out of the infernal regions!”** No Abolitionists merited a place
in Heaven, and if the Parson should ever discover any of them
there he would be forced to conclude that “they have entered

“ Ibid., pp. 98-99.

“® Ibid., p. 101.

 Ibid., pp. 99-100, 166.
" Ibid., p. AL

2 Ibid., p. 39.
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that world of joy, by practicing a gross fraud upon the door-
keeper {7’52

The Abolitionists were continually shouting freedom for the
slaves, as if such a condition would be helpful. The free Negroes
already in existence were horribly treated in the North, and
those in the South found no possible position in which to live,
economical or otherwise. With few exceptions the slaves were
kindly treated by their masters. “Cruelty, starvation, and naked-
ness,” declared Brownlow, “does not exist in the South, but in
the disordered imaginations of Abolition preachers, travellers,
and slanderers, who pass hurriedly through the South, getting
up materials for book-making.””® In fact, “In our cotton-grow-
ing States, our hardest task-masters are Northern men, by birth
and education ”® The Parson was convinced that if given their
freedom, one-half of the slaves in East Tennessee would refuse
it.%¢ Furthermore, the Negroes were an inferior race, and only
ignorant and bigoted Abolitionists argued otherwise. Psycholo-
gists had determined that Africans at maturity did not have
brains equal to Caucasians at birth, and other scientists had
found that a dark skin was a mark of degencracy.”

So excellent an institution was slavery that the United States
was under obligation to civilization and to Christianity to carry
it to other parts of the world. The Parson would not waste time
in minor filibustering expeditions to Cuba and to Central Amer-

ica. Rather he would become an imperialist in the grandest pro-
portions. He would seize Africa and develop it—a vision which
the imperialists of Europe did not catch for almost a quarter of
a century. Africa was vast and rich, and the Negroes there had
forfeited any further claim to it. “Let us seize upon the vast
territory of Africa,” pleaded the Parson, “cultivate its rich
soil, and force its millions of indolent, degraded, and starving
natives, to labor, and thereby elevate themselves to the dignity of

® Ibid., p. 41.

™ Ibid., p. 80.

® Ibid., p. 94.

“ Ibid., p. 98.

* Ibid., pp. 218-14. The discovery had been made that a certain tribe of Jews
who had inbred became darker.
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men made in the image of God!” Such a move would accomplish
more in Christianizing the Negroes than all the efforts of all
the missionaries America could send. According to the Parson
“God looks to the people of the United States to develop the re-
sources of Africa, and I honestly believe he requires us to do
that work™s®

Brownlow found the Abolitionists detestable from every an-
gle. “What an unmitigated generation of hypocrites! They stole
and sold into perpetual bondage, a race of human beings it was
not profitable to keep, and for whom they now, like so many
graceless pirates, refuse all warranty. And what few American
ships are in the trade now, at the peril of piracy, are New Eng-
land ships.” He believed these craft were “owned and manned
by the hypocritical freedom-shriekers of the Northern States,
who desire to recover the several sums of money they have con-
tributed, under excitement, to aid the cause of ‘bleeding Kan-
sas" 9959

The Abolitionists were despicable cowards. Pryne had said
that the slave-owners slept with pistols under their pillows
through fear of a slave uprising. At least the slaves would fight,
declared the Parson, which was more than the Abolitionists would
do. “If none but blue-bellied Yankees and unmitigated North-
ern Abolitionists come down upon us, we shall sleep with nothing
more terrific under our pillows than spike-gimblets!”%® Pryne was
almost as radical as John Brown, and he bespoke it before John
Brown had acted his part in the drama. Pryne declared, “I
would far rather contribute Sharp’s rifles, pistols, and bayonets
—1in order that the negro might be defended in possessing his
freedom on our own soil, and living among us, where he has a
right to live.”® Brownlow charged that such agitation would
break up the Union, for the South could not exist in such a
situation. Pryne gave the answer characteristic of the extreme
Abolitionists: “What if the agitation should drive the Southern

% Ibid., pp. 252-54.
* Ibid., pp. 33-31.
® Ibid., p. 109.
* Ibid., p. 191.
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States out of the Union? Who cares? Not I.” If forced to a choice
between Union and abolition, he would choose the latter.®
Brownlow sincerely loved the Union and he had always glori-
fied it. He, therefore, hated the Abolitionists the more for im-
perilling it. He believed that they were actually bent on break-
ing it up. But he would not be tricked by them, for he understood
their low purposes. He gave the warning: “But we of the South
mtend to fight you in the Union, not out of it! And when your
blue-bellied Y ankees come South, with ‘Sharp’s rifles and Holy
Bibles,’ to seize upon our slaves, let me say to you, that they will
not find themselves in Kansas!”* Brownlow assumed the Union
position in the debate, and commented on the fact that Pryne
had said nothing in favor of the glorious government. In his con-
cluding speech, for the special benefit of Pryne, the Parson ded-
icated to the Union this apostrophe:

Who can estimate the value of the American Union? Proud,
happy, thrice happy America!” the home of the oppressed! the
asylum of the emigrant; where the citizen of every clime, and the
child of every creed, rcams free and untrammelled as the wild winds
of heaven! Baptized at the fount of Liberty, in fire and blood,
cold must be the heart that thrills not at the name of the American
Union 1%

Pryne sought to hold the debate as close as possible to a strict
discussion of slavery. He side-stepped somewhat the Parson’s
Biblical arguments, and was soon off into a metaphysical dis-
section of the Constitution of the United States to show that
slavery was not protected by that document. Pryne declared that
the Declaration of Independence had abolished slavery, and it
was only natural for him to continue with this species of logic
to prove that the Constitution of all American law rested on the
Declaration. And even if the Declaration of Independence had
not by inference abolished slavery through the Constitution,
there was the fact that the Constitution directly abolished it,
for according to the preamble a more perfect union was to be

% Ibid., p. 230.
® Ibid., p. 271.
® Ibid., p. 272.
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set up and justice was to be guaranteed. But how, inquired
Pryne, can these things be with slavery—especially if the Aboli-
tionists declared that they would break up the Union if slavery
were not abolished 7%

It would have been difficult for a Southerner and a Northern-
er in the 1850’s to hold a debate over slavery without running
off into a great deal of sectional arguments. Brownlow seized
the initiative by devoting a whole evening to proving how crim-
inal and undesirable Northerners were. He examined the latest re-
ports of the penitentiaries in most of the Southern States and
determined that most of the felons there incarcerated were of
Northern birth, and by a similar examination of the reports of
Northern penitentiaries he found that few of the criminals had
been born in the South, “unless it be a villainous negro the
Abolitionists have stolen from us, and then sent to prison to get
rid of him!” He also discovered that the North had more bank
failures, more deserters from the United States Army, and more
mulattoes, while the South had a greater per capita wealth.
Northerners were drifting into “Free Lovers, Free Soilers,
Abolitionists, Spiritualists, Trance Mediums, Bible Repudiat-
ors, and representatives of every crazy other ism known to the
annals of Bedlam.” To Brownlow they were an extremely un-
attractive people, who outraged completely the old conservative
principles of morality and homely virtues which still held sway
in the South.®®

Pryne searched Helper’s Impending Crisis for information
to prove that the South was far behind the North in wealth and
progress of every kind. Just as Brownlow held that slavery was
the secret of the South’s superiority over the North, Pryne now
held the same institution responsible for the very reverse. In
answer to Brownlow’s charges of criminality against Northern-
ers, Pryne declared that the South’s 250,000 slaveholders were
the greatest criminals of the age. He determined that the South
was $12,000,000,000 poorer on account of slavery, at which he
exclaimed,

% Ibid., pp. 67-72.
% Ibid., pp. 142-70.
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What a sum to sink into the fathomless maw of such a monster
crime! all for the purpose of allowing 250,000 slaveholders to
lord it over their negroes, keep race-horses, and vary the amuse-
ments of gambling, fighting, and drinking, by an occasional dash
into politics, to play the game of Southern statesmanship, and,
when weary of that, to astonish the waiters and attachées of North-
ern hotels by blustering about Northern watering-places.®

Before the debate had been finished Brownlow developed into
almost a perfect champion of the Southern position in the sec-
tional dispute. An aristocrat with a thousand slaves could not
have stated his own attitude better. Brownlow referred to John
C. Calhoun as “that great and towering intellect, and tried
patriot, . . . who literally died in Southern harness, battling for
the rights of the South, under the Constitution.”®® He sang the
familiar praises of Southern wealth and Southern might, with
as flawless notes as J. D. B. De Bow or a hundred other South-
ern patriots would have used. The South could take care of her-
self—she was “throughout her whole extent, by the act of God,
in contact with the commercial world.”® “At any time, upon
short notice, the South can raise, equip, and maintain in the field
a larger force than any power on earth can send against her,”
the Parson proudly stated.” The South had both wealth and
rights, “And these rights,” he declared, “we intend to enjoy, or
to a man we will die, strung along Mason and Dixon’s line,
with our faces looking North " He then put forth his best effort
on this panegyric of the South:

Yes, gentlemen, ours is the land of chivalry, the land of the
muse, the abode of statesmen, the home of oratory, the dwelling-
place of the historian, and of the hero; the scenes of classic recol-
lections and of hallowed associations lie south of Mason and Dixon’s
Line; and when the South is prostrated (which God in his mercy
never intends), the genius of the world will weep amid the ruins
of the only true Republic ever known to civilized man ™

Having finished his task, self-imposed, of going five hundred
miles to defend at his own expense and with great vehemence
the very soul of the South of which he was not a part, the

 Ibid., pp. 113-95. * Ibid., p. 40. % Ibid., pp. 259-63.
™ Ibid., p. 265. ™ Ibid., p. 263.  Ibid., p. 271.
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Parson returned to his T'ennessee home to await, unknown to him,
the next great contest which was to be the greatest of his life
and of his country. Brownlow was neither a planter nor an aris-
tocrat, yet he had all of their prejudices personified only await-
ing their unloosening by the Abolitionists. Slavery played no
basic part in the economic life of the Southern Highlanders, but
it was absolutely fundamental in their mental complex. Two
more bitter personal and political enemies never lived in East
Tennessee than Brownlow and Andrew Johnson, yet these two
were one on the question of slavery. Slavery was the great com-
mon denominator among the Southern Highlanders. Johnson
declared that he would help carry on a war to exterminate the
Negroes if the North forcibly freed them. He stated what the
Southern Highlander as well as the Southern Lowlander felt,
when he said “If you liberate the Negro, what will be the next
step? ... What will we do with two million Negroes in our midst?
. . . Blood, rape and rapine will be our portion. You can’t get
rid of the Negro except by holding him in slavery.”™ Slavery
solved the race question, and so if there must be Negroes in his
midst the Southern mountaineer was just as eager to maintain
slavery for protection as the Southern planter was for profit.™
And there was no inconsistency in being for the Union and for
slavery at the same time, for only through the maintenance of
the Union, did it appear in the eyes of many people, that slavery
could be continued.” But if it should ever happen that the
slaves were freed, then they must either be exterminated, as
Andrew Johnson would have it, or they must be deported, a plan
which many of the mountaineers thought to be the best solution.™
“—R._V\TWinston, Andrew Johnson, Plebeian and Patriot, pp. 118-19, 134,

" For an admirable exposition of this thesis see U. B. Phillips, “The Central
Theme of Southern History,” dmerican Historical Review, vol. XXXI1V, no. 1
{October, 1928), pp. 30-43.

" Relief for East Tennessee. Address of Hon. N. Q. Taylor, pp. 27-28.

It must be kept in mind that there was a difference between disliking Ne-
groes and disliking slavery, The ante-bellum Highlander felt that if there must
be Negroes around, they should be slaves. Henry Clay, the patron saint of
Brownlow and of his East Tennessee followers, felt the same way; and Hinton
Rowan Helper, who knew that slavery was a great curse to the South, would
rather see the Negroes exterminated than have them remain in the South free.

The aversion of mountaineers to Negroes continues down to the present day,
and in some sections of the Southern Highlands Negroes are not tolerated.



CHAPTER VI
ANTE-BELLUM POLITICS

In inTrRODUCING himself to the North in 1862, the eccentric
Parson stated that he had always been, and still was, “quite a
politician,” though he had never been either an office-seeker or
an office-holder. It would have been an eccentricity beyond cre-
dulity had he not embraced the proud opportunities for dispu-
tation and combat offered him by American politics, and in the
face of facts to the contrary, it must be recorded against the
Fighting Parson that his memory served him very ill when he
rather boastfully said, “I have never been an office-seeker nor
an office-holder.” True enough, he never made office-seeking a
continuous occupation, and without a doubt, he had never been
able to induce people to vote for him in sufficient numbers to
gain an election, but the annals of ante-bellum politics have it
that after having fought for other people for a decade and
more he then sought spoils for himself, and that he failed.

As the Parson had a mind that ran on various tracks at the
same time, there was no reason why he should not be selecting
a political party about as early as he should join a church. He
did not make a study of theology before selecting his religious
denomination, neither did he enter into the mysteries of gov-
ernment before aligning himself with a political group. He hit
upon both rather accidentally, and in doing so he may have had
an experience different from most Americans. Yet he used no
less reason, for it requires no more mental effort to gain a posi-
tion by inheritance than to acquire one by accident. It is the
common practice to find reasons for an act already done rather
than to seek beforehand what it is best to do.

The Parson grew into political competency amidst shouts of
“Bargain and corruption,” “Put the rascals out,” “Hurrah
for Old Hickory Jackson,” and other expressions of equal de-
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cisiveness. It would seem that the leader of such a fight would
have immediately endeared himself to a person of Brownlow’s
characteristics, but perhaps it must remain one of the minor,
if not insignificant, mysteries of history why the Parson turned
so vehemently against Andrew Jackson. It might be best to leave
it as merely another reason why the Parson was eccentric. It
happens that Brownlow reached his majority in time to vote
first in the presidential election of 1828, and that he cast his
ballot for John Quincy Adams. The reasons which he recalled
thirty-four years later were that Adams “was a learned states-
man, of pure moral and private character, and because I re-
garded him as a FEDERALIST, representing my political
opinions.” Perhaps likes repel and unlikes attract in the
mental realm as they do in the physical world. Whatever the
cause, the Parson hated Old Hickory with stinging bitterness
and did not cease attacking him in his grave.

Those who opposed Jackson and his species of democracy
gradually drifted together and called themselves Whigs. They
all knew what they disliked, but they found great difficulty in
agreeing on anything to like. As Brownlow was a good hater,
he naturally belonged to this group. With the passing of time
the Whigs accumulated a stock in trade which they labelled
with their trade-mark, composed of such principles as federal
aid to internal improvements, a protective tariff, a strong cen-
tral bank, and a strengthening of the national government with,
at the same time, a debasing of the presidency. True to human
nature, the Parson set to work in his newspaper, which he always
called the Whig, to defend these Whig doctrines, for good
reasons if he could discover them, or for no reason at all. He
favored federal aid to internal improvements because it would
help East Tennessee to reach a market, and perhaps if Whig-
gery in this region had any reasoned cause for existing it must
have been due to this Whig principle. He fought valiantly for
the recharter of the Second United States Bank, because Jack-
son had opposed it and Clay had championed it. The common
man’s knowledge of the Bank did not extend beyond the limits

! Parson Brownlow’s Book, p. 19.
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of his prejudices, but he knew it was something about which it
was easy to raise a fight, so it was one of the principal issues
between the Democrats and Whigs in Tennessee. Brownlow was
sure that the foreign stockholders did not control the Bank
as the Democrats had argued, and when President Tyler vetoed
the Fiscal Corporation bill, Brownlow called him a “corrupt
traitor.”?

Whether Brownlow knew why he joined the Whig Party or
not, he spent the next twenty years informing himself and the
country on the reasons why people should be Whigs. He wasted
his first vote on John Quincy Adams in 1828; his vote for Clay
in 1832 failed to bring victory; in 1836 he supported the for-
lorn hope of the Whigs in the South by voting for Hugh White.
It began to seem that Brownlow had chosen to go through life
voting for people who could never be elected. But as the next
presidential election approached there were high expectations in
the Whig Party, for it seemed that the old adage was about to
come true, that it is an ill wind that blows no one good. The
Panic of 1837 must certainly sweep Van Buren and his Demo-
crats out of office, and plant the Whigs in power. The Whigs
now pushed aside Brownlow’s ideal, Clay, and put up William
Henry Harrison, because Clay had tried for the presidency
twice and had failed and furthermore he had not fought in the
battle of Tippecanoe. This action outraged Brownlow some-
what less than it did his ideal, and soon in the midst of coon-
skins, log cabins, and casks of hard cider he was the most en-
thusiastic Whig in America. He later declared, “I sung louder,
jumped higher, and fell flatter and harder than anybody else
in the whole state of Tennessee. I wrote upon log cabins, and
waved coon-skins and water-gourds high and low.”

The inauguration of the first Whig president was for the
Whigs as great an occasion as was the inauguration of Jackson
for the common man. True enough it was a smaller army that
invaded Washington, but among those who beat down upon the
city was Brownlow. After attending the inauguration, he in-

3 Brownlow, Political Register, pp. 29-49, 55-57.
2 Portrait and Biography, p. 29.
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dulged his mania for travelling by visiting New York City. But
rejoicing was soon turned into gloom, for Harrison was scarcely
well placed in office when he died. Brownlow grieved after the
fashion of having lost a close friend. And he added a rising
anger to his grief when it became evident that John Tyler, who
now became president, would continue to be what he had always
been — an old-fashioned Democrat who could not endure
Jacksonianism.

To win an office and then to be cheated out of it first by the
Grim Reaper and then by a Traitor was too great a strain on
Brownlow’s complacency. He heaped some of his choicest abuse
on John T'yler, and wrote a book against Jackson and the Demo-
crats. He called his book 4 Political Register Setting Forth the
Principles of the Whig and Locofoco Parties in the United
States, with the Life and Public Service of Henry Clay. The Par-
son as usual could not desist from including something about
himself, so he added to the title Also an Appendix Personal to
the Author, and a General Index. He wrote the book mostly in
1843, and he published it in his Jonesboro Whig office the next
year, in time to make it the opening gun in the campaign of
1844. That it might in part live up to its title of being a politi-
cal register, he inserted some statistics on the area of the states
and the votes in previous elections and lists of the presidents
and some of their cabinet members. But the main purpose was
to give “the phantom of Jacksonian democracy a skinning.”

The Parson now had ample provocation for entering the
fight with all the peculiar weapons he could command. The
Whigs must regain what an unkind fate had taken away from
them in 1841, and what could be more inspiring for Brownlow
and most others in the party than marching again under the
banner of Henry Clay! So enthusiastic did the Parson become
that he decided the next year to add to the furor by himself
running for Congress. But first he made haste to assault the
reputation of Andrew Jackson, before death, which was fast
approaching, could carry Old Hickory out of reach. Without
hesitation he pronounced the “elevation to the Presidency of this
wicked man and vulgar Hero” to be “the greatest curse that

8
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ever befell this great and growing Republic.”* Furthermore, “I
calculate that the victory of the eighth of January [the battle
of New Orleans] cost five hundred of millions of dollars, besides
the small expense of entailing upon the country a set of drivel-
lers whose folly has taken away all dignity from distress, and
made even calamity ridiculous.” So malignant was the Parson’s
detestation of Jackson that he followed him to the grave with
his abuse. In this wise did he inform the readers of the Jonesboro
Whig that Jackson was dead, “After a life of eighty long years
spent in the indulgence of the most bitter and vindictive pas-
sions, which disgrace human nature, and distract the human
mind the existence of ANDREW JACKSON terminated” near
Nashville. “We would not, if we could, turn aside the veil of the
future, to show his deluded followers and blind admirers, what
awaits him!”®

Brownlow had the Whig contempt for Democrats greatly
exaggerated. To him they were a “notorious band of political
robbers,” who went under various names in different parts of
the country. In New York, they were the “Locofocos”; in New
England they were known as “Pig-Ringers” and “Subter-
raneans”; “Butt-enders” was their name in Maryland; they
were “Wring necks” in Maine; in South Carolina they went
under the name of “State Rights Republican Nullifiers”; the
decent people in Ohio called them “The Entire Swine Party”;
in Virginia they were the “Republican Abstractionists”; in the
Middle West they were called the “Relief Law Party”; and
intelligent Tennesseeans called them “Barn-Burners,” “Wool-
Stealers,” and “Counterfeiters.”””

The Democrats were so slippery and ubiquitous that they
reminded the Parson of the stanza,

They wire in and wire out,
And leave a body still in doubt.
Whether the snake that made the track;
Was going South or coming back.?

¢ Brownlow, Political Register, p. 9.

s Ibid., p. 63.

*June 18, 1845,
" Brownlow, Political Register, pp. 13, 125. 8Ibid., p. 129.
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All Democrats were bad; John Cataline Calhoun was the
Parson’s way of referring to the great South Carolinian; all
were disgusting, even eating with Negroes and going to their
dances. In the eyes of the Parson, the whole world was sick, and
the Democrats were the cause. “Every government in the civil-
ized world is at present tottering,” he declared, and mob violence
had broken out in most of the states of the American Union
and in the great cities.” Now was the time for action, when a
man like Henry Clay was leading. Should the people sit and
see the country go to ruin, asked Brownlow, “while the political
quacks of the country, like the Madagascar Bat fan us to
sleep with the wide spread wings of ‘free trade and sailors
rights,” at the same time literally sucking us to death.”*® Wages
were low, prices were ruinous, people were starving, and the Dem-
ocrats had brought it all about by the low tariff. The only remedy
that would restore prosperity was Clay’s American System.
Not only had the Democrats given the country hard times, but
they had also piled up a huge national debt."

There was just one point on which Brownlow found himself
standing with the Democrats; he favored the national bank-
ruptcy law which the Whigs had recently repealed. He had
no desire to take advantage of such a law to escape his debts,
most of which had come by his going on surety bonds for his
friends, in doing which he was following Biblical precedent. He
declared that the fifteenth chapter of Deuteronomy contained
the ancient Jewish bankruptcy law and differed from the late
law of Congress only in phraseology. He also found another
bankruptcy law recorded in the Lord’s Prayer.'?

The Texas question, on which the election of 1844 really
turned, seemed to bother the Parson very little. Perhaps he
was wise enough to see Clay’s predicament as the latter became
more involved in explaining his position, and, therefore, he de-
cided not to make Clay’s labors harder by enlarging the discus-
sion. In fact, Brownlow’s unbounded idolatry of Clay became

°Ibid  pp. 9, 173; Joneshoro Whig, Decemebr 4, 1844.
' Brownlow, Political Register, p. 120.

™ Ibid., pp. 50, 58-66.

* Brownlow, Political Register, pp. 146-48.
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as intense as ever his hatred waxed against his most detested
enemy. The “bargain and corruption” charges which pestered
Clay throughout his life enraged Brownlow. He declared that he
had the proof of their falsity and that anyone who should read
it and not be convinced “we hesitate not to pronounce a VIL-
LAIN, in the most extensive meaning of the epithet.”!® Two
years before the election Brownlow began the movement for
Clay, proclaiming, “For the Presidency, in 1844, we have de-
clared for HENRY CLAY w»s. THE WORLD.”"* The next
year he paid tribute to his hero by writing his life which made up
81 pages in his so-called Political Register. He attended the
Whig National Convention in Baltimore and helped to nomi-
nate his “Harry.” In the campaign he rode the circuit for Clay
with as much fervor as he ever displayed when he rode it for
the Lord. He was in Raleigh, North Carolina, when Clay made
his famous speech there, and he imitated his hero by speaking
also. This speech the Raleigh Standard declared to be “smutty,
ultra, insulting and blasphemous.”*®

There was almost unbounded hope and expectation among
the greater part of the Whigs that Clay would be successful,
so when the sad intelligence of his defeat reached Brownlow, he
wept. According to his son, John Bell Brownlow, the Parson
was never known through his long life to have given way to his
emotions in such a fashion except once, when a near relative
had died. The Parson sobbed, “Heaven spare our friends the
bitter pang we feel in announcing this horrible intelligence,” and
with all the reverence at his command he printed in his Whig a
live coon upside down—so unexpected was the defeat that
he had never dreamed he would need a dead coon with which to
illustrate the election news.®

Brownlow had made much use of Whig coons in his journal-
istic activities, but never before had he been inclined to feel
that the old coon had died. Only a few years previously in an-
nouncing a Whig victory in Tennessee politics, he represented

B Ibid., p. 815.

M Jonesboro Whig, May 18, 1842.

8 Ibid., February 28, May 1, 1844 ; Brownlow, Political Regrster p. 205.
1 Jtmeaboro Whig, November 20, 1844.
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the Whig coon destroying the Democratic rooster, adding the
explanation, “The Coon in Tennessee, has covered himself with
glory, and a portion of that imperishable renown, he is about
to impart to the Dominecker of Locofocoism.”*” The Parson
naturally took much interest in state politics, and when in 1842
after the Whigs had captured the legislature, thirteen Demo-
cratic senators by obstructive tactics prevented the election of
the United States senator, he bitterly attacked them and pub-
lished their names under the heading, “Thirteen Black
Knights.”8

The defeat of Clay for the presidency was immeasurably a
greater calamity to Brownlow than his own failure of election
to Congress the next year. In his own campaign he obtained what
was after all dearest to his heart, for he had an opportunity to
assault throughout East Tennessee the character and reputa-
tion of his bitterest political enemy, Andrew Johnson. That
Johnson was a Democrat was sufficient in Brownlow’s eyes to
brand him a traitor to the best interests of his country. That
he was a rival for the leadership of East Tennesseeans was
further provocation. Before the campaign was over, employing
the sort of abuse that he liked best to administer, Brownlow
declared Johnson to be an atheist, a coward, and a bastard.!® But
as Johnson was more reasoned in his political methods and was
more ambitious for political preferment, he won in 1845 and
many times thereafter. A personal and political feud already
bitter was now made devastating, and disaster to either one or
to both was prevented only by Brownlow and Johnson never
speaking to each other again until the Civil War.

There was yet another chance for Clay, Brownlow thought.
So a year before the party should make the nomination, he
began running in his Whig the name of Clay for president and
“0ld Rough and Ready” Taylor for vice-president.?* But the
manipulators in the Whig Party were not taking orders or ad-
vice from Brownlow ; they nominated Taylor for president and

1 Brownlow, Political Register, p. 203.

 Ibid., pp. 138-45.

* Winston, op. cit., pp. 42, 50, 63-65. Johnson won by about 1,300 majority.
® For instance, Jonesboro Whig, May 26, 1847.
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Millard Fillmore for vice-president. Clay felt the sting of trait-
orous friends almost as keenly as he did in 1840, while Brownlow
was angered beyond repair. With sorrow and revenge he took
down the name of Clay, but he refused to raise the Taylor
banner. If he could not support Clay, he would support no one.
On November 1, he informed the people what he proposed
to do. He would vote for the regular Whig electors and he would
do something just as constitutional as what the Whig National
Convention had done: He would instruct the electors to vote for
Clay for president and John Morehead of North Carolina for
vice-president, by writing their names on his ballot. He had now
respected his conscience, but his reason seemed to tell him that
in so doing he might be throwing away his vote. So thorough a
Whig was the Parson that he advised no other Whig to vote
in this method, and in addition he promised to convert two Demo-
crats to regular Whiggery.*

Satanic luck seemed always to follow the Whigs when they
succeeded in capturing the presidency. President Taylor did
not survive his inauguration long. He was succeeded by Fillmore,
who lived long enough to win the approval of the Parson. The
troublesome problems growing out of the Mexican War were
leading many Southerners to talk of disunion. Brownlow agreed
with them on the slavery question, but he let it be known that
he would follow no one out of the Union. Naturally he opposed
the Nashville Convention of 1850, and if for no other reason
than Clay’s part in it he supported the so-called Compromise
of 1850. The next year he showed his love for the Union by
sarcastically referring to South Carolina’s enthusiastic observ-
ance of the Fourth of July as likely being due to her threat
that this would be the last Fourth which would find her in the
“meshes of this accursed Confederacy.”*

Brownlow like Clay was beginning to despair of the Whig
Party ever making the proper nomination for the presidency.
It had never named the Great Commoner when the Whigs could
win, and at other times it had merely sacrificed him. The Parson

# Ibid., August 30, November 1, 1848. Brownlow attended the inauguration,

met Taylor, and marked him down as lacking vehemence.
2 Knoxville Whig, July 5, 1851.
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looked upon the haggard countenance of Clay and feared that
he would not live to be proposed again, in 1852. In June of this
year, the famous Kentuckian died, and Brownlow lost the only
man he had ever idealized and loyally followed. He declared
that ““the territories of the dead on the continent of America,
never were honored with richer spoils.””®® The Parson’s feelings
toward Clay show that he could love an ideal as tenderly as he
could bitterly hate an enemy.

With Clay gone, Brownlow decided upon Fillmore as his
choice for the presidency, but again the Whig National Con-
vention disappointed and displeased the Parson by nominating
Winfield Scott. He especially opposed this choice because he
claimed Scott was a Northern candidate put forth by sixty-six
Abolitionists and that his election would mean the overthrow of
slavery and the beginning of sectional strife. But Brewnlow
had no strong convictions on giving Fillmore a second term;
he was still longing for Clay. He later said that he “would have
willingly voted for Clay’s last pair of pantaloons, stuffed with
straw !” He never forgot Clay. While in New York City during
the Civil War, he facetiously declared that he intended to have
a national convention called to nominate the last suit of clothes
worn by Clay.**

The Whig National Convention might want Winfield Scott
and William A. Graham, of North Carolina, for president and
vice-president, but the Parson preferred Daniel Webster and
Charles J. Jenkins, of Georgia. But the grim old joker, Death,
came in on the 24th of October and robbed the Parson of Web-
ster. Not to be outdone even by Fate, the Parson together with
tens of thousands of other Americans, voted for the great Massa-
chusetts leader in his grave.”®

® Ibid., July 3, 1852.

% Portrait and Biography, p. 69; Knozville Whig, October 23, 1852, The chief
reason for Brownlow’s preferring Fillmore rests on the fact that at the very
end of his term, Fillmore appointed the Parson on a commission to improve navi-
gation on the river between Knoxville and Chattanooga. When Pierce became
president, he filled the commission with Democrats, and according to the Parson,

nothing was accomplished and no one received any pay. See V. M. Queener, op.

cit., p. T4
= Ought American Slavery to be Perpetuated, p. 42; Knozville Whig, October

23, 1852.



120 WILLIAM G. BROWNLOW

During the late 1840’s and the early 1850’s, Brownlow busied
himself with the temperance movement, but not to the extent
of deserting the Whigs and joining it as a political party. The
temperance leaders generally took control of the Fourth of July
celebrations with the hope of gaining converts through guile,
but on such oceasions the amount of liquor was almost certain
to destroy the effects of all temperance propaganda. Speaking
of the celebration in 1848 at Jonesboro, Brownlow declared
that there was “liquor enough in our houses to counteract the
influence of any Temperance address that can be made here.”*®
He wrote voluminously for temperance and made many speeches
for it, but he never accepted money for his services. For a time he
was one of the editors of the Sons of Temperance, a semi-month-
ly published in Knoxville.??

Andrew Johnson’s continued political activities in Tennessee
appeared to the Parson to be particularly pernicious, both to
him personally and to the state. After serving in Congress for
ten years, Johnson became governor of Tennessee in 1853 and
again in 1855. As these successes were entirely too regular to
please Brownlow, he never ceased attacking Johnson. It was
an outrage that Tennessee could not elect a religious man to be
her ruler, and it was equally disastrous that she must have an
Abolitionist. Brownlow claimed that Johnson had voted for
the Wilmot Proviso, and as further proof of his anti-slavery pro-
clivities, he cited Johnson’s attempt to have the Negroes left
out of the count in determining population for state purposes.
This, Brownlow held, was a direct thrust at the large slave-
holders, and represented an attempt to array class against
class.®®

In 1855 the Whigs made a desperate attempt to defeat John-
son for the governorship. They nominated Meredith P. Gentry
to bring success, but Gentry soon turned out to be too dignified
in his campaign methods to please Brownlow. The Parson head-
ed a committee which went to Gentry to inform him that East
Tennessee was not accustomed to gloved methods in political

® Jonesboro Whig, July 5, 1848; Knoxville Whig, July 5, 1851,

2 Ibid., December 28, 1850; February 21, March 29, 1852,
# Brownlow, Americanism Contrasted with Forcignism, pp. 22-24.
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campaigns. They demanded that Johnson be dragged out into
the open and that all of his terrible sins both private and public
be exposed. Gentry’s refusal to make such a campaign did not
lessen Brownlow’s insistence.?®

To Brownlow the campaign against Johnson was perpetual;
the mere fact that he had been reélected in 1855 only intensi-
fied the fight that must be continued against him. So vitriolic
had been Brownlow’s attacks on Johnson that a mob surrounded
the Parson’s home in Knoxville after the election, jeering and
groaning against him, and singing songs for his benefit.?* That
an atheist even if he were governor of Tennessee, should issue
a Thanksgiving Proclamation recounting the mercies of the
Lord and calling for more seemed to Brownlow an intolerable
usurpation of power. There must be a rebuttal to such impu-
dence, so he inserted in his Knoaville Whig a long prayer against
Johnson, begging the Lord to forgive Tennessee for her great
sin in electing him governor. He called upon the churches to use
this prayer in their services.?’ The Parson felt quite sure that
in a contest with Johnson for the affections of the Lord he could
easily win.

He both prayed and preached against Johnson and used
every occasion to villify him. On October 9, 1856, he spoke to an
immense crowd in the public square in Nashville, almost under
the window of the Governor, and assaulted Johnson in the most
pronounced fashion. He declared, “I therefore pronounce your
Governor, here upon his own dunghill, an UNMITIGATED
LIAR AND CALUMNIATOR, and a VILLAINOUS COW-
ARD.” Continuing he said, “He is a member of a numerous
family of Johnsons, in North Carolina, who are generally
THIEVES and LIARS; and though he is the best one of the
family T have ever met with, I unhesitatingly affirm, tonight,
that there are better men than Andrew Johnson in our Peni-
tentiary.”®* More than a dozen years previously he had pub-

® Temple, op. cit., p. 287.

* Brownlow, Americanism Contrasted with Foreignism, p. 66.

* December 1, 1855; Brownlow, dmericanism Contrasted with Foreignism,
p. 75.

* Ibid., pp. 66, 1.
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lished in the Jonesboro Whig Johnson’s pedigree, accompanied
by a cut of a man hanging on the gallows, who ought to have
been Andrew Johnson but who happened to be a first cousin.®®

Johnson was an atheist, according to the Parson, and he was
wise enough to belong to a political party which was fast be-
coming the tool of the Pope of all the Roman Catholics. Back in
the 1830’s Brownlow saw on the horizon a small cloud no larger
than a man’s hand, but to him it looked threatening. It was the
cloud of Catholicism, against which the people must quickly
be warned. In 1834 in his Helps to the Study of Presbyterian-
ism he had raised storm signals, and five years later when he
set up his Whig at Elizabethton he raised them still higher.
He ran a series of articles during 1839 and 1840 warning the peo-
ple against Catholics. Again in his Political Register, in 1843,
he called upon the people to give heed.?*

The great danger to America was to be seen in this Demo-
cratic alliance with the Pope. Had not Martin Van Buren, as
Secretary of State, in 1830, written a letter to the Pope in
which he had called him “Holy Father”?* The Catholics were
fast dominating all Europe and now they were seeking through
the Democratic Party to seize America. Should we aid those
“feeding us and our children, upon latin masses and wafer
gods?’% The Democrats were already carrying crosses in their
processions. They were preaching that Christianity and De-
mocracy were the same; they would unite church and state. Not
only were the Democrats embracing the un-American Catholics,
they were also absorbing such other monstrosities as the Mor-
mons and the Millerites. And there were certain Democratic
“clerical stump-orators” who were so blind as not to see all these
things.3” The Parson was not afraid to speak out, even to inter-
rupt a prayer if necessary, as actually happened in the cam-
paign of 1840. “Old Father Aiken,” a Democratic Methodist,
entered into an agreement with Brownlow at a camp-meeting
"= March 29, 1842.

3 Brownlow, Political Register, pp. 75-119.

® Ibid., pp. 75, 109-10,

* Ibid., pp. T5-119.

¥ Tennessee Whig, September 19, 26, 1839; Jonesboro Whig, December 14,
1842,
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that the former should pray and the latter preach. In the midst
of his prayer, “Old Father Aiken” suddenly overcome by his
love for the Democratic Party cried out “Lord, deliver us from
Whiggery!” Brownlow quickly interrupted, “God forbid,”
whereupon “Old Father Aiken” left praying long enough to
exclaim, “Billy, keep still when I am praying.”®

All down through the 1840’s and 1850’s Brownlow was issu-
ing warnings against the Catholics and calling attention to
their alliance with the Democrats. In 1846 he offered a reward
of $20 to anyone who would tell him how much President Polk
and his officeholders had given to the new Catholic Church in
Washington. He would give an additional $10 if it fell under
$1,000.%° In 1856 there was to be another presidential election.
The small cloud no bigger than a man’s hand which the Parson
had spied a quarter of a century earlier, had now almost overcast
the sky. There could be no doubt that if the growing numbers
of Catholics in this country portended evil, then the Parson’s
cloud was positively threatening. In 1830 there had been only
600,000 ; twenty years later the number had jumped to 3,500,-
000;* and by 1856 there were likely 4,000,000. The influx of
the Irish and Germans had contributed much to this growth.
To Brownlow’s way of thinking, foreigners were bad enough,
but to be Catholics in addition was intolerable. Something must
be done about it. As the old Whig Party had been disrupted in
1854 by the Kansas-Nebraska Law, there was now an excellent
chance to organize a new party out of the old Whigs and turn
it against the foreigners and Catholics. In the 1830’s the Native
American Party had been organized for this very purpose, but
it had died out by the end of the 1840’s, and in 1850 its germ
of life passed over into the Order of the Star Spangled Banner.
This new order soon developed into the so-called Know-Nothing
Party, and it was into this secret group that many of the old
Whigs entered. As the Democrats decried this proscription of
the newcomers, Brownlow might truthfully say that Catholic
Irishmen were voting the Democratic ticket.

—;”—I:-I;Etryker, Andrew Johnson, p. 10,

» Knoaville Whig, July 1, 1846.
®W. W. Sweet, The Story of Religions in America, p. 395.
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While the country was organizing a party against the Catho-
lics the Parson was writing a book against them. In 1856 he
brought it out and called it Americanism Contrasted with
Foreignism, Romanism, and Bogus Democracy, in the Light of
Reason, History, and Scripture; in which Certain Demagogues
of Tennessee, and Elsewhere, are Shown up in their true Colors.
He dedicated his book to the Young Men of America and called
upon them to save the country from the greatest dangers that had
beset civil and religious liberties in America since the Revolu-
tion. No argument was ever complete with the Parson until
he had summed up the figures against the enemy. Now would
he expose the Catholics through the simple rules of arithmetic.
He determined from history that the Catholics had killed 68,-
000,000 human beings “for no other offense than that of being
Protestants.” If one were to “average each person slain at four
gallons of blood, . . . it makes TWO HUNDRED AND SEV-
ENTY-TWO MILLIONS OF GALLONS !—enough to over-
flow the banks of the Mississippi, and destroy all the cotton and
sugar plantations in Mississippi and Louisiana !”*!

The methods by which this blood-letting had been carried
on, the Parson illustrated by various cuts throughout the book,
with such titles as “Roman Cruelties of the Inquisition—The
Rack,” “Burning of Bradford, Ridley, Latimer, Philpot, and
Others; and the Holy Bible!” “Horrible Cruelties Inflicted by
the Catholics on the Protestants in Ireland, in 1641,” and “Hor-
rible Cruelties by Catholics.” These scenes represented the kind
of people the Democrats were embracing, and he was sorry to
see otherwise good Methodist ministers following along. He
declared that the title of Augustus B. Longstreet, a Democratic
Methodist minister, now president of the University of Mis-
sissippi, should read “Professor of Methodism, Romanism, and
Locofocism.”*?

By the end of 1854 Brownlow was promoting the Know-
Nothings with all of his might. It mattered not to him that
Catholics and foreigners were almost non-existent in East Ten-

“ Brownlow, Americanism Contrasted with Foreignism, pp. 56-57.
*# Ibid., pp. 25-36.
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nessee. As long as there were any in the United States, and as:
long as he was convinced that the charges made against them
were true, he would have them crushed. He set aside a column in
his Whig for his new party and transformed his Whig coon
into a Know-Nothing coon.*® He became a member of the Na-
tional Council and attended the National Convention of the
Know-Nothings in Philadelphia in 1856.** Two weeks after the
Whig defeat in 1852, Brownlow ran up the name of Fillmore
for the nomination in 1856.*® With the break-up of the Whigs
and the rise of the Know-Nothings, he switched over to John
Bell, of Tennessee, for president, but by the beginning of 1856
he had switched back to Fillmore. At this time he wrote Bell
that he was for Fillmore first and then for Bell.*®* When the con-
vention met, Brownlow for once saw his choice for nominations
confirmed. Fillmore was nominated for president and Andrew
Jackson Donelson for vice- president " Indeed had the Parson
travelled a long distance when, in order to support to the fullest
a namesake of Andrew Jackson, he should heap full praise on
“Old Hickory” and discover that he had had Know-Nothing
principles in their pristine vigor.*® Many Southerners joined the
Know-Nothings in an attempt to lay the Banquo ghost of slav-
ery, and others like Brownlow joined hecause they could never
degrade their pride to the level of becoming Democrats, and
too, because the Know-Nothings offered some objects on which
it was easy to muster up a full-sized amount of native hatred.
But the Know-Nothings were forced in the North to divide the
opposition to the Democrats with a new crusading party called
the Republicans. As a result Brownlow saw Fillmore defeated,
but he rejoiced at the victory of Buchanan over the Black Re-
publican candidate John C. Frémont.

Politics offered quite a problem for Brownlow for the next
four years, but there were a few points that he always kept
straight. He knew that he continued to love the Union and that

“ Knoxville Whig, December 2, 1854,

“ Brownlow, Americanism Contrasted with Foreignism, pp. 14, 86.
® Knoxville Whig, November 13, 1852, January 20, 1855.

* John Bell MSS. Letter dated January 15, 1856.

" Knowville Whig, January 26, March 15, 1856, “ Ibid.
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he hated as much as ever the Democrats and the Abolitionists.
With the shrivelling up of the Know-Nothing movement, there
was the question as to where he should go next, but he knew it
would not be to the Democrats. In 1859 he said, “With the
Democratic party, we never can act, even in a conflict between
them and the Devil. We would as soon be engaged in importing
the plague from the East, as in promoting the principles and
policy of the party calling themselves DEMOCRATS.”*® Ac-
cording to Brownlow the Democratic Party was still the refuge
of the “unwashed and uncombed Foreigners,” who were all Abo-
litionists.5°

His hatred of the Democrats did not mean that he considered
himself less Southern or that he liked the North better. John
Brown’s crazy scheme enflamed Brownlow as completely as if
he had been the owner of a plantation of ten thousand acres and
a thousand slaves. He declared that Brown was a vile creature
and that Pryne, whom Brownlow had debated a few years previ-
ously in Philadelphia, was even worse. He wrote an open letter
to Pryne in which he said, “Had you, as a ‘Preacher of Right-
eousness’ exhorted the old scoundrel, and his villainous boys,
to repentance and faith, they might have become religious, in-
stead of dying in this disgraceful act of rebellion and going to
Hell, as they doubtless have done. Shame on you, you vile hyp-
ocrite.”® Thereafter for a season Brownlow pelted Pryne with
a series of open letters. He believed activities like John Brown
raids were the conscious efforts of people in the North to break
up the Union. He felt that Northern people were mostly alike
and should be looked upon with suspicion. In 1853, when a Mr.
Wheeler of Vermont was elected president of the University of
East Tennessee, Brownlow declared that the patrons of the Uni-
versity did not want their sons placed under a man “who has en-
countered the snows and chills of SIXTY winters, in the notori-
ous Free Soil State of Vermont.”*

“Bleeding Kansas,” Brooks’ assault on Sumner, and riots

* Knowville Tri-Weekly Whig, August 4, 1859,
% Ibid., February 24, 1859.

5t Ibid., October 27, 1859.

5 Knowville Whig, July 30, 1858.



ANTE-BELLUM POLITICS 127
over attempts to rescue runaway slaves tore the North and the
South still further apart. The principal churches had long ago
parted company between their Northern and Southern mem-
bership. The Whig Party had disappeared, and the sectional
Republican Party had arisen to contest the control of the nation.
What a gloomy outlook for those who loved the Union so thor-
oughly as did Brownlow! Any one who would deliberately en-
danger the Union further was worse than a traitor. And so when
the Democrats took up the months of April, May, and June of
1860 to split into two parties, Brownlow concluded that the
perpetrators of this deed deserved a fate worse than eternal
damnation. Douglas, of the Northern wing, was no appealing
figure to the Parson, and Breckinridge, of the Southern wing,
was even much less so. Brownlow supported John Bell and Ed-
ward Everett. He went to the National Convention of that group
of people who said they stood for the Constitution and the Union,
and he saw these two men nominated.”® He now had a party to
support as well as three to condemn, for the Republicans under
Abraham Lincoln were as bad as the Democrats.

But there seemed to be some question in the mind of a certain
Jordan Clark, of Arkansas, as to whether the Parson might
not soon come out and join the Democrats. At least he thought
there might be no harm in dropping the Parson a note to inquire
if the rumor were true and when the happy event would be an-
nounced. For this inquisitiveness and his pains Jordan Clark
got addressed to himself one of Parson Brownlow’s most cele-
brated phillipics. Brownlow wrote him on August 6, 1860:

1 have your letter of the 30th ult., and hasten to let you know
the precise time when I expect to come out and formally announce
that I have joined the Democratic party. When the sun shines at
midnight and the moon at mid-day ; when man forgets to be selfish,
or Democrats lose their inclination to steal; when nature stops
her onward march to rest, or all the water-courses in America flow
up stream; when flowers lose their odor, and trees shed no leaves;
when birds talk, and beasts of burden laugh; when damned spirits
swap hell for heaven with the angels of light, and pay them the boot

® Ibid., May 26, 1860.
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in mean whiskey ; when impossibilities are in fashion, and no propo-
sition is too absurd to be believed,—you may credit the report that
I have joined the Democrats!

1 join the Democrats! Never, so long as there are sects in church-
es, weeds in gardens, fleas in hog-pens, dirt in victuals, disputes in
families, wars with nations, water in the ocean, bad men in Ameri-
ca, or base women in France! No, Jordan Clark, you may hope,
you may congratulate, you may reason, you may sneer, but that
cannot be. The thrones of the Old World, the courts of the universe,
the governments of the world, may all fall and crumble into ruin,—
the New World may commit the national suicide of dissolving this
Union,—but all this, and more, must occur before I join the Democ-
racy!

I join the Democracy! Jordan Clark, you know not what you
say. When I join the Democracy, the Pope of Rome will join the
Methodist Church. When Jordan Clark, of Arkansas, is President
of the Republic of Great Britain by the universal suffrage of a
contented people, when Queen Victoria consents to be divorced
from Prince Albert by a county court in Kansas; when Congress
obliges, by law, James Buchanan to marry a European princess;
when the Pope leases the Capitol at Washington for his city resi-
dence; when Alexander of Russia and Napoleon of France are
elected Senators in Congress from New Mexico; when good men
cease to go to heaven, or bad men to hell ; when this world is turned
upside down ; when proof is afforded, both clear and unquestion-
able, that there is no God ; when men turn to ants, and ants to ele-
phants,—I will change my political faith and come out on the side
of Democracy!

Supposing that this full and frank letter will enable you to fix
upon the period when I will come out a full-grown Democrat, and
to communicate the same to all whom it may concern in Arkansas,

I have the honor to be, &c.,
W. G. Brownrow.*

Brownlow was no more positive that he would never be a
Democrat than he was that preachers should keep out of poli-
tics. He severely condemned P. P. Neely, an Alabama Method-
ist preacher, for taking part in the campaign of 1860 and

8 Parson Brownlow’s Book, pp. 62-64.
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for calling upon the people not to submit to tie inauguration
of the Black Republiean Lincoln if he should be elected.*®
Others besides Brownlow had similar feelings, and the Banner
of Peace was set up by the Cumberland Presbyterians in Nash-
ville in 1860 for the purpose of promoting peace. This paper
solemnly asked, “How can a man get down from a successful
political harangue on Saturday, and enter the holy desk to
preach a meek and lowly Saviour on Sabbath?”?® But people
forgot then as they have often done since that churches will
always enter politics, promote wars and support them to the
extent and to the degree that their membership are convinced of
the righteousness of their causes. Churches are man-made in-
stitutions managed by men to promote their longings to find
and worship the Supreme Being, but in supporting these things
it often seems necessary to deal with human affairs no less than
divine.

Parson Brownlow was somewhat of a chameleon. Heicould pose
as a preacher when it was to his interests to do so, but at other
times he could choose from a variety of occupations what he
would be. In 1860 it was more convenient not to be a preacher.
Yet he dealt in the paraphernalia of preachers and used it in
politics. Hearing that the Episcopal Church had composed a
special prayer to be used in South Carolina he decided to inter-
pose against it one for all the local preachers in East Tennessee
to use “in all their public ministrations.” He prayed for those
who were seeking to preserve the Union and frowned upon
“those traitors, political gamblers, and selfish demagogues who
are seeking to build up a miserable Southern Confederacy, and
under it to inaugurate a new reading of the Ten Command-
ments, so as to teach that the chief end of Man is Nigger!” The
rest of this prayer was characterized by such words and ex-
pressions as “Southern mad-caps and Northern fanatics,” “fire-
eaters,” “mean whiskey,” “corrupt Democracy and its profligate
leaders,” and “wicked leaders of Abolitionism.” This prayer he
published in his Knoxville Whig in January of 1860.>

% Ibid., pp. T5-80.

% August 16, 1860.
% Parson Brownlow’s Book, pp. 28-30.
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As the campaign of 1860 became more heated, Brownlow was
maneuvered into an extreme position by his strong will and his
characteristic methods of carrying on a fight. He had visited
too much among planter aristocrats and extreme Southerners to
have any latent antipathy to them, yet before November of
1860 he was thundering out abuse against them as terrible as
any he had ever used against the Abolitionists. But his oppo-
sition to both was born of the same reason; each was bent on a
program which would destroy the Union.®

Brownlow made the direct charge that the Southern Demo-
cratic leaders had plotted secession, that they had broken up
the Convention at Charleston deliberately as a step in the plot,
and that they had nominated John C. Breckinridge for no other
reason. He declared, “The leaders of the Democratic party who
procured his nomination by a rebellious faction at Baltimore,
took that method of accomplishing a long-cherished object,—
the dissolution of this Union and the ‘precipitating of the Cot-
ton States in a revolution.” ”*® They had no intention or desire
to elect Breckinridge, for he was not even a slaveholder. In fact
he had an anti-slavery record, contended Brownlow. Their whole
purpose was to see Lincoln elected and then secede, as they had
been openly threatening. “TO MAKE THAT CONTIN-
GENCY CERTAIN, THEY ARE RUNNING BRECKIN-
RIDGE,” charged Brownlow. If the Democrats wanted a slave-
holder as president, why should they not vote for John Bell, who
owned 83 slaves in his own name—and his wife owned 83 more.
Brownlow declared that he intended to stand by the Union and
that if a Southern Confederacy were organized he would rebel
against it. Nay, he would do more, “I will sustain Lincoln if he
will go to work to put down the great Southern mob that leads
off in such a rebellion !”” These sentiments and others he expressed
in a speech before the Bell and Everett Club of Knoxville in
October, 1860. Nearing the close, he declared:

These are my sentiments, and these are my purposes; and I am
no Abolitionist, but a Southern man. I expect to stand by this

% Portrait and Biography, p. 30.
% Parson Brownlow’s Book, p. 191.
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Union, and battle to sustain it, though Whiggery and Democracy,
Slavery and Abolitionism, Southern rights and Northern wrongs,
are all blown to the devil! I will never join in the outcry against
the American Union in order to build up a corrupt Democratic
party in the South, and to create offices in a new Government for
an unprincipled pack of broken-down politicians, who have justly
rendered themselves odious by stealing the public money. I may
stand alone in the South; but I believe thousands and tens of thou-
sands will stand by me, and, if need be, perish with me in the same

cause.°°

The Parson had not been afraid of the Nullifiers in South
Carolina in 1832 when he was riding the circuit there; with
equal vigor would he oppose the Nullifiers of 1860. Nullifiers
throughout all history had come to grief. Adam and Eve had
nullified God’s law in Eden, and they had been thrown out;
Cain nullified God’s will, and he was branded in the forehead
as a traitorous murderer; the Jews nullified holy law, and they
perished in the siege of Jerusalem; Sodom and Gomorrah nulli-
fied it, and they were consumed with fire and brimstone; the
King of the Egyptians nullified the will of God, and he and his
army were drowned in the Red Sea; and if South Carolina had
kept up her nullification in 1832, “Old Hickory Jackson would
have drowned them in the harbor of Charleston.””®

There could be no doubt that Brownlow was pursuing a course
which would make trouble for himself. There was always freedom
of speech in the South, at least for Southerners, but there were
limits beyond which the Southern leaders could not be attacked
without replying. Brownlow’s nervous excitability and his ex-
aggerated style had long made him an object of merriment or
contempt among Southern leaders, although they did not con-
sider him important enough or serious enough to be resented.
And so in this campaign he was noticed chiefly by the lesser
leaders of the South. Only once did he have a brush with a South-
ern fire-eater of the first magnitude, and in dramatic effect it
stood out boldly. In the heat of the campaign William L. Yancey
appeared in Knoxville to advocate the election of Breckinridge.

@ Ibid., p. 206. ® Ibid., p. 713; Knoaville Whig, October 13, 1860.
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After the speech had passed the three-hour mark, a voice from
the audience cried out, “Hurrah for Bell!’; another shouted,
“What will you do if Lincoln is elected?” In order to deal effec-
tively with the disturbers Yancey invited them to the platform.
After quizzing one of the audience who answered the invita-
tion, Yancey learned that the heckler was merely acting for a
committee of five headed by Brownlow. He now invited this
group to the platform. Brownlow, with “a cocked Derringer”
in his pocket acted as spokesman. With what Yancey considered
insufferable impudence, the Parson boldly said, “I propose,
when the Secessionists go to Washington to dethrone Lincoln,
to seize a bayonet and form an army to resist such an attack
and they shall walk over my dead body on the way.” Yancey
with great seriousness turned to the audience and replied, “If
my state resists I will go with her and if I meet this gentleman
marshaled with his bayonet to oppose us, I will plunge mine
to the hilt through and through his heart, feel no compunctions
for the act, but thank God my country has been freed from such
a foe.”®

Such encounters as this greatly excited the South, but they
riveted Brownlow’s control over his pugnacious East Tennes-
seeans. John W. Palmer, a South Carolina subscriber to the
Knoxville W hig, wrote Brownlow that “your remarks to Yancey
convince me fully you are a traitor to the South and to your
country.” He informed Brownlow that if he found him in the
ranks of the Abolitionists, “I will kill you the first man.” He
promised that if Brownlow were ever caught in South Carolina
he should have thirty-nine lashes on his bare back and “a coat of
tar and feathers afterwards to heal up the stripes.” He closed:
“If my time is not out, stop my paper, anyhow. I make you a
present of all you owe me, believing you would steal it if T did
not.” Brownlow answered, enclosing twenty-four cents in stamps,
which he said was the amount still due. He was glad to be rid of

“J. W. Du Bose, The Life and Times of William Lowndes Yancey, pp. 494~
96; Suffering of Union Men, An Address by Parson Brownlow (Rev. W. G.
Brownlow, D.D.) Delivered Before the Citizens of New York, at the Academy
of Music, May 15, 1862, pp. 23-24; Humes, op. cit., pp. 81-84; Parson Brown-
low’s Book, p. 67.



ANTE-BELLUM POLITICS 133
the South Carolinian and all of his disunion friends. The Knox-
ville Whig still had 12,000 subscribers, which was a greater
number than any other paper in the state. As for the thirty-
nine lashes, if Palmer would leave his mob behind, Brownlow
would be willing to meet him at any time and place he should
designate. He then proceeded to read a lecture to the South
Carolinian on patriotism.*

The election came, and those in the South who had feared
the victory of Lincoln sorrowed and those who had silently
hoped for it secretly rejoiced. The former knew not what to
do; the latter knew that they would secede and set up a Southern
nation.

% Parson Brownlow’s Book, pp. 65-74; Knowville Whig, October 13, 1860.



CHAPTER VII
SECESSION

WitHouT 4 DOUBT, the majority of Tennesseeans under ordi-
nary circumstances were unwilling to break up the Union, and
in 1860 they considered the times not sufficiently out of joint to
constitute a provoking situation. They cast their electoral vote
for John Bell, giving him 69,000 popular ballots; while about
65,000 Tennesseeans recorded their preference for Breckin-
ridge. As an added warning that Tennessee would have no se-
ceding on her part, 11,000 citizens stood out for Stephen A.
Douglas, the “Little Giant” from Illinois. By this vote 80,000
Tennesseeans seemed to indicate a preference for the continua-
tion of the Union, and it can by no means be said that the 65,000
who voted for Breckinridge were recording a preference for
disunion.

Thus in the early stages of the secession movement Brownlow
found himself with the overwhelming majority of Tennesseeans.
He was an original Union man with his Unionism dating back
to Nullification days. For forty years he had gloried in his
country’s greatness, he had bragged about her, and had flung
against his enemies as one of his ugliest thrusts the charge of
being Tories. The Parson felt doubly important when he thought
of his American citizenship, for the great mass of people in this
world had not been blessed with this distinction. Like many
other Americans, he felt this honor to be a definite personal pos-
session. He declared “Our Government is the greatest and the
best the world has ever seen.” So, to jeopardize his country’s
integrity or to take him out of it through the secession of his
state was to rob him of one of the great consolations of being
alive.

! Knoxville Whig, October 13, 1860, quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book, p. 67
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He had been arguing against secession long before the elec-
tion of 1860 and he did not cease his opposition until as gov-
ernor of the state six years later he saw it restored to the Union.
Neither before the clection of Lincoln nor afterwards was he
able to find one good argument for secession. He was for the
Union equally as much because he was a Southerner as he was
because he was an American. He was convinced that there could
be no peaceable dissolution of the Union; secession meant war
and war of the most terrible character. Almost a month before
Lincoln’s election, he said, “The man who calculates upon peace-
able dissolution of the Union is either a madman or a fool.”?
In the war that would surely follow secession he saw the people
“drafted as soldiers, and forced to abandon our peaceful homes,
never to see them more, to perish by exposure, or hunger, or
disease, on long and dreary marches, or to fall by the hands
of our countrymen, in a war that never ought to have been
waged.” And, moreover, it would not be a short war; “this
is to be the most fearful war that ever raged in the civilized
world.”* And what was worse, Tennessee and the border states
would become the great battlefields and the source of vast num-
bers of soldiers who would be driven into the maelstrom of war
to fight the battles of the lords of the “Cotton South.” Ten-
nesseeans would be “forced to leave their wives and children to
toil and suffer, while they fight for the purse-proud aristocrats
of the Cotton States, whose pecuniary abilities will enable them
to hire substitutes !’

The Parson knew that the South was not a unit in its thinking
and in its needs and desires. He knew that what the cotton barons
wanted would not of necessity be advantageous to his East
Tennesseeans. Many Southerners had been gradually during
the past decade and more coming to the belief that the South
could never attain her destiny until she should become an inde-
pendent nation. She had the potentialities for becoming the
richest and most powerful nation on earth. All she needed was

? Knozxville Whig, October 13, 1860, quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book, p. 68.
* Knoaxville Whig, December 22, 1860, quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book, p. 51.
* Knoxville Whig, April 27, 1861.

® Ibid., December 22, 1860, quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book, pp. 49-50.
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freedom from the grasping and parasitic North, and then, in-
deed, would she come into her destiny. Brownlow knew that such
a Southern Republic would be dominated by leaders and inter-
ests foreign to the upper Seouth, so he registered a solemn
determination to oppose all schemes for Southern nationality.

He lost patience with the Southern leaders who were precipi-
tating secession for not being able to see that they were playing
the game of the Abolitionists—they were allowing themselves
to be driven out of their own house. The Abolitionists were the
mutineers and the revolutionists—why allow them to take con-
trol? Brownlow would fight them to the last—to hand over the
country to the Abolitionists and withdraw was exactly what
these revolutionists wanted. The Parson was too bold and tena-
cious a fighter to engage in such an unwise course. He remem-
bered well the disunion sentiments expressed by the arch-Abo-
litionist Parson Pryne, whom he had debated a few years
previously in Philadelphia. The detested Northern Abolitionists
might drive out of the Union the senseless Southern leaders, but
he refused to be dispossessed of his heritage, his glorious Union.
He would allow no Abolitionists to deprive him of the right to
be called an American, and neither would he submit to being
dragged away from that title by silly Southerners, who were so
foolish as not to see what the Abolitionists were doing. The
Parson called upon the people to stay in the Union and help
fight the Abolitionists where there was some chance of winning.
“Secession,” he declared, “is no remedy for any evils in our
Government, real or imaginary, past, present, or to come.”®

It was because he was so ardently in favor of slavery that he
so vigorously upheld the Union. The Abolitionists wanted to
drive the South out of the Union in order to demolish the insti-
tution of slavery. As soon as the South should set up a govern-
ment of its own, the old fragment of the Union would abolish
slavery there, and then Canada would in effect be brought to
the very front door of the South, and slavery would then fast
disappear. And it would not be entirely due to the fact that
many slaves might run away to the land of freedom. Conditions

¢ Knowxville Whig, December 8, 1860, quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book, p. 43.
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among the slaves who might choose to remain in the South or
who might not be so lucky as to escape would become chaotic
and the institution would become untenable. Then the Negro
would attain a degree of freedom which would bring up that
deep and fundamental fear in the South of the rise of a race
question. And this fear was no less present among those who
never owned slaves than among the greatest planters. The Negro
free might indeed become a greater menace to the social, eco-
nomic, and political position of the non-slaveholders than to
the lord of a thousand black serfs.

Brownlow, who was just as anxious as the most loyal Con-
federate soldier to preserve slavery, thought that the institution
could be best maintained by remaining in the Union and fight-
ing for the rights that amply guaranteed it and protected it
under the Federal Constitution. And this was the position as-
sumed by the East Tennessee Unionists. Brownlow was through-
out the secession struggles as strongly determined in his support
of slavery as was the most advanced secession slaveholder. He
declared in the presidential campaign that if Lincoln should
advocate interference even with the interstate slave trade and
if Congress should pass hostile legislation and the Supreme
Court should uphold it, then “I would take the ground that
the time for Revolution has come,—that all the Southern States
should go into it; AND I WOULD GO WITH THEM.”” Not
until the war had changed the whole aspect of slavery did the
Parson weaken in his wholehearted support of it. Two months
after the Southern Confederacy had hoisted the flag of a new
nation, he was as loyal to its position on slavery as if he had
been its president. Mindful of his former battles with Abolition-
ists, he continued to declare that God had placed slavery upon
the earth for a good purpose. “And, however much the bonds
of the slaves of the South may provoke the wrath of the ultra
Abolitionists of the North, the Redeemer of the world smiles
alike upon the devout master and the pious slave!” He looked
upon slaveholders as God’s chosen people, declaring “that all
the finer feelings of humanity may be cherished in the bosoms of

" Knoxville Whig, October 13, 1860, quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book, p. 69.
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slave-owners”® He quoted with approval in 1862 what he had
said thirty years previously, that those who fed and clothed
their slaves well “and instruct them in religion, are better friends
to them than those who set them at liberty.”®

In fact so thoroughly did Brownlow defend slavery and so
completely did he consider it to be of the essence of the South
that he made it the principal position from which he would not
retreat—the ground he would hold even to the point of revolting
against the Union. In May, 1861, he declared that when he was
convinced that Lincoln “contemplated the subjugation of the
South or the abolishing of slavery, there would not be a Union
man among us in twenty-four hours. Come what might, sink or
swim, survive or perish, we would fight you to the death, and
we would unite our fortunes and destinies with even these de-
moralized seceded States, for whose leaders and laws we have
no sort of respect.””'® Lincoln’s past record on the slavery ques-
tion led the Parson to believe that the new President would not
interfere with slavery in the states. He knew that Lincoln was
not an Abolitionist and that he had no great respect for
Abolitionists.

Brownlow was convinced that the election of Lincoln was no
proper cause for seceding. In fact, he denied the right of seces-
sion under any provocation whatsoever. When conditions should
become unbearable, then the proper method would be through
revolution. But the time for revolution had by no means arrived
with the coming in of the Rail-splitter. He admitted that Lincoln
was a sectional president, elected without a single vote in the
Southern States, but the Parson queried whether the Constitu-
tion required a person to receive Southern votes in order to be
validly elected. Lincoln could not carry out the program of the
Abolitionists even should he desire to do so. His oath of office
would prevent it. “And who will say that he intends taking that
oath with treason in his heart and perjury on his tongue?” To
break up the Union merely on the supposition that Lincoln would

8 Knoxville Whig, May 18, 1861, quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book, pp. 108-9.

® Parson Brownlow’s Book, pp. 24-25.

* Knoxville Whig, May 18, 1861, quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book, pp.
110-11.
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do illegal acts “would be wicked, treacherous, unjustifiable, un-
precedented, and without the shadow of an excuse.” The South
should wait for the overt act; then there would be time aplenty.
If the Black Republicans should succeed in violating the Con-
stitution, then in 1864 conservative men both north and south
would join together and put the government on a more solid
basis than it had been within the past quarter of a century.

But Lincoln could do no harm even if he should try. He was
only the President. The House, the Scnate, and the Supreme
Court must all agree before any act of importance could be
done; and Lincoln and his party controlled not one of these
important bodies. The South should not complain of its oppor-
tunities in the past for running the government. Out of the
seventy-two years of the country’s existence, it had held the
presidency forty-eight years to the North’s twenty-four. And
the Parson might have added that out of those twenty-four
years, the South controlled the Northern-born presidents most
of the time. Despite the company in which Brownlow found
Lincoln, he was inclined to favor the President-elect because
the latter had been a great admirer of Henry Clay, and held
much the same position on slavery as Clay held.!

Brownlow found a great deal to condemn in the attitude the
Southern leaders had taken throughout the secession movement.
He did not believe that secession had sprung from the desires
of the mass of the people. On the contrary he repeatedly stated
that the whole conspiracy had been hatched in the dead of night
by fourteen senators from seven Southern states. He and other
Tennesseeans felt that the ground for this conspiracy had been
prepared consciously and unconsciously over a period of years
by a few people—some wily, some deluded, and some stupid.
The editor of the Banner of Peace, a Tennessee newspaper
established to carry out the purpose announced in its name,
declared that those responsible for the troubled condition of
the country could easily be grouped into three classes: first,
newspaper editors; sccondly, demagogues in politics; and third-

% Rnoxville Whig, November 17, 1860, quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book,
pp. 30-37.
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ly, political preachers. He asked, “Who does not see that if the
press was generous, just, honest, and pure; if we had a race of
statesmen; and if we had no political preachers, our country
today would have been one broad land of contented, prosperous,
and happy brothers.”*?

If the Southern leaders had felt sure of their cause, why,
queried the Parson, did they rush into secession in the dark and
without consulting with all the Southern States. The border
states had been ignored by the cotton states leaders, who hoped
to cross the Rubicon and commit the rest of the South so com-
pletely that it would be forced to follow. They had refused to
call a general convention of all the slave states for that was not
the way of conspirators. These Southern leaders would forcibly
deprive the people of their greatest heritage. They would drag
out of the Union Florida, Louisiana, and Texas, territories
for which the United States had paid, according to the Parson’s
ready mathematical calculations, $617,822,928. Such actions
could not be considered “in any other light than that of dis-
honesty and treason, meriting the scorn and contempt of the
civilized world.”*?

The Parson had never liked South Carolinians since they
had driven him out in Nullification days. It was only natural
to expect them to be the first ones to attempt to break up the
Union. Addressing one of them shortly before South Carolina
seceded, he said, “You may leave the vessel,—you may go out
in the rickety boats of your little State, and hoist your miserable
cabbage-leaf of a Palmetto flag; but, depend upon it, men and
brethren, you will be dashed to pieces on the rocks !””** The great
mass of South Carolinians had been Tories in the Revolution, he
declared, and as proof he called the roll of Tory South Caro-
linians through 206 names. R. Barnwell Rhett, one of the South
Carolina fire-eaters, had grown up under the name of Smith,
but because of his Tory ancestry and because of high crimes

¥ December 13, 1860,

¥ Knoxville Whig, March 23, 1861, quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book, pp.
233-85.

# Knowxville Whig, December 8, 1860, quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book,
pp. 43-44,
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he himself had committed, he induced the legislature to change
his name to Rhett. Indeed, declared Brownlow, ‘“there have
been more names changed in South Carolina, by Act of General
Assembly, than in any State in the Union!”” South Carolina still
had many of the royal trappings, reminiscent of the days when
she was ruled over by a king. He sounded the warning:

These are not the people to head a Confederacy for Tennessee-
ans to fall into. Their notions of royalty, and their contempt for
the common people, will never suit Tennesseeans. . . . Let Tennessee
once go into this Empire of Cotton States, and all poor men will
at once become the free negroes of the Empire! We are down upon
the whole scheme.”

Secession ordinances, declared the Parson, were “covenants
with death and agreements with hell.” Southern senators were
in Congress receiving nine dollars a day “for proclaiming
treason, rank and damning,—for which they ought to be hung,
and would be if the laws of the land were enforced.” If Ten-
nessee should madly plunge into secession, still he would fight
on against “fanaticism at the North” and ‘“demagogues and
traitors at the South,” and for doing so he fully expected to be
hung. Thus mused the Parson in January, 1861.'

In early February, the Confederate States of America was
born in Montgomery, Alabama, and the Parson launched forth
on more bitter and blighting denunciations of the new govern-
ment and of all who had had a part in its making. He now
became savage in his defiance:

I would as soon be engaged in importing the plague from the
East, as in helping to build up a Southern Confederacy upon the
ruins of the American Constitution. I expect to be abused for my
defence of the Union. “I'ray, Blanche, and Sweetheart” will all
bark at me. The kennel is now unloosed: all the pack—from the
deep-mouthed bloodhound of South Carolina and Florida to the
growling cur of Georgia—are baying at me. If I were to stop to

3 Knowxville Whig, January 12, 1861, quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book,
p. 88.
*® Knozville Whig, January 19, 1861, quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book,
pp. 89-95.
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throw stones at all the snarling puppies that yelp at my heels in
South Carolina and elsewhere, I should have little time to do any
thing else.'”

The Parson was not disappointed in his prediction that he
would be bitterly set upon and condemned for his course, and
he might well have guessed that some of the most threatening
missiles would be hurled at him from South Carolina. One of the
citizens of the Palmetto State wrote the Parson to tell him that
he was “the greatest liar out of hell, and one of the most infamous
scoundrels living between heaven and earth” and adding “that
nothing would afford us as much pleasure as to see you in Abbe-
ville, where we could treat you to a coat of tar and feathers.”
The Parson answered that he expected the “vials of contumely,
reproach, and defamation will be poured upon me by a hireling
press of a corrupt and plundering Southern Confederacy, by
the insolvent bullies, hardened liars, and vulgar cut-throats
whose only ambition is to serve as tools under an arrogant and
hateful pack of aristocratic leaders.” He informed the South
Carolinian “that our Constitution is not built upon such a sandy
foundation as to be shaken and demolished without the rotten
pillar of reputed South Carolina orthodoxy to support it.” He
concluded his defiant answer: “Finally, sir, when you put forth
your batch of villainous falsehoods, through the brawling
Jacobin journals of a demoralized Southern Confederacy, have
the candor and charity to accompany them with this reply, and
I will remain the defiant opponent of a wilful and despicable
South Carolina rascal "8

South Carolinians were not the only ones to feel aggrieved at
the Parson’s course. A flood of denunciation and threats poured
upon him from throughout the South. A Georgian, writing with
more pity than anger for the Parson, informed him, “From all
appearances, you have turned from a private and respected
citizen to a contentious, quarrelsome politician,—from a South-
ern-Rights man to a friend of the North. . . .” A Mississippian

1 Knozville Whig, February 16, 1861, quoted in Paerson Brownlow’s Book,
pp. 99-100.

¥ Knoxville Whig, February 16, 1861, quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book.
pp. 96, 98, 99, 103-4,
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threatened him as follows if he should turn against the South:
“Now, Parson, if you adopt this policy, what do you think will
be the consequence? You will certainly be hung, as all dogs
should be, until you are ‘dead, dead.” Your crime will be treason
of the deepest dye.” He declared the Parson was a “money-
making Yankee; and, if you will give me time, I will look into
your nativity. When Tennessee secedes, I will head a company
of Tennesseeans and Mississippians and proceed to hang you
by law, or by force if need be. The South can look upon you in
no other light than as a traitor and a Tory, and the twin brother
of Andrew Johnson. Remember, and beware, you shall be hung
in the year 1861, unless you conclude to live the life of an exile.”
In his answer the Parson declared that instead of being a
Yankee, he was a native of Virginia, “and, although I am now
fifty-five years of age, I walk erect, have but few gray hairs, and
look to be younger than any whiskey-drinking, tobacco-chewing,
profane-swearing Secessionist in any of the Cotton States, of
forty years.” As for being hanged he asked for ten days’ notice
“and I will muster men enough in the county where I reside, to
hang the last rascal among you, and then use your carcasses
for wolf-bait I”*® '

It was incomprehensible to many Southerners that Brownlow
could submit to Lincoln and defend the Union without being a
Republican. To the charge that he belonged to that political
faith he pithily answered, “Any man saying—whether of high
or low degree—that I am an Abolitionist or a Black Republican,
is a LIAR and a SCOUNDREL.”*°

So easy was it to set the Parson loose on a withering flow of
invective, so original as to become amusing, that now and then
he was baited for the entertainment that would come in his reply.
So the report was spread that General Gideon J. Pillow, who
was organizing a Confederate regiment, was counting on the
Parson to become his chaplain. This was an insult the Parson
could not refrain from answering in the most resentful lan-
guage. “When I shall have made up my mind to go to hell,” he

* Knoxville Whig, January 19, 1861, quoted in Parson Brownlow’'s Book,

pp. 89-95.
* Knoxville Whig, May 25, 1861, quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book, p. b8.
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replied, “I will cut my throat, and go direct, and not travel
round by way of the Southern Confederacy.”*

In assessing the blame for the secession movement, the Par-
son laid a huge proportion of it at the doors of the churches,
and so completely had he become steeped in his Unionism that
he was not afraid to charge his erstwhile beloved Methodist
Church with deserving the lion’s share of it. He declared that
the clergy, high and low, without regard to denomination, “have
raised the howl of Secession, and it falls like an Indian war-cry
upon our citizens from their prostituted pulpits every Sab-
bath.”?* These “reverend traitors to God and their country”
went about delivering “inflammatory stump-speeches.” “The
South is now full of these reverend traitors,” he declared, “and
every branch of the Christian Church is cursed with their
labors.”* In Nashville, in 1862, he said, “Here, as in all parts
of the South, the worst class of men are preachers. They have
done more to bring about the deplorable state of things existing
in the country than any other class of men.”?* And a little later
he said, “The worst class of men who make tracks upon Southern
soil are Methodist, Presbyterian, Baptist, and Episcopal clergy-
men, and at the head of these for mischief are the Southern
Methodists.””*

It was becoming a practice among the Secession preachers
“to take the hides off Union men by holding them up before
their congregations in prayer.” The Parson thought that the
parties assailed ought to be “allowed a division of time, in lay-
ing the other side before the Lord.” He charged a Presbyterian
minister in Knoxville with attacking Horace Maynard in a
prayer in which he begged the Lord “that his traitorous feet
might never again press the soil of Tennessee.” Another Presby-
terian in the same city implored the Lord to raise the blockade
of the South and fervently prayed for Him “to strike Lincoln’s
ships with lightning and scatter them to the four winds of

2 Frank Moore, ed., The Rebellion Record, 1, 60.

# Knoxville Whig, May 18, 1861, quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book, p. 111-12.
*® Knoazville Whig, July 6, 1861, quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book, p. 146.
#* Parson Brownlow’s Book, p. 392.

® Ibid., p. 189,
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heaven!” In one of these blockade prayer-meetings this pastor
“assisted by several old clericals, made a desperate effort to
raise the blockade!” This was the same preacher, according to
the Parson “who boasted in his pulpit that Jesus Christ was a
Southerner, born on Southern soil, and so were His apostles, ex-
cept Judas, whom he denominated a Northern man! Speaking
of the Bible, he said he would sooner have a Bible printed and
bound in hell, than one printed and bound north of Mason &
Dixon’s line %%

So far did the distempers of the times affect Brownlow that
he began to advocate destroying the chief foundations of the
past thirty-five years of his existence. He would depart from
denominationalism, which had made possible so many joyous
fights for him in the past, and have a union of all the churches.
He argued:

We have—among us—brought disgrace upon the church, de-
stroyed confidence in the ministry, disbanded our congregations,
and broken up the social and religious ties that formerly bound
us together. It is useless for us to meet in our churches on the
Sabbath, put on long, pious faces, offer up long prayers, hand
round the bread and wine, and then pass out in society and vilify
each other as a set of pickpockets, liars, and traitors, and keep
up this holy and patriotic warfare until we meet again the next Sab-
bath. The fool, the wayfaring man, and the untutored African
can see that we are wicked, and on the high-road to the devil! Let
us break up our hypocritical organizations called churches, and
out of a half-dozen of them make up one new one, whose pastor
and members shall neither preach, exhort, nor pray anything
connected with party politics.”

But the Parson was not so blind in his support of the Union
as not to see that the Northern preachers were just as guilty of
departing from Christianity as were the Southerners. He de-
clared that “the curse of the country has been that, for years,
north of Mason & Dixon’s line, you have kept pulpits open to
the abuse of Southern slavery and of the Southern people.””*®

* Ibid., pp. 141-13. * Ibid., pp. 144-45,
® Knoxville Whig, May 18, 1861, quoted in Parson Brownlow's Book, p. 111,
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Brownlow had not been alone in Tennessee in his opposition
to secession; only in the devastating language with which he
opposed it was he unique. John Bell in the early stages of the
movement stood by the Union, then he halted in the twilight
zone of neutrality, and finally he deserted for the Confederacy.
Andrew Johnson in the United States Senate poured out his
condemnation of the Southern secessionists, as one Southerner
after another departed with maledictions upon this Tennessee
renegade. But he won the applause of Brownlow, who had not
spoken to him for twenty years.”® Other East Tennesseeans
held true to the Union and backed up Brownlow and Johnson
—T. A. R. Nelson, Horace Maynard, Nat Taylor, and many
more.

But the South was aflame; Tennessee would not fiddle while
Rome burned. The withdrawal of South Carolina set going a
wave of secession which swept all of the Gulf states except Texas
out of the Union before the close of January, 1861. Governor
Isham G. Harris, whom Brownlow denominated “Eye Sham,”
seized with the contagion, called immediately after South Caro-
lina’s secession an extra session of the legislature to determine
what Tennessee should do in the crisis. He recommended that a
Sovereign Convention be provided for. The legislature met on
the 7th of January and on the 19th it called upon the people
to vote on the 9th of the following February whether they would
have a Sovereign Convention and at the same time to elect dele-
gates to that convention.

Brownlow, fearing that this was the first step which would
plunge Tennessee into secession and ruin, called upon the peo-
ple to force all candidates who should seek election to the Sov-
ereign Convention to declare their position unequivocally. He
declared, “It will not be Whig and Democrat, Bell and Breck-
inridge, or Douglas, but Union or Disunion.”*® And immedi-
ately he intensified his campaign against the Southern seces-
sionists, filling his Knoxville Whig with warnings against the
m Fort Milton, The Age of Hate, Andrew Johnson and the Radicals,
p. 103.

* Knowxville Whig, December 22, 1860, quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book,
p. 49.
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evils to come and with denunciations of the Southern conspira-
tors, as has heretofore appeared. In the election for the Conven-
tion, Tennessee clearly declared that she did not consider the
election of Lincoln sufficient excuse for seceding, or, indeed, for
even considering the matter at all. More than 91,000 votes were
cast for Union delegates, whereas a few less than 25,000 voted
for the Disunion delegates. All three of the grand divisions of
the state, East, Middle, and West Tennessee, overwhelmingly
voted for the Union. But there was less unanimity of feeling on
the propriety of calling together a convention. Many who were
for the Union felt that there could be no harm in discussing the
distempers of the times, but Brownlow declared that as every
convention that had been called had passed secession ordinances,
the safest way would be to reject the Convention. So it was that
Tennessee after electing Union men in a vast majority, never-
theless refused to trust those same Union men. The majority
against the Convention was almost 12,000. Only the cotton-
growing West Tennessecans gave a majority for the Conven-
tion. East Tennessee voted it down by more than 25,000 ma-
jority, and even the stock-raising gentlemen farmers of Mid-
dle Tennessee declared against it by a majority of 1,382. Only
two counties in East Tennessee voted for the Convention.®

Then Fort Sumter was fired upon, Lincoln called for troops,
and the lid was blown off Pandora’s box. In answer to Lincoln’s
call for troops, Governor Harris defiantly replied, “Tennessee
will not furnish a man for purposes of coercion, but 50,000, if
necessary, for the defense of our rights, and those of our South-
ern brothers.” He immediately issued a call for a special session
of the legislature to meet on April 25, an ominous move. Union-
loving Tennesseeans were frightened; John Bell and others
issued an address to the people deploring the bitter choice that
was now held out—either to secede from the Union or to aid in
the despicable business of coercing the South. Mindful of what
was going on in the hearts of their neighbor Kentuckians, they

% The American Annual Cyclopasedia, 1861, pp. 677-718; Parson Brownlow's
Book, pp. 220-23; J. W. Fertig, The Secession and Reconstruction of Tennessee,
p. 19,
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counselled neutrality as against the insanity that was swecping
all before it in both North and South.

But there was no staying the fate that awaited. The legis-
lature met, and listened to the recommendations of Governor
Harris that Tennessee declare her independence and consider
a Union with the Confederate States of America. A month back
was now ancient history, so swiftly had events been moving.
There was no time to call a Sovereign Convention, a procedure,
which under much less provocation, the state had recently re-
Jjected. To save time, the legislature should do these things, and
then submit its work to a vote of the people. One after another
of the neutrality men saw the impossibility of their position
and fell in with Governor Harris. Acting with swift precision
the legislature on May 1 directed the Governor to enter into a
military league with the Confederacy, so that preparations
might immediately be made to hold the northern frontier against
the invaders. On the 7th the Governor reported that a league
had been formed with the Confederacy and awaited ratification.
The legislature accepted it 1mmedlately The previous day it
had paved the way for this action by adopting a Declaration
of Independence and an Ordinance dlssolvmg its relations with
the Federal Government. They wasted no time arguing over
the abstractions of secession; they chose the road hallowed
throughout history. They asserted the right of revolution. On
June 8, the people should vote whether they would accept the
Declaration and the Ordinance and also whether they would join
the Confederacy.

In the meantime the state began organizing for war. By the
time the day for the voting had arrived, the state had provided
for raising 55,000 troops and the borrowing of $5,000,000.
Democracy does not operate most efficiently amidst the alarms
of war, and undoubtedly the din of military preparations car-
ried many Tennesseeans out of the Union in their voting and
riveted others to the Union or deterred them from voting at all.
To friend and foe of Union alike, by the time the month of
June had dawned, the state seemed to have already been com-
mitted to a policy from which there appeared no turning back.
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The voting was general over the state and when the ballots were
canvassed and announced on June 24 it was found that a ma-
Jjority, of 57,675 had favored independence and about the same
majority, a union with the Confederacy. So, on June 24, Gov-
ernor Harris proclaimed the new position of Tennessee, the
last of the states to leave the Union.??

Parson Brownlow had been thundering out denunciations on
all sides while the disjointed times had been fast sweeping Ten-
nessee out of the Union. His influence was great but with all
the other Union leaders of Tennessee he was unable to hold the
state in the final plunge. The vote for the three divisions of the
state in the June 8 election follows:

Disunion Union
East Tennessee .. ... .. .. 14,780 32,923
Middle Tennessee . .. .. .. 58,265 8,198
West Tennessee. . ....... 29,127 6,117
Military Camps ... ..... 2,741 0

Thus alone of the state’s divisions did East Tennessee hold
true to the Union, and this was largely due to Brownlow, An-
drew Johnson, T. A. R. Nelson, Horace Maynard, and other
Unionists in the eastern part of the state. Six of the East Ten-
nessee counties voted for independence and union with the
Confederacy and thereby repudiated the Parson’s counsel and
leadership. The East Tennessee secessionists, according to a
Unionist, were the “rich and persons of best social position.”*
The majority in the state the Parson rather wildly declared
had been dragooned into disunion by Southern bayonets.?

In August Tennessee would elect a governor. The Parson
began thinking about it in March, while Tennessee was yet
peacefully in the Union. He had visions of becoming the state’s
governor and guiding it for the next two years through the
perils that were besetting the nation. His campaign for this
Wan Annual Cyclopaedia, 1861, pp. 678-83; Fertig, op. cit., pp. 19 ff.;
Temple, op. cit., pp. 326-27; Edward McPherson, The Political History of the
United States of America during the Greal Rebellion, p. 5.

* Humes, op. cit., p. 91.
M American Annual (yelopaédia, 1861, p. 683; Parson Brownlow's Book, pp.

220-23.
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honor sprang up, flourished, and died within the scope of a
month. But during that time the Fighting Parson had the
pleasure of carrying war into Africa. His platform was one of
support of the Union and denunciation of the Southern Con-
federacy, and he carried out his campaign through his Knoz-
ville Whig and in handbills, which he scattered over East Ten-
nessee by the thousands. He could not take the stump, as he
had been unable for the past two years to speak “loud enough
to be heard ten steps.”*® He promised not to use cheap political
tricks by telling about an humble origin, but his enthusiasm
for himself soon led him to repeat his familiar story of having
no “influential relatives,” of having been left a destitute orphan
when quite small, and of working at the trade of house-carpenter.
His was a self-starting campaign; he would run of his own
accord and not be nominated by a convention. Specifically he
was “for the Union as it is, first ; for a Border State Confederacy
next; and for the Southern Confederacy mever, in any con-
tingency, or under any circumstances that may arise!” In his
platform he repeated his indictment of the secession conspirators
and the Southern Confederacy. On the traitors’ “heads will be
gathered the hissing curses of all generations, horrible as the
forked-tongued snakes of Medusa.” He would rather join the
worst European monarchy than this “bogus Confederacy.”
People shouted coercion. “Coercion of a State,” rejoined Brown-
low, “is an adroit form of expression, coined in the school of
Secession to give dignity to treason.” The rebels were breaking
up the Union, and he would fight them back; “Let the gates
of the temple of Janus open,” he exclaimed. He indorsed
Lincoln’s Inaugural Address “for its temperance and conserva-
tism and for its firm nationality of sentiment.” Though most
of his platform was made of denunciation, he had thought some-
what on state policy. He would build two more penitentiaries,
and he would sweep the secessionists out of the bank and rail-
road positions they held. The Parson wanted to be governor not
only to checkmate the secessionists but with all candor and per-
haps a touch of levity, he “would like to fill the office for two

* Parson Brownlow’s Book, p. 242.
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years, for the sake of the THREE THOUSAND DOLLARS
PER ANNUM.”3¢

As has been noted, the Parson’s campaign did not last long.
A few county meetings were got up to support him, but he did
not appear to the Unionists to possess the proper temperament
they would have in their candidate. He was accused of being a
Lincoln hireling which displeased him and which brought forth
this disclaimer: “We are no Lincoln man—we neither admire
him or his councillors, nor do we approve of his policy or princi-
ples—and we have the consolation of knowing that we did all
in our power to prevent his election!” But it was foolish to say
that Lincoln began the war; and as for the Parson, he would
never admit that “honor, patriotism, or a love of country,
influenced the vile, hypocritical, corrupt, and insincere leaders
who have plunged the Cotton States into this revolution.”®” So,
having no great expectation of becoming governor, Brownlow
soon withdrew in favor of William H. Polk. By the time of the
election in August, conditions had so completely changed that
Harris easily defeated Polk.

Brownlow’s reaction to secession differed vastly from that of
many other Southern Unionists. While the question was yet in
the argumentative stage he used much the same line of reasoning
employed by Alexander H. Stephens of Georgia. Stephens’
speech before the Georgia legislature on November 14, 1860,
and Brownlow’s newspaper editorials ran parallel in a great
many instances. But when secession came in Georgia, Stephens
bowed to the inevitable, and like thousands of other Unionists,
embraced the new order with the zeal becoming the principle of
ma jority rule. Brownlow and most of his East Tennesseeans
became defiant and determined to fight the Confederacy. But
the development of the secession movement in Georgia and in
Tennessee were not similar, and in that difference there is much
to explain the Parson’s position. In Georgia the Unionists were
not strong enough to prevent the first effort from succeeding:
in Tennessee the Unionists were so powerful that they prolonged

* Knoxville Whig, April 27, 1861; Parson Brownlow’s Book, pp. 224-44.
¥ Knoxville Whig, April 27, 1861.
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the fight through much bitterness and held the state in the Union
so long that she became the last to leave.

The Parson’s erratic temperament, however, opened up possi-
bilities which no one could predict, and when finally Tennessee
did leave the Union he had crossed the Rubicon and there was
no turning back. Had Tennessee left the Union quickly, like
most of the other states of the Confederacy, it would do no
violence to his character to say that, following the example of
Stephens, he might have cast his support to the Confederacy.
A tradition has subsisted that he had in the early stages of the
movement written an editorial in which, repudiating his old
position, he announced his adherence to the South. An opponent
hearing of the change, before the editorial had been published,
seized the opportunity to charge Brownlow with inconsistency.
Thereupon the Parson settled down to a position of Unionism
from which he never budged.®® George D. Prentice, with whom
he later had a bitter quarrel, declared that it took all the per-
suasive powers of Judge Trigg and John Williamson to prevent
him from joining the Confederacy.?® During the decade directly
preceding the Civil War, he had come much under the spell of
the Southern planters. He had embraced slavery and had gone
out valiantly to do battle against the Abolitionists. He had made
frequent trips through the plantation country of the South,
and he had devcloped an antipathy against Northerners as
sharp as any to be found. He had even begun to attend the
Southern commercial conventions, those nurseries of Southern
nationalism. T'wo wecks after Lincoln’s election he was making
statements which might have served as easy entries into a South-
ern accord. On November 17 he said, “Individually, we are will-
ing to go with the South, even unto death, but we feel bound to
aid in making the South herself go right!”*°

John Bell called for neutrality and then joined the Con-
federacy; T. A. R. Nelson travelled farther along the road of
Unionism and then strayed off slightly on a by-path; perhaps

* Price, op. cit., 111, 323-24.
® Southern Watchman, May 30, 1866.

“ Knoxville Whig, November 17, 1860, quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book,
p. 34.
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Parson Brownlow, just because he was not like other people,
might have landed in the camps of the Confederacy. But East
Tennesseeans without the valiant leadership which they had in
such abundance could never have developed the will or the
power to make their region so menacing a stronghold of Union-
ism as to provide a major problem for the Confederacy.



CHAPTER VIII

EAST TENNESSEEANS REBEL AGAINST
REBELLION

THE SPECTRE of secession was a horrible nightmare to East
Tennesseeans. It haunted them. Knowing that it was best to
crush it before it should settle down upon the state, they did not
wait until the June election to raise an outery.

In fact, Brownlow and his East Tennessec associates in
Unionism, Horace Maynard, Emerson Etheridge, T. A. R.
Nelson, O. P. Temple, John Baxter, John Fleming, John
Netherland, Nat Taylor, F. S. Heiskell, C. F. Trigg, W. B.
Carter, and many others, old Whigs and Democrats alike, had
been fighting secession since it ominously appeared on the
horizon with the election of Lincoln. The troublous times
brought together in spirit even two such inveterate enemies as
Brownlow and Andrew Johnson, the one holding the fort of
Unionism in the highlands of East Tennessee and the other in
the Senate in Washington boldly denouncing secession and its
leaders. Though he was in Washington, Johnson’s influence in
East Tennessee was great.! Brownlow was now to show that he
could use language just as abusive in defending Johnson as
he had formerly used in opposing him. He denounced a forger
of Johnson’s name as a “corrupt liar, low-down drunkard, ir-
responsible vagabond, and infamous coward.”® When the special
session of the Senate adjourned in the latter part of March,
Johnson hurried back to Tennessee. He was coming to help
his East Tennessee compatriots to save the state for the Union
in the plebiscite to be held on June 8.

In East Tennessee there was a strong feeling, impatient and

* Winston, op. eit., p. 190.
* Parson Brownlow’s Book, p. 128.
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bitter, that Middle and West Tennessee had forced disunion
through the legislature in May and that they were preparing
to work a grim joke on the people by dragooning them into
voting for it on June 8. Brownlow and others having deter-
mined to prepare for the day by organizing a campaign of
opposition in East Tennessee, 1ssued a call urging every county
to send delegates to a convention to be held in Knoxville on
May 30. At noon on the day set, C. F. Trigg called to order
in Temperance Hall between 450 and 500 delegates from
twenty-six counties. Most of them were from Knox, Roane,
Anderson, Greene, Sevier, and Blount counties. So vehement
was the Parson that he appeared as a triumvirate all in one—
he was a regular delegate from Knox, and for each of the coun-
ties of Marion and Hancock he served by proxy. He was denied
the praying of a long prayer with which the convention was
opened, and he was not elected president, an honor which went
to T. A. R. Nelson; but he was appointed to membership on the
Business Committee, and given double power through his hold-
ing proxies for Marion and Hancock counties.

This committee, composed of members from the various coun-
ties, was the all-dominating group which shaped the purpose of
the convention. It immediately set to work and on the second
day presented a report and twelve resolutions, setting forth the
perils of the times and breathing defiance against the govern-
ment of Tennessee. The convention unanimously adopted these
resolutions and ordered them to be printed in Brownlow’s Knox-
ville Whig (and three other newspapers) and gave Brownlow
the contract to print 5,000 copies of its proceedings. The next
day the convention adjourned to await the outcome of the voting
on June 8. In this movement there was a distinct threat of seces-
sion from a state.®

East Tennessee made a determined fight to vote disunion
down not only in her own section but to raise such a large ma-
jority against it that the whole state would be saved, for she

®The War of the Rebellion: A Compilation of the Official Records of the

Union and Confederate Armies (hereafter cited as Official Records), ser. I, vol.
LII, pt. 1, pp. 152-56; Humes, op. cit., pp. 105-15.
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remembered that in the February election on the question of
holding a convention it was the East Tennessee majority that
had defeated the move. But, as has previously appeared, Ten-
nessee gave her majority vote for disunion in the June election,
and the East Tennesseeans now saw serious days ahead. Bitter-
ness was beginning to usurp the throne of reason in all parts
of the commonwealth, and threats of murder were beginning
to be heard. Rumor had it that Brownlow and Johnson were
marked for the slaughter, and so seriously was it regarded that
the Parson made a special effort to have Johnson warned of
his danger. He sent one of his sons to rescue the East Tennessee
Senator from a trap, and shortly thereafter, about the middle
of June, the Union leaders, concluding that Johnson was in
danger as long as he remained in Tennessee, spirited him out
by way of the Cumberland Gap.* The Union cause in Tennessee
was now in the hands of Brownlow and his associates. Johnson
could be of greater aid in Washington; Brownlow could best
do his work by remaining in Tennessee.

As soon as it was evident that disunion had prevailed in Ten-
nessee, T. A. R. Nelson, the continuing president of the ad-
journed Knoxville Convention, called upon his East Tennessee-
ans to reassemble on June 17 in Greeneville. East Tennessee
was in no mood to submit to disunion, and the second session
of the Convention would decide upon what should be done next.
The delegates first assembled in the Greene County courthouse,
held the morning session of the second day out under the trees,
and adjourned to the Greeneville College auditorium for the
remaining meetings. The Convention lasted four days. Thirty
East Tennessee counties were represented, but the total number
of delegates was not as great as in the Knoxville session. Brown-
low was one of the Knox County delegates and at the same time
increased his power and importance by representing Marion
County in the guise of an “alternate.” Each meeting was opened
with prayer, but the Parson as a politician seems to have eclipsed
his clerical attainments, for he was not given the chance to call
down the vengeance of the Lord upon the enemy at any time

* Winston, op. cit., p. 196; Milton, op. cit., p. 107.
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during the Convention. The powerful Business Committee, the
Directory of East Tennessee, retained the same membership
which it had had at Knoxville. Brownlow thus continued to oc-
cupy a position of great importance. After three days of im-
passioned oratory by the convention, the Business Committee
reported on the last day its “Declaration of Grievances,” which
was in effect a declaration of independence. It provided for three
commissioners to be appointed to go before the Tennessee leg-
islature to ask for separate statehood, and it called for an election
to choose delegates to go to another convention which should
meet soon at Kingsport. This report was adopted, but not with-
out some dissent. T'wenty thousand copies of the proceedings of
the convention were ordered to be printed and distributed.?

A remarkable situation had here developed. An historic issue
had come to a head in the most distressing circumstances. East
Tennessee had been conscious of her separateness from the sur-
rounding country even before the state had been formed. From
the beginning of the Watauga Association, down through the
fiasco of the State of Franklin and on, Fast Tennessee had felt
a social, economic, and geographical completeness which never
entirely gave up the hope for separate statehood. During the
1840’s Brownlow was pursuing this idea with a vigor suggestive
of a religious quarrel. In 1842 he was arguing that the time had
come to cease paying tribute to Middle Tennessee. A meeting
was held at Jonesboro to consider forming a new state which
would be somewhat increased in size by the annexations of parts
of North Carolina and Virginia. The next year a bill was in-
troduced in the legislature for this purpose.® The example of
the western Virginia movement was now before the eyes of the
East Tennesseeans, and, indeed, on the very day the Greeneville
session began, the Wheeling convention declared the independ-
ence of western Virginia from the Old Dominion. Being less
advantageously situated for so bold a course and being weaker,
the East Tennesseeans were contented with an appeal to the
Tennessee legislature for what the western Virginians violently

¥ Official Records, ser. I, vol. LII, pt. 1, pp. 168-77.
¢ Jonesboro Whig, December 20, 1843.
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seized. Yet in the Greeneville Convention there was a strong move
to declare independence, set up a provisional government, and
raise an army. As it was, this convention had assumed an atti-
tude and usurped powers that came close on the heels of treason,
for its assumption of the right to order elections and otherwise
to control the people of East Tennessee could not be regarded in
any other light. The serious intentions of this convention were
either not known to the state and Confederate authorities or
they were lightly regarded, for Southern soldiers passing
through Greeneville for Virginia looked upon the convention
as a ridiculous performance.”

The committee appointed to beg statehood at the hands of
the legislature quickly performed its task. But the Tennessee
legislature now had much more important work to do than to
commit mayhem upon itself and to cut the jugular vein of the
Confederacy. The petition was disposed of in short order. East
Tennessee was the most strategic region in all the South, for
it was through this region that the armies in Virginia would
maintain quick communication with all the South and South-
west from the Savannah to the Mississippi and beyond. That
both the East Tennesseeans and the Confederacy knew this
fact was soon to be amply evident.

With Tennessee out of the Union and a member of the Con-
federacy, Brownlow now entered upon a campaign of withering
denunciation so wild and abandoned that it is one of the minor
miracles of history that he was permitted to continue so long.
He was not the only Union leader in East Tennessee boldly to
keep up the fight against the accomplished fact, but he was
incomparably the most open and spectacular in his language.
His strength was not in oratory and speechmaking but in the
printed page of his Knoxville Whig. When he began his bold
fight against secession soon after Lincoln’s election, he began
to lose many of his subscribers who were outraged by his lan-
guage, but in that very picturesqueness of language he was
appealing to many other people, and according to his claim
he was making a net gain of two hundred subscribers a week.

" Humes, op. cil., pp. 115-19; Hale and Merritt, op. cit., p. 590.
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Before a long-suffering government put a stop to his wild course,
he had accumulated fourteen thousand subscribers and was for
the first time in his life approaching the doors of wealth.®
Just before the plebiscite of June 8, Brownlow, in defending
the right to fly a United States flag which he had hoisted over
his home in February, declared that if the state should vote
herself out of the Union “then we should have to come down,
and bring our flag with us, bowing to the will of the majority
with the best grace we could.” He had been put to as much
trouble in protecting his flag as in defending his principles of
Unionism. His neighbors had troubled him much about his flag,
and when troops began coming through Knoxville on their way
to Virginia they were induced to tease the Parson. He would
come out of his house, shake his fist at his tormentors, bandy
words with them, and make mock bows to them. Once his twenty-
three-year-old daughter Susan confronted with a revolver two
would-be flag-snatchers and forced them to retreat. The tale
was later embellished by saying that the two men came back with
ninety reénforcements but the doughty daughter held the fort
against all comers.’ The Parson blamed the whole trouble upon
his Knoxville enemies, who afraid to confront him, had induced
these “strangers, under the influence of whiskey, to do a dirty
and villainous work they have the meanness to do, without the
courage.” Against them he poured out a tirade of abuse:

If these God-forsaken scoundrels and hell-deserving assassins
want satisfaction out of me for what I have said about them,—
and that has been no little,—they can find me on these streets every
day of my life but Sunday. I am at all times prepared to give them
satisfaction. I take back nothing I have ever said against the cor-
rupt and unprincipled villains, but reiterate all, cast it in their
dastardly faces, and hurl down their lying throats their own in-
famous calumnies.'

The Parson’s flag may have been furled after June 8, but

8 Parson Brownlow’s Book, p. 100; Temple, op. cit., p. 276.

® Frank Moore, op. cit., 1, 109; Portrait and Biography, p. 50. The defense of
the flag was later written into a highly imaginative propaganda pamphlet
featuring the Parson’s daughter. See pp. 244-45 of this book.

* Knoxville Whig, May 25, 1861, quoted in Parson Brownlow's Book, p. 57.
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he forgot to submit to the will of the majority as he repeatedly
promised he would do. No one was too high or none too low to
escape his poisoned arrows. Former associates turned Con-
federate he especially loathed. “Men change in a night,” he
declared. Furthermore,

Men rise up and dress as Union men, and turn Secessionists be-
fore breakfast is over. . . . The malady is short; the disease runs
its course in twenty-four hours, and the patient heads a committee
to order better men than himself to leave the State in a given
time. He believes every lie he hears, and swears to the truth of
every lie he tells. He drinks mean whiskey, and associates with men
whom the day before he would have scorned. The disease is con-
tagious, and a clever man will contract it by drinking mean whis-
key out of the same tumbler with one afflicted with it."

He did not attack merely through generalities; he called
names and labelled them, high and low in Confederate and state
offices. General W. H. Carroll, was a “walking groggery”; at
one time John H. Crozier was “a goggle-eyed little scoundrel”
and at another “the most unmitigated scoundrel in Knoxville”;
J. C. Ramsey, the Confederate States District Attorney, and
the son of “the vain old historian of Tennessee,” was a “corrupt
scoundrel and most unprincipled knave”; W. G. Swan was a
member of a “villainous clique”; and W. G. McAdoo was one
of the “most intense Southern patriots” of the cowardly va-
riety.** The editor of the Knoxville Register was “a man of bad
morals, bad associations, and the tool of the worst class of men
in Knoxville.”*® A month after Tennessee had become a member
of the Southern Confederacy, Brownlow characterized the lead-
ers of the new nation as the real traitors, naming Yancey, Rhett,
Toombs, Pryor, Davis, Keitt, Iverson, Wise, Mason, Wigfall,
Breckinridge, and Lane. He boldly declared, “If there are any
men in this country who deserve the doom of traitors, it is these
authors of our national calamities,” and he predicted that if the

' Knoxville Whig, July 6, 1861, quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book, pp. 147-48.
12 Parson Brownlow’s Book, pp. 295, 304-5, 360-61.
® Ibid., p. 215.
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war lasted from three to five years they would all be fugitives
in foreign countries.™

With reckless abandon he fell upon the head of the Con-
federacy:

I have been expected to state in every issue of my paper, that
the mantle of Washington sits well on Jeff Davis! This would be
a funny publication. The bow of Ulysses in the hands of a pigmy!
The robes of the giant adorning Tom Thumb! The curls of a
Hyperion on the brow of a Satyr! The Aurora Borealis of a cot-
ton farm melting down the icy North! This would be to metamor-
phose a minnow into a WHALE "®

The Parson received in October, 1861, a package containing
about half a yard of brown cloth which he felt sure was innocu-
lated with smallpox. “Handling it with tongs” he took it out in
the yard of his printing-office and burned it, and then wrote
an editorial denouncing his would-be assassin, and declaring
that this “attempt at our death, by the planting of a masked
battery manned by the iniquitous spirit of Secession, entitles the
cowardly villain who did it, to the honor of being picketed in
the deepest gorge leading to hell !¢

The first wave of enthusiasm for volunteering soon spent
itself both North and South, when once the bloody business of
war had set in. The Parson noted the slackening zeal of the
Knoxville warriors who continued to fight with words only. He
taunted them with as much satanic glee and irony about their
holding back from the army as ever a small boy teased a play-
mate.’” In fact if Brownlow had been planning a campaign of
martyrdom for himself and his paper he could not have done
better than to follow the course he had taken since Tennessee
left the Union. He did not call directly for rebellion against the
Rebellion, but he kept up a bombardment against the Confed-
eracy which could point to no other conclusion if it were allowed

* Knozville Whig, July 6, 1861, quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book, pp. 148-49.

* Knozville Whig, June 29, 1861, quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book, p. 119.

** Parson Brownlow's Book, p. 136.

 Knoaville Whig, October 12, 1861, quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book, pp.
245-49.
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to continue. He published in his paper time after time the ac-
counts of Confederate tyrannies, including the arrests of peo-
ple even for praying for the president of the United States. To
live in the Confederacy under such conditions, he declared, “is
literally to live in hell!’® and “Wrongs less wanton and out-
rageous precipitated the French Revolution.”**

Brownlow’s continuous agitation against the South had pro-
duced in East Tennessee a dangerous situation. All the elements
were present for a rebellion against the Confederacy here. The
Greeneville Convention, not dead but only adjourned, afforded
a rallying point for the organization of a Lincoln government
in the most strategic and vulnerable part of the Confederacy.
Open military rebellion had not broken out yet, but political
rebellion actually existed, for the East Tennesseeans refused
by their actions in the August 1 election to recognize the Con-
federacy. Indeed, it was an intolerable situation: This was the
occasion for the election of the governor, the legislature, and the
delegation to the Confederate Congress. The three congressional
districts in East Tennessee elected Unionists to represent them
in the Congress at Washington. Horace Maynard, one of the
Unionists, made his escape by way of Cumberland Gap and
Kentucky and was present to claim his seat when Congress as-
sembled in December; T. A. R. Nelson, the president of East
Tennessee by virtue of his presidency of the adjourned Greene-
ville Convention, attempted to slip away to Washington
through Southwest Virginia, but he was arrested in the early
part of August near Abingdon and was pardoned by President
Davis on his promise to submit as a citizen of Tennessee to the
Confederate Government; and George W. Bridges, the third
of the East Tennessee incorruptibles, ultimately made his way
to Washington, where he took his seat only six days before the
term for which he was elected expired. An anomalous situation
thus existed ; a part of the Confederacy had elected representa-
tives to the law-making body of a foreign country, and those

* Knowxville Whig, June 29, 1861, quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book, p. 139.

® Knoaville Whig, October 26, 1861, quoted in Official Records, ser. 11, vol. 1,
p. 914,
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representatives were seated. And at the same time, this same
region was represented in the Confederate Congress.*

If East Tennessee should slip from the control of the Con-
federacy, the power of this new government would be vitally
impaired. In early July, General Leonidas Polk telegraphed
to Richmond warning the government that no time should be
lost in dealing with East Tennessee, although at that time there
were 2,000 soldiers there. He declared that 10,000 ought to be
sent at once, that a department ought to be created, including
East Tennessee and portions of North Carolina and Georgia,
and he recommended the appointment of Felix K. Zollicoffer
to command it. Secretary of War Walker immediately ordered
Governor Harris to send two Tennessee regiments to Jonesboro
or Haynesville. By August 20 three more regiments, two from
Mississippi and one from Alabama, had been ordered into East
Tennessee. Disquieting reports were streaming out of this
region, and it seemed a near panic was on among the Confederate
authorities there. By December 9, East Tennessee had become
a field of major interest for the Confederacy, engaging the
energy and anxiety of the Richmond officials and requiring the
presence of 11,000 infantry, cavalry, and artillery which were
badly needed elsewhere. General Zollicoffer was placed in com-
mand in July and shortly thereafter he issued an order com-
manding his troops to cultivate the good will of the East Ten-
nesseeans and strictly enjoining upon them “the most scrupu-
lous regard for the personal and property rights of all the in-
habitants.” He also warned his soldiers to refrain from alarming
or irritating those who had been Unionists but had now sub-
mitted to the authority of the Confederacy.?

The Parson thought as well of Zollicoffer as he could of any
person who was so deluded as to join the Confederacy, but he
had words of bitterness for the Confederate occupation of East
Tennessee and for the soldiers who carried it out. He let it be

® Humes, op. cit., pp. 126-29; Temple, op. cit., p. 110; Official Records, ser.
11, vol. I, pp. 825-27. A. I. Clements, of the Fourth Congressional District, claimed
election to Washington, and was seated therc January 13, 1862.

2 Official Records, ser. 1, vol, VII, p. 751; ser. II, vol. I, pp. 827-32.
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known that the presence of soldiers in Knoxville would not cause
him to change the tone of his newspaper. “I shall continue to
denounce secession and all concerned in it,” he declared, “though
all the allied powers of hell and the Confederacy be quartered
at my doors. Come what may, through weal or woe, in peace or
war, no earthly power shall keep me from denouncing the ene-
mies of my country until my tongue and pen shall be paralyzed
in death. I covet no higher honor than to die in such a holy
cause, and your brutal soldiery, therefore has no terrors for
me.”*? He charged the Confederate soldiers with being the riff-
raff of the country and claimed that not a few of them had joined
the army “to get rid of their wives and children.””® They were
either a deluded or a vicious pack. “Ask one of them what rights
he had lost and was so vehemently contending for,” said Brown-
low, “and the reply would be, the right to carry his negroes into
the Territories. At the same time, the man never owned a negro
in his life, and never was related, by consanguinity or affinity,
to any one who did own a negro!”?* He had a special antipathy
for the soldiers from the Cotton South. He held that many of
them who came through East Tennessee were “vagabonds and
wharft-rats from New Orleans, Mobile, and Texas . . . brimfull
of prejudice against me and my paper.”®

With such opinions of the Southern soldiery and with such
opinions boldly expressed, the Parson should not have been
surprised to have the same low opinions reciprocated. Soldiers
occasionally jeered at him and made life miserable for him in
as many ways as they could think of. He claimed that his enemies
in East Tennessee incited them against him, and that when the
meanest of these deluded grey-coats arrived in Knoxville they
would visit the whiskey shops and then “swarm around my print-
ing office and dwelling-house, howl like wolves, swear oaths that
would blister the lips of a sailor, blackguard my family, and
threaten to demolish my house, and even to hang me.””*® Troops

2 «Righting Parson Brownlow of Tennessee,” by J. W. B,, in Chicago Tribune,
August 25, 1895.

2 Parson Brownlow's Book, p. 273.

* Ibid., pp. 273-74. * Ibid., p. 271,

* Ibid., pp. 277-18.
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passed his house daily “flourishing their knives, pointing their
guns at the windows, and threatening to take my life.”*"
President T. A. R. Nelson, of the Greeneville Convention and
Congressman-elect to Washington, might bow his knee to Pres-
ident Jefferson Davis and his Confederate army, but Parson
Brownlow would become more determined in his opposition, ir-
respective of whether the soft hand or the mailed fist were ex-
tended. With the coming of Zollicoffer to Knoxville the Con-
federacy had taken an extremely liberal and friendly attitude
toward the people, in view of the political rebellion the Union-
ists had raised and especially in view of the extreme importance
of East Tennessee to the strategy of the Confederacy. But the
Parson and his followers had evidently assumed that liberality
meant weakness, so President Davis sought to do the only logical
thing left to him. He issued a proclamation calling upon all
East Tennesseeans to swear allegiance to the Confederacy or to
depart by October, 1861.* This proclamation the Parson ig-
nored, since he neither departed nor swore allegiance to the Con-
federacy. On November 6, the election of a president and vice
president for the Confederacy was held, but so well had Brown-
low trained his East Tennesseeans that they ignored the whole
procedure, the sheriffs not even deigning to open the polls.?

The irreconciliable attitude of Brownlow and other East
Tennesseeans was not due entirely to an unreasoning fatuity;
they had cause to believe that their precarious position was be-
ing well considered in the North. One of the principal reasons
why Andrew Johnson had fled in June was to provide sinews of
war for East Tennessee and to set in motion an army of rescue.
In Washington he would have the ear of Lincoln and of high
army officers. But East Tennessee was not as accessible to North-
ern succor as was western Virginia, and while help was pre-
paring, the East Tennesseeans were left to their own devices.

When Tennessee passed out of the Union and into the Con-
federacy, there was a considerable movement of East Tennes-

# Ibid., p. 279.
® Official Records, ser. 1, vol. VII, p. 722; ser. 11, vol. I, p. 850,
* Portrait and Biography, p. 51.
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seeans through Cumberland Gap into Kentucky. Here they ex-
pected to build themselves into an avenging army, to rescue their
homes when they should become strong enough. They felt a par-
ticular friendliness for Kentuckians, who had at this time
adopted a position of neutrality, and through this very situation
they expected not only the active support of Kentucky in their
fight to recover East Tennessee but they had the promise of aid
from the United States Government. William Nelson, encour-
aged and incited by President Lincoln, set up a training camp
at Camp Dick Robinson on the edge of the eastern Kentucky
mountains, defending himself with lame reasons against the
charge that this was a breach of Kentucky neutrality, and here
at least 2,000 Tennesseeans came together during the summer
and fall. They trickled through the mountain passes, principally
Cumberland Gap, until the Confederate troops barred it. In early
November it was reported that from 20 to 100 Tennesseeans a
day were emerging on the Kentucky side. They were training and
arming and impatiently awaiting the day to march back to res-
cue their homes and expel the Confederates. Rumors were con-
tinually flying through East Tennessee that the army of rescue
was on the march.*

There were other East Tennesseeans who determined to re-
main in their homes and defend them. They early began secretly
organizing, arming, and training; and some of them were not
opposed to taking the offensive in open violence, as was demon-
strated as early as the latter part of April when Unionists cut
down the telegraph wires in Knox and Roane counties.®’ Almost
every county in East Tennessee had its companies of Union
men who were drilling in the mountain coves and out-of-the-way
places, awaiting the day when they might join an army of de-
liverance. There was much excitement among the scattered Con-
federate forces, who expected to be ambushed at any time. Dis-
turbing reports were coming in of groups of Union soldiers
leaving for Kentucky to join the army shortly to enter East

* Official Records, ser. 11, vol. I, pp. 833-37; Humes, op. cit., pp. 325-27;
Parson Brownlow’s Book, p. 264.

“ Knowville Whig, April 27, 1861. Brownlow and other Union leaders depre-
cated such actions on the part of their followers.
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Tennessee. W. G. Swan declared that these scattered Union
forces had a secret system of communication and that on the
shortest notice they could join forces. He declared that 1,000
recently flew to arms on an alarm which turned out to be false.
Landon C. Haynes, soon to be elected to the Confederate Sen-
ate, wrote Secretary of War Walker that military rebellion was
flaring up in East Tennessee, that there were 10,000 Union men
armed with rifles and shotguns, and that Brownlow had declared
that civil war was inevitable.?2

There can be no doubt that East Tennessee was on the verge
of an explosion, for the vast majority of the people, whipped
into a fury by Brownlow and others, were inexorably opposed
to submitting to Confederate rule. If they had not been cut
off from Federal aid by mountains on all sides the major opera-
tions of the Civil War might have begun in the heart of the
Confederacy rather than on the fringe. Bold efforts were made
to run ammunition and guns into East Tennessee, and occasion-
ally they were successful as on November 11 when the Fed-
erals in Kentucky sent in 45 pounds of rifle powder, 50 pounds
of lead, and 20 boxes of rifle caps.® It was undoubtedly dis-
couraging to be Unionists in East Tennessee, where the people
were forced to live mostly on hopes, yet the tradition persists
that the First Congressional District embracing this section of
the State, sent a bigger proportion of its population into the
Union army than any other district in the entire country.®*

That East Tennessee did not become a battlefield until the
latter part of 1863 was no fault of the East Tennesseeans. Plans
were early being devised by the Washington authorities for seiz-
ing East Tennessee as one of the first great objectives of the
Federal armies. Andrew Johnson had gone to Washington in
June to lay such plans before meoln and the army leaders.
East Tennessec’s struggle for the Union was made to scem
even more heroic than it actually was, and thus was a great deal
of sentiment injected into the movement. Strategic reasons were
well considered and found to be highly compelling. Two great

* Official Records, ser. I1, vol. T, pp. 828-37; Temple, op. cit., p. 10L.
* Official Records, ser. 11, vol. 1, pp. 889-90.
% Price, op. cit., 111, 322.
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army movements could be made to impinge on this region. Mc-
Clellan’s operations against Richmond could be greatly helped
by creating a diversion in East Tennessee; and General Buell’s
armies which were forming in Kentucky should make this region
their definite objective. Thus would the East Tennessee fugi-
tives camping on the edges of the mountains become part of a
mighty army of deliverance. The whole conception was grand
and it appealed with vast force to the minds of Lincoln and Me-
Clellan. Thus was sentiment, politics, and strategy mixed up in
a grand scheme.

The East Tennessee leaders were cognizant of these plans,
and this information was largely responsible for the military
units which were training and hiding throughout the regions,
awaiting the day when they would join the grand deliverance.
On November 7, 1861, General McClellan wrote General Buell:
“It therefore seems proper that you should remain on the de-
fensive on the line from Louisville to Nashville while you throw
the mass of your forces by rapid marches by Cumberland Gap
or Walker’s Gap on Knoxville in order to occupy the railroad
at that point and thus enable the loyal citizens of Eastern Ten-
nessee to rise while you at the same time cut off the railway com-
munication between Eastern Virginia and the Mississippi.”?®
In preparation for this grand entry the East Tennessee leaders
now decided to execute a stroke at the Confederacy which they
had long had in mind and which the Confederacy had long feared.
If the idea did not originate with Parson Brownlow, it was at
least first prominently set forth by him. All the railway bridges
in East Tennessee from the Georgia line to Virginia should be
destroyed. On May 25, 1861, the Parson published in the Knoz-
ville Whig, in answer to a rumor that he and other Union lead-
ers were to be arrested and taken out of the state, this plan of
action:

Let the railroad on which Union citizens of East Tennessee are
conveyed to Montgomery in irons be eternally and hopelessly

destroyed! Let the property of the men concerned be consumed,
and let their lives pay the forfeit, and the names will be given!

* Official Records, ser. I1, vol. 1, p. 891.
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Let the fires of patriotic vengeance be built upon the Union altars
of the whole land, and let them go out where these conspirators
live, like the fires from the Lord, that consumed Nadab and Abihu,
the two sons of Aaron, for presumption less sacrilegious! If we
are incarcerated at Montgomery, or executed there or even else-
where, all the consolation we want is to know that our partisan
friends have visited upon our persecutors — certain Secession
leaders—a most horrible vengeance! Let it be done, East Ten-
nesseeans, though the gates of hell be forced and the heavens be
made to fall 38

The Greeneville Convention, on June 20, called attention to
this weapon that East Tennessee held in her hands. Although
East Tennesseeans had not interposed obstacles to soldiers pass-
ing through “our territory,” and although they objected to
violence to the railroads, “yet if the grievous wrongs inflicted
by some of the troops are not stopped, we warn all persons con-
cerned, including the officers of said roads, that there is a point
at which a population of 800,000 people, outraged, insulted, and
trampled upon, cannot be and ought not to he restrained.”®?

The Confederate authorities were thus amply warned of the
possibility of this disaster happening to their communications
through East Tennessee, and to ward it off they set guards at
all the important railway bridges. But the guards were entirely
too small to beat off a determined attack by bridge-burners;
and sensing the imminent danger Landon C. Haynes on July
6 wrote Secretary of War Walker his expectation of hearing
at any time that the bridges had been destroyed.®®

Brownlow was one of the most cunning men in all the land;
he was no bridge-burner. But he could arouse a state of mind
in East Tennessee which would breed bridge-burners aplenty.
So he was not found among those who planned and executed
the bridge-burning. In September, William Blount Carter went
to Washington to present the plan to the United States Gov-
ernment. He saw Lincoln, McClellan, and Seward and they all
agreed that the bridges should be fired preparatory to the in-

T Quoteti in Parson Brownlow’s Book, p. 300.
¥ Official Records, ser. 1, vol. LII, pt. I, p. 177.
* Ibid., ser. 11, vol. 1, p. 824.
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vasion of Buell’s army.? In the latter part of September Gen-
eral George H. Thomas, in Kentucky, wrote General McClellan
that he had seen Carter and that he was convinced that the
bridges could be destroyed. It would take some money and he
thought the Government should provide it. Quick preparations
were now put under way. Captain David Fry was given $1,000
and ordered to enter East Tennessee to enlist the bridge-burn-
ing forces.*

On November 6 the Confederate presidential elections were
held. Maddened by this make-believe performance, East Ten-
nesseeans spurned the whole procedure; but two days later,
on the night of the 8th, they gave their answer to the Confeder-
ate Government. Five important railway bridges blazed forth
and left a trail of ashes and charred remains. This was their
reply to the “bogus Confederacy,” and a signal to the Union
armies to march in. Two bridges had been burned on the Western
and Atlantic Railroad, one on the East Tennessee and Georgia,
which ran from Chattanooga to Knoxville, and two on the East
Tennessee and Virginia, which ran from Knoxville to Bristol.
It seemed now that the Jong-feared explosion had come. On No-
vember 11, Colonel W. B. Wood said “The whole country is
now in a state of rebellion,” and a Jonesboro resident wrote
President Davis, “Civil war has broken out at length in East
Tennessee.” A precarious situation was reported: A thousand
armed Unionists were within six miles of the Strawberry Plains
bridge; 500 Unionists had left Hamilton County presumably
to attack Loudon Bridge; 300 men were encamped in Sevier
County ; great Union concentrations were in progress in Carter
and Johnson counties; an encampment was forming at Eliza-
bethton ; and so came rumors and reports from all parts of East
Tennessee. It was feared that these forces were preparing to
burn the remaining bridges; it was known that they expected
to welcome a Federal army from Kentucky, and that they were
cutting the telegraph wires as fast as they could be repaired.
On November 12, Governor Harris wrote President Davis that

* Temple, op. cit., p. 99.

“ Official Records, ser. I1, vol. I, pp. 889-90; Congressional Globe, 41st Cong.,
2nd sess., 1, 139; 41st Cong., 3rd sess,, I, 598,
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he was sending into East Tennessee immediately 10,000 troops,
and at the same time he requested reénforcements from the Con-
federacy.*

Quick steps were taken. Troops were sent out in all directions
to break up the Union forces and to arrest their leaders. On
November 18, a force of 300 rebellious Unionists was dis-
persed and thirty prisoners were captured. General Zollicoffer,
who had heretofore pursued a policy of kindness in East Ten-
nessee, now realized that his confidence had been misplaced,
and that the Unionist leaders were guilty of treachery. He or-
dered the immediate disarming of all Unionists and the seizure
of the chief trouble-makers. “The leniency shown them has been
unavailing,” he declared. “They have acted with base duplicity
and should no longer be trusted.”*

In order to stamp out future trouble the Confederacy now
felt it necessary to treat the East Tennesseeans with the sus-
picion and harshness that war always imposes upon those who
have it within their power to hinder victory. Squads of soldiers
were sent out into every district to break up Unionist gatherings,
to disarm the populace, and to arrest the leaders. Squads were
also sent out to enforce contracts for hogs and cattle, which
Unionists had made with the Confederacy but were now slow to
fulfill. On December 11, General Carroll declared martial law
in Knoxville. This action greatly displeased Brownlow, who
later wrote, “Every little upstart of an officer in command at
a village or cross-roads would proclaim martial law, and require
all going beyond, or coming within, his lines to show a pass, like
some negro slave.”** This campaign of pacification seems to have
been carried out with too much vigor, for in the latter part of
December Captain G. H. Monsarrat, commanding the post at
Knoxville, wrote Judah P. Benjamin, who had now succeeded
L. P. Walker as Secretary of War, that maruding bands of
armed men, who claimed to be agents of the Confederate Gov-
ernment, were impressing men into the service, threatening
them with imprisonment as Unionists unless they volunteered,

% Official Records, ser. T1, vol. I, pp. 838-13. “ Ibid., pp. 842-13.
* Official Records, ser, 11, vol. 1, p. 855; Parson Brownlow's Book, p. 316.
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seizing their horses, and forcing the care of themselves and their
horses upon the people without pay. He also charged that they
“Plunder the helpless, and especially quondam supporters of
Johnson, Maynard, and Brownlow.”*

John Baxter, an erstwhile Unionist now acquiescing in the
Confederate rule, called upon Secretary Benjamin to treat the
people with more leniency, believing that as a result of such a
course he would find the East Tennesseeans more amenable to
Confederate supremacy. But Benjamin had determined that
those who were guilty of crimes should be punished and especial-
ly should the bridge-burners be made to suffer. Great numbers
of people were arrested and brought into Knoxville and Nash-
ville which served as clearing stations. By November 26, sev-
enty people were in jail in Knoxville, many of whom were
believed to be mixed up with the bridge-burning business. Feel-
ing that the mass of the people had been deluded by their wily
leaders, Benjamin ordered all the lesser prisoners to be released
upon their taking the oath to support the Confederacy, but
the important agitators should be held for high treason. The
bridge-burners were a class unto themselves and should be dealt
with summarily. He ordered them to be tried by drum-head
court martial and if found guilty to be “executed on the spot by
hanging,” and their bodies left dangling in the air as a warning.
The trial was set for November 28, and on the 80th two were
hanged. C. A. Haun, another bridge-burner, was sentenced to
be executed on December 11, but before carrying out the
sentence, General W. H. Carroll telegraphed to Secretary
Benjamin for the President’s approval, which he believed was
required. Benjamin replied: “Execute the sentence of your
court-martial on the bridge-burners. The law does not require
any approval by the President, but he entirely approves my
order to hang every bridge-burner you can catch and convict.”*

Brownlow bitterly condemned this execution, claiming that
Haun had been condemned “without any defence allowed him
by a drum-head and whiskey-drinking court-martial.” “They

“ Official Records, ser. 1, vol. VII, pp. 704, 803-4.
 Ibid., p. 126; ser. 11, vol. I, p. 848.
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One of the Parson’s “Rebel atrocities.” This represents the hanging of two of the
bridge-burners, Jacob Harmon and his son, Henry. From Brownlow’s Sketches of the
Rise, Progress, and Decline of Secession.
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drove up a cart with a coffin in it,” he said, “surrounded by a
hardened set of Rebel troops, displaying their bayonets and
looking and talking savagely.”*®

On December 27, Harrison Self, another convicted bridge-
burner, was notified that he would be hanged at four o’clock
that day. His daughter came to visit him, and Brownlow, who
was present, exclaimed “My God, what a sight! What an af-
fecting scene! May these eyes of mine, bathed in tears, never
look upon the like again !’ He seized a piece of paper and wrote
for the girl to President Davis: “My father, Harrison Self, is
sentenced to hang at four o’clock this evening, on a charge of
bridge-burning. As he remains my earthly all, and all my hopes
of happiness centre in him, I implore you to pardon him. ELIZ-
ABETH SELF.” The girl hastened to the telegraph office and
had it dispatched to Davis. Two hours before the date set for
the execution General Carroll was ordered to spare his life.*”

Thus could the Confederacy show leniency as well as vigor
in dealing with its rebellious East Tennesseeans. The bridge-
burners had been guilty of a most hazardous undertaking which,
according to the usages of war, subjected them to the extreme
penalty. The Confederacy could not in a matter of such trans-
cendent importance to its very existence do less than was done.

While the bridge-burners were being dealt stern punishment,
many other East Tennesseeans were being either set at liberty
or sent on their way to Tuscaloosa, Alabama, where the Confed-
eracy had decided to incarcerate many of its political prisoners.
A carload of prisoners left Knoxville for Tuscaloosa on Decem-
ber 7, but four days later there were still 150 in the jail. By
the 19th more than 400 prisoners from East Tennessee had
been sent to Tuscaloosa.*®

Some Confederates believed that too harsh a policy had been
adopted toward the East Tennesseeans following their abortive
uprising in November, while others held that the East Tennes-
seeans by their duplicity had left no other course open. It was

“ Parson Brownlow’s Book, pp. 312-13.
* I'bid., pp. 326-27.
8 Official Records, ser. 11, vol. I, pp. 748, 759-60, 777-79, 858,
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a fact which no one could dispute that a heritage of hatred for
the Confederate element was burned into the hearts of the East
Tennesseeans, a heritage which Parson Brownlow a few years
afterwards was to capitalize to the fullest extent.

The East Tennesseeans were not wholly to blame for the evil
days that befell them after the bridge-burning rebellion. High
hopes had been held out to them by their leaders at home who
in turn gathered their enthusiastic vision of the near future
from the highest leaders of the nation. The army of deliverance
never came, because it never set out; and it never made the at-
tempt, because of divided counsel. Thus were the East Ten-
nesseeans, 11l organized and poorly armed, left to certain con-
quest by the Confederates. It appeared that the Federal Gov-
ernment had merely led them into a trap. Any other people less
obstinate and less blindly patriotic would have heard the siren
notes the Confederacy wafted forth, after a few months of
repression, and would have submitted.

But the East Tennesseeans were never told that the army of
rescue would not come, and perhaps in that fact lay their con-
tinued hope, and support of the Union. While dissensions pre-
vailed in the high councils of the nation, the East Tennessee
fugitives up in Kentucky were made almost desperate in their
desires to go to the rescue of their homes and families. Andrew
Johnson was in Kentucky trying to prevail on General Thomas
to send the East Tennesseeans back even if no other troops
should go. In answer Thomas said, “If the Tennesseeans are
not content and must go then the risk of disaster will remain
with them.”*® Thomas continued adamant even in the face of
such reports as this: “The condition of affairs there is sad be-
yond description and if the loyal people who love and cling to
the Government are not soon relieved they will be lost.””*® Gen-
eral Thomas refused to make the attempt or to give his per-
mission to the East Tennesseeans to try to return, for the Con-
federates had laid hold of Cumberland Gap, and under Zolli-
coffer were soon to invade the state of Kentucky from that

* Ibid., ser. 11, vol. 1, p. 891.
¥ Ibid., p. 894. S. P. Carter to G. H. Thomas, November 24, 1861.
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vantage point. Yet Horace Maynard pessimistically wrote
Thomas on December 8:

You are still farther from East Tennessee than when I left you
nearly six weeks ago. There is shameful wrong somewhere; I have
not yet satisfied myself where. That movement so far has been
disgraceful to the country and to all concerned. I feel a sense of
personal degradation from my own connection with it greater than
any other part of my public actions. My heart bleeds for these
Tennessee troops.*

Where was the blame for the projected, but unaccomplished,
rescue of East Tennessee to be placed? Perhaps on the Cum-
berland Mountains first, and on General Buell secondly. The
inaccessibility of East Tennessee was never more impressive
than to an army seeking to enter across the Cumberland es-
carpment. Lincoln, who had set his heart on seizing East Ten-
nessee, was soon arguing for a military railroad to be built
from central Kentucky to Knoxville—thus would he gain en-
trance.”? General McClellan urged Buell time and again to
march on East Tennessee, where he would be received by warm
friendship, rather than to try to seize Nashville where he would
find a withering hostility. He should move to the aid of “the
noble Union men of Eastern Tennessee.” On November 25,
McClellan was still convinced that “political and strategical
considerations render a prompt movement in force on Eastern
Tennessee imperative.” Four days later he thought “we owe
it to our Union friends in Eastern Tennessee to protect them at
all hazards.” On into December and beyond he continued to
beg Buell to direct his march to East Tennessee. Andrew John-
son and Horace Maynard added their plea on December 7:
“Our people are oppressed and pursued as beasts of the forest.
The Government must come to our relief.”** On January 6, 1862
Abraham Lincoln added his voice to the chorus that went up

= Ibid., p. 898.

" He advocated this project in his message to Congress in December, 1861.
Congress discussed the subject but never acted. See J. D. Richardson, ed., 4
Compilation of the Messages and Papers of the Presidents, VI, 46.

® Official Records, ser, 11, vol. I, pp. 891-96.

™ Ibid., p. 898.
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to Buell on behalf of the East Tennesseeans: “My distress is
that our friends in East Tennessce are being hanged and driven
to dispair and even now I fear are thinking of taking rebel
arms for the sake of protection. In this we lose the most valuable
stake we have in the South.” Lincoln would not show to Johnson
and Maynard, Buell’s recent dispatch giving reasons for not
making the march, because “They would despair; possibly
resign to go and save their families somehow or die with them.”*

General Buell felt that an attempt on East Tennessee would
be wholly impracticable and that moreover he could best help
the East Tennesseeans by seizing Nashville. The country was
stripped of its provisions; it would take 3,000 wagons con-
stantly going to supply the army necessary to occupy and hold
East Tennessee. He declared in a letter to General McClellan,
January 13, 1862, in answer to a roseate plan someone had
advocated: “The plan of any colonel whoever he is for ending
the war by entering East Tennessee with his 5,000 men light—
that is with pack-mules and three batteries of artillery, &c.—
while the rest of the armies look on though it has some sensible
patent ideas is in the aggregate simply ridiculous.”*® Buell went
his way on to Nashville and left East Tennessee in the hands of
the Confederates, to continue so for almost two years.

To this low estate, then, had Brownlow’s teachings brought
East Tennessee. But how had the Parson himself fared in these
evil days from late October when the bridge-burners were in
the making, down through their trials, tribulations, and ex-
ecution, and on into the new year of death and destruction?
The answer comes next.

 Ibid., p. 900.
% Ibid., p. 901.



CHAPTER IX
IN JAIL AND OUT

Ir THERE WERE any limits to the freedom of the press in the
Confederacy, Brownlow had not been able to discover them.
As has amply appeared heretofore, he had since the beginning
of the secession troubles been pouring forth in his Knozville
Whig an unending and ever-mounting stream of vitriolic de-
nunciation of the Confederacy and of all the Confederates. If
he had been seeking martyrdom, it seemed he could have found
no better method, but the slowness with which the Confederacy
acted against him appeared to indicate that it considered his
desires to be martyrdom, and that it could displease him best
by letting him alone. But he had plenty of enemies in and about
Knoxville who made his lot as hard as possible and they could
always set soldiers to having their fun with the excitable Parson.

Nevertheless there seemed to be an end to the patience of
anybody who was forced to endure his attacks, and even the Con-
federacy could not go on forever ignoring the dangers he was
developing. With all this forebearance there might well have
been mixed a fear that an uprising among East Tennesseeans
would result if their chief leader should be seized. Perhaps, too,
the Confederacy had put too much faith in a voluntary com-
munication Brownlow had sent General Zollicoffer in which he
pledged himself to promote among the East Tennesseeans peace
and obedience to the constituted authorities of both the state and
the Confederacy.' Although the Confederacy did not suppress
Brownlow’s paper, certain enemies of his impeded its circulation
as much as possible. The Confederates by their forebearance were
undoubtedly consciously trying not to emulate the recent ex-

1 Qfficial Records, ser. I, vol. VII, p. 804.
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ample of the Federal Government in its suppression of the
Louisville Courier and the New Y ork Day Book.

Whether true or not, the rumor was soon afloat that Brownlow
would be indicted by a Confederate court in Nashville for trea-
sonable articles which had appeared in the Whig, and that he
was to be arrested immediately. At last his day of martyrdom
had come, or at least he would convince himself and his readers
that it had, so he decided that the final edition of his paper
would appear during the last week of October (1861). If the
Confederates would not suppress his paper, he would suppress
it himself by throwing the editor in his imagination into jail.
An excellent opportunity he would now have to commiserate
with himself in a last editorial, and to reproduce some of his
articles which he thought must be considered his most trea-
sonable ones. With a vivid imagination, he described the terrible
future that awaited him at the hands of the Confederacy. He
could likely escape it by signing a peace bond, but he would
refuse; he would even decline to allow fifty of his friends to post
a bond of $100,000 to secure his freedom—a procedure he was
sure they would attempt. Rather he would go to jail and he
was ready to start immediately. “Not only so,” he declared, “but
I am prepared to lie in solitary confinement until I waste away
because of imprisonment or die from old age.” Conscious of his
innocence he would “submit to imprisonment for life or die
at the end of a rope before I will make any humiliating conces-
sions to any power on earth.” Then forgetful of all that he had
said or done for the past six months, he paradoxically declared,
“I have discouraged rebellion publicly and privately. I have not
assumed a hostile attitude toward the civil or military authori-
ties of this new government.” He knew why he was about to be
arrested: The Confederacy wanted “to dry up, break down,
silence and destroy” the last Union paper in all the Confederacy
—the only paper that would tell the truth. He then continued
to praise his tenacity of principles, likening himself in his imag-
inary jail to John Rodgers at the stake, and intimating that his
heroic resignation even suggested that occasion in Biblical times
when the “infuriated mob cried out, ‘Crucify him! Crucify him
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He was proud of his position and of his principles and he would
leave them to his children as “a legacy far more valuable than
a princely fortune.” Louis XVI had been beheaded for crimes
less heinous than those committed by the Confederacy. With
thoughts of Lexington and Bunker Hill, he exchanged “with
proud satisfaction, the editorial chair and the sweet endearments
of home for a cell in the prison or the lot of an exile.”?

Thereupon the Parson began his vigil to await the coming
of his arresters, feeling doubtless that if the previous editions of
his paper had not warranted this expectation, this last one
would bring down vengeance upon him. The mountain had now
labored, but not even a mouse came forth. The Confederacy
most savagely left him alone, and there was none so high nor
none so low as to molest him except the ever-present soldiers who
now and then tormented him by cocking their pistols and point-
ing their bayonets at him, and making grimaces at him.

But Brownlow had bitter personal enemies in Knoxville, and
although the Confederate authorities at Richmond were showing
no disposition to arrest him, a private citizen might take ven-
geance upon him. And as the bitterness between Unionist and
Confederate increased, it was not too much to expect govern-
mental officials at Knoxville to secure his indictment and arrest.
In fact, unknown to Brownlow, John C. Ramsey, the Confed-
erate District Attorney for Tennessee, had planned to proceed
against him during the early part of November, but was unable
to do so on account of the failure of the court to meet.? In this
situation of uncertainty, Brownlow contemplated at one time
making an attempt to slip out through the Cumberlands and
make his way to Camp Dick Robinson, in Kentucky, but he
found the mountain passes guarded too well.*

As it was quite likely that he might become the center of a
dangerous disturbance at any time, without his own choosing,
he was prevailed upon by his friends to leave Knoxville. He

2 A copy of this editorial may be found in Official Records, ser. II, vol. I, pp.
912-14 and in Parson Brownlow’s Book, pp. 249-55.

® Official Records ser. 1, vol. VII, p. 744, J. C. Ramsey to J. P. Benjamin,
December 7, 1861,

* Temple, op. cit., p. 308.
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would not flee to secure his own safety, for his extreme pugnacity
had erased from his mind the fear of any man; but his presence
i Knoxville might involve the security of his family, and this
latter possibility Jed him on November 4 to mount a horse and
with James Cumming, a seventy-seven year old preacher, as a
companion, to ride away to the eastward into Blount and Sevier
counties, the greatest hotbeds of Unionism in East Tennessee.
Additional reasons he found in the opportunities that would be
afforded him to collect debts due him for his defunct Whig and
to attend the court in Maryville. On reaching Maryville, he
stopped at the home of Parson W. T. Dowell, and soon the
town showed hurried activities beyond anything called forth by
the meeting of a court. Brownlow became the center of Unionist
activities, and it was later reported that he had predicted the
capture of Knoxville soon by the oncoming Federal army. There
were undoubtedly great expectations in East Tennessee, for a
few days later, on November 6, the railway bridges were burned.
Immediately Brownlow was suspected of plotting the bridge-
burning, and for a time no report could be so lowly in its origin
as not to be believed. One such report which was dignified suffi-
ciently to be sent in to the Confederate District Attorney, J. C.
Ramsey, came from the hired girl of a Maryville family who
had got it from the hired girl in the Dowell family, as the two
met one day at the spring. The former, who belonged to the
Sesler family, innocently remarked after she had heard of the
bridge-burning, “La me! Phoebe Smith told me at the spring
last Wednesday that the bridges were to be burned Friday night,
but I didn’t believe it.” It turned out that Phoebe Smith had
been peeping through the keyhole and listening, and she had
seen and heard the two parsons talking about bridge-burning.®

Brownlow knew human nature well enough to realize that it
was time for him to retreat into the fastnesses of the mountains
to escape the wrath that would come down upon him. In com-
pany with other Unionists who feared Confederate vengeance,
he set out for the Great Smokies and entered their defiles “quite

8 Official Records, ser. 1, vol. VII, pp. 775-77, J. G. Wallace to J. C. Ramsey,
December 18, 1861; ser. I1, vol. I, p. 902.
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beyond the precincts of civilization.” They camped on high
ridges and in deep gorges “where no vehicle had ever pene-
trated.” They were fed by friends from Wear’s Cove, “and in the
meantime one of our party killed a fat bear, which supplied us
with meat.” These refugees wandered back into Wear’s Cove in
Sevier County and then southward across high ranges into
Tucaleechee Cove, in Blount County.® As there was constant
danger of so large a party being trapped by Confederate scouts,
they broke up into groups of two’s. The two parsons, Brownlow
and Dowell, rode to the home of a friend within six miles of
Knoxville and there entered into secret communication with
friends in the city.”

Brownlow was now in an uncomfortable position, for although
his hiding-place was not then known to the Confederate authori-
ties there was little doubt that he could be found if the scouting
parties should make a determined effort to seek him. In fact his
enemies declared that the soldiers could have easily found him.®
He knew that he was suspected of bridge-burning, and he should
have known that the circumstantial evidence was strongly
against him. It was, therefore, wise in him, while many of his
associates and acquaintances were being arrested for this crime,
to establish his own innocence. On November 22, from his hid-
ing-place he addressed a letter to General W. H. Carroll, and
had his friend John Williams deliver it. After describing the
circumstances of his recent flight from Knoxville and his reasons
for leaving, he declared his complete innocence of the bridge-
burning business. “As regards bridge-burning,” he declared,
“I never had any intimation of any such purpose from any quar-
ter at any time and when I heard of the burning of the bridges
on the Saturday night after it occurred I was utterly aston-
ished. I condemn the act most unqualifiedly and regard it as
an ill-timed measure caleulated to bring no good to any one or
any party but much harm to innocent men and to the public.

® The Independent, May 22, 1862; Parson Brownlow's Book, pp. 279-82.

"The Parson’s hiding place was in what is today one of the most inaccessible
parts of the Great Smoky Mountains National Park.

8 The Knoxville Register, December 13, 1861 said, “He could have been picked
up in three days at any time during his absence by a deputation of ten soldiers.”
Quoted in Official Records, ser. 11, vol. T, p. 925,



A scene from the Great Smokies of East Tennessee. It was in a region of this sort
that the Parson in 1861 took refuge from the Confederates. Copyrighted by Thomp-
sons, Inc., Knoxville, and used by permission.



“The Southern Loyalists’ Convention at Philadelphia—'Parson
Brownlow’ passing through the Ranks of the Northern Delegation,
in Independence Square.” “The old man, so weak that at intervals
he was compelled to stop and rest, passed down the entire line, greeted
by all with shouts of enthusiastic welcome.” From Harper’s Weekly,
September 22, 1866 (vol. X, no. 508, p. 598).
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Had a knowledge of any purpose to burn the bridges been com-
municated to me,” he continued, “I should have felt bound in
all honor and good conscience to disclose the fact to the chief
officers of the roads.” And he significantly added, “I am ready
and willing at any time to stand trial upon these or other points
before any civil tribunal; but I protest against being turned
over to any infuriated mob of armed men filled with prejudice
by my bitterest enemies.”®

Brownlow was at great pains to establish his innocence of the
bridge-burning charges. He with his two preacher friends,
James Cumming and W. T. Dowell, issued a statement and
swore to it before Solomon Farmer, a justice of the peace of
Blount County, denying the hired-gir] story about the bridge-
burning conference in Maryville and affirming that none of
them had communicated with the fugitives in Kentucky at any
time during the whole summer or fall. They swore that they had
never heard of the bridge-burning plot and that if they had “we
should have protested against it as an outrage.”® A few months
later, when Brownlow was safe among his friends, he said of
the bridge-burning, “I was not concerned in the matter, and
can’t say who did it. I thought to myself that the affair had
been most beautifully planned and executed, and enjoyed it
considerably in my quiet way.”*!

There now developed a conspiracy of circumstances which
were likely very materially shaped by Brownlow himself, and
which tended to throw the Confederacy into an uncomfortable
position, much to the advantage of the Parson. He began to
carry on with General Carroll, in Knoxville, negotiations for
surrendering himself, and at the same time some of his friends,
perhaps largely unknown to him, began conversations with
President Davis and Secretary of War Benjamin in Richmond.
There was not a complete interchange of information among the
army in Knoxville, the civil authorities in East Tennessee, and
the Confederate Government in Richmond, with the result that

® Ibid., pp. 902-3. In Parson Brownlow’s Book, pp. 262-83 the letter is neither
fully nor correctly quoted.

¥ Official Records, ser. 11, vol. 1, p. 905, December 2, 1861.

" Portrait and Biography, p. 53.
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it appeared that Brownlow was promised one thing by one au-
thority and something else by another. Since it had seemed in
Brownlow’s letter to Carroll that his chief desire was to secure
protection from the Confederate soldiers, and very likely clever-
ly to escape the trial by court-martial for bridge-burning which
the other suspects were to suffer, Carroll replied on November
28 that he would use his full force to protect all citizens loyal
to the Confederacy and that Brownlow could be assured that
he would meet with no personal violence in returning home. He
also added, “If you can establish what you say in your letter
of the 22d instant you shall have every opportunity to do so
before the civil tribunal if necessary provided you have com-
mitted no act that will make it necessary for the military law
to take cognizance.”*? It will be seen that this letter did not
preclude the possibility of the Parson’s arrest by the military
authorities, but it did definitely guarantee him against per-
sonal violence. He seemed to be promised the right to a civil
trial on the bridge-burning charges, which was a great victory
for him unless Carroll was as clever as the Parson in adding this
saving phrase, “provided you have committed no act that will
make it necessary for the military law to take cognizance.”

In answer Brownlow wrote Carroll on December 4 a letter
in which he enclosed two documents, viz: the affidavit denying
the hired-girl story and a long withering denunciation of his
chief enemies, whom he called by name. He began his denunci-
atory document by praising his two preacher companions-in-
exile, Cumming and Dowell, as a matter of contrast for what
should follow. Thereupon he assaulted the Confederacy, charg-
ing that it was “a bogus Government, that originated in fraud
and falsehood, perjury and theft.” He then came to the main
point in his letter: “I cannot feel safe in returning, for I am
not sure that your letter offers protection to me.” He had that
feeling because Carroll had said that loyal Confederate citizens
would be protected, and the Parson hereby disclaimed any
loyalty for the Confederacy for he recognized only the United
States Government. He was not bearing arms against the Con-

¥ Official Records, ser. 11, vol. I, pp. 903-4.



IN JAIL AND OUT 185
federacy; he was a neutral who wanted to be left alone “to the
quiet enjoyment of opinions I honestly entertain and cannot
conscientiously surrender.” Having thus declared his military
neutrality, he launched forth upon a verbal barrage with which
he hoped to annihilate his enemies. John H. Crozier was “a cor-
rupt demagogue, a selfish liar, and an unmitigated coward,”
who hated the Parson because he had been driven into private
life by him. J. C. Ramsey was a kinsman of Crozier’s and “but
a few degrees removed from an idiot.” W. H. Sneed was “corpu-
lent” and “swaggering,” and “a giant in his own estimation.”
“His eyelashes are nearly scorched off by alcoholic fire; and
nature, to keep up appearances, in a fit of desperation is substi-
tuting in their stead a binding of red, which looks like two little
rainbows hanging upon a storm, such as he often passes through
in the domestic circle!” He had recently been defeated in an
election and “Since then he has been travelling in search of his
rights, and swears that he will follow them on to the other side
of sundown!” The Parson expected this whole pack to take to
their heels as soon as the vanguard of the Federal army arrived.
“I may not be living,” he declared, “when a Federal army
enters East Tennessee, but if I am living next spring, I expect
to enjoy the luxury.” Having thus bespoke his mind he in ap-
proved Patrick Henry fashion added, “If this be treason, make
the most of it!’13

Thus did Brownlow reject General Carroll’s terms of sur-
render, but Carroll did not know it for the friend intrusted
with the delivery of this letter withheld it on the intelligence of
an important decision by the Confederate Government. The
negotiations in Richmond which had been going on at the same
time, and largely unknown to the Parson, had brought results.
In fact even before Brownlow had first written General Carroll
relative to coming into Knoxville to stand a civil trial, friends
of the Parson had been besieging Secretary Benjamin in Rich-
mond to grant him a passport to leave the Confederacy. On
November 20, Benjamin had written General George B. Crit-
tenden, stationed at Cumberland Gap, that he understood that

* Parson Brownlow’s Book, pp. 284-92.
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Brownlow, fearing violence, had hidden himself but that he
was willing to leave Tennessee. The Confederate War Secre-
tary said he could not give him a formal passport though he
“would greatly prefer to see him on the other side of our lines
as an avowed cnemy,” and he would not object if Crittenden
would allow him to escape.’* But Crittenden did not receive
this letter until other important transactions had taken place.
Apparently Benjamin had not prejudged Brownlow as suffi-
ciently guilty of bridge-burning even to arrest him should he
by leaving, thereby help to compose East Tennessee.

John Baxter, who in the early days of the secession move-
ment had been one of the outstanding leaders of Unionism
in East Tennessee, and who had later on accepted the Confed-
eracy in good faith, was in Richmond in November attempting
to guide the Confederacy to a true policy in dealing with East
Tennessee. On November 29, he had a conference with Presi-
dent Davis and Secretary Benjamin in which he advocated
a lenient policy toward East Tennesseeans, and incidentally re-
quested, if it were not against public policy, that a passport be
given to Brownlow. Baxter had not been asked by Brownlow
to act, and in fact the Parson did not know that the request had
been made. Mrs. Brownlow and friends of the Parson, who felt
that they knew what was best for him in his situation more
truly than he did himself, begged Baxter to get the passport.’®
Evidently Benjamin and Carroll had had little correspondence
with each other concerning Brownlow. On November 26, Car-
roll informed the War Secretary that he had seized the Par-
son’s printing establishment and converted it into a shop for
altering arms and that he had promised his son indemnity from
the government. He was sure that Brownlow himself was out
aiding and abetting the enemies of the Confederacy. Two days
later Carroll informed Benjamin that Brownlow had promised
to surrender if he were guarantced against personal violence,'®

¥ Official Records, ser. 1, vol. VII, p. 806.

% Ibid., pp. 799-800, Baxter to Benjamin, December 28, 1861; ser. II, vol 1,
p. 904, Baxter to Benjamin, November 30, 1861.

*® Ibid., ser, 11, vol. 1, p. 903. The reference is to the Brownlow letter of No-
vember 22,
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and he enclosed a copy of Brownlow’s November 22 letter.

About December 1, Carroll was superseded at Knoxville by
Crittenden, but before leaving he informed his successor of the
negotiations with Brownlow. As soon as Crittenden took charge
he was besought by one of Brownlow’s sons and some friends to
let the Parson return to Knoxville. On their guarantee of the
Parson’s innocence of any crime against the Confederacy and
on their agreement that he must submit to civil authorities,
preparations were made for the Parson’s return. Then on the
fourth of December John Baxter who had just returned from
Richmond, in company with another of Brownlow’s sons, called
upon Crittenden and presented to him the letter Benjamin
had written him on November 20 concerning letting Brownlow
out of the Confederacy. Now for the first time did Crittenden
learn that Baxter had been negotiating with Benjamin and had
induced him to adopt the attitude assumed in the letter. As
further proof of Baxter’s influence, he had secured the letter
to Crittenden to be delivered in person, or perhaps, not at all,
as he might find expedient.’”

Immediately (December 4) Crittenden directed A. S. Cun-
ningham, his assistant Adjutant-General, to inform Brownlow
that if he would call at the army headquarters in Knoxville
within twenty-four hours he could get a passport to go into
Kentucky.'® The Parson came in within the specified time and
accompanied by Baxter he agreed to Crittenden’s stipulations
about departing, with the exception of the time. The General
wanted him to leave the next day, but the Parson wanted to
remain a day, and on that day, December 6, he was arrested
by the Confederate marshal on a warrant charging high trea-
son against the Confederacy. Thus had the civil authorities
interfered.

J. C. Ramsey, the Confederate States District Attorney,
whom Brownlow denominated a “corrupt scoundrel and un-
principled knave,” had made application for the warrant to
Robert B. Reynolds, the Confederate Commissioner, whom

¥ Ibid., ser. 1, vol. VII, p. 763, Crittenden to Benjamin, December 13, 1861.
® Ibid., p. 806,
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Brownlow declared to be “a third-rate county-court lawyer, a
drunken and corrupt sot, who had been kicked out of a grocery
a few days before by a mechanic, and who was afterwards taken
up from the pavements of the street, in a beastly state of intoxi-
cation, by Rebel troops, and lodged in the guard-house!” Com-
missioner Reynolds issued the warrant which stated in part that
Brownlow, a citizen of the Confederate States,

being moved and seduced by the instigation of the devil, and not
having the fear of God before his eyes, did wilfully, knowingly, and
with malice aforethought, and feloniously, commit the crime of
TREASON against the Confederate States, by then and there,
within said district and since the 10th day of June last, publishing
a weekly and tri-weekly paper known as “Brownlow’s Knoxville
Whig,” said paper had a large circulation in said district and also
circulated in the United States, and contained, weekly, divers of
editorials written by the said Brownlow, which said editorials were
treasonable against the Confederate States of America, and did
then and there commit treason, and prompt others to commit trea-
son, . . . and did give aid and comfort to the United States, both
of said Governments being in a state of war with each other.’®

This was the answer of many of the Confederates in Knox-
ville and East Tennessee to the person who had so bitterly de-
nounced them and who had made himself guilty of treason. The
Parson had apparently convinced them that he had not been
mixed up in the bridge-burning, but he could not erase the
editorials in his Whig, some of which it was charged constituted
treason. The civil authorities had acted quickly in seizing
Brownlow and they immediately prepared to defend their
actions before Secretary of War Benjamin and President Davis,
fearing that they would be ordered to release him. On the day
of Brownlow’s arrest, Ramsey informed Benjamin of his action
and asked the Secretary to postpone his decision until he should
receive the facts.?® The next day, December 7, he wrote Benja-
min at length telling of Brownlow’s devilment in East Ten-
nessee and expressing the belief that he knew the bridges were

¥ Ibid., pp. 806-T; Parson Brownlow's Book, pp. 295-96.
* Official Records, ser. 11, vol. I, p. 905.
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to be burned. Certainly it would be in the interest of justice
for all concerned to hold a trial to find out. “His newspaper,”
he declared, “has been the greatest cause of rebellion in this
section, and most of those who have been arrested have been
deluded by his gross distortion of facts and incited to take up
arms by his inflammatory appeals to their passions and in-
famous libels upon the Confederate States.” The soldiers guard-
ing the passes into Kentucky were disgusted at the way in
which Brownlow was about to be escorted out of the state by a
military guard, while his dupes were being arrested and thrown
into prison. They felt that it would be a degrading service ta
escort him to the Kentucky line, where he could stir up more
trouble for the Confederacy than Johnson and Maynard com-
bined. Before he slipped out of Knoxville in early November it
was reported that he had been “confined at home by a bleeding
of the lungs.” It should therefore be to his advantage to be
sent south to Tuscaloosa where the climate would help his lungs,
instead of being allowed to go off into the bleak Northern
winters. If he had been anxious to go north, they insisted he
could have done so when President Davis issued his proclama-
tion in the early fall calling upon all who were dissatisfied with
the Confederacy to leave and they would be unmolested.”

Others added their protests against allowing Brownlow to go.
W. G. Swan, the recently elected Confederate Congressman
from the Second District, wrote President Davis that he was
surprised at Benjamin’s dealings with Brownlow and that he
found “the citizens and soldiers almost unanimously indig-
nant.”? J. G. M. Ramsey and W. H. Tibbs, the latter the
Confederate Congressman from the Third District, signed a
Jjoint protest against letting Brownlow go while his deluded
followers were being severely dealt with. They were especially
surprised that he was to be allowed to go to Kentucky where
he could direct the invasion of East Tennessee and cause much
other mischief to the Confederacy. They pleaded, “Let the
civil or military law take its course against the criminal leader

2 Ibid., ser. I, vol. V11, pp. 744-45.
2 Ibid., p. T42.
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in this atrocious rebellion, as it has already done to his ignorant
and deluded followers.”??

The Knoxville Register reiterated these sentiments. Brown-
low was the ringleader in the troubles in East Tennessee; he
should be imprisoned at Tuscaloosa until the war was over and
then sent to “Abe Lincoln and abide with him forever.” “East
Tennessee,” it declared, “has been a heavy expense to the State
and to the Confederate Government, in consequence of the
teaching and leading of Brownlow and others; and now to let
him go in peace scems to be the height of folly or we cannot

This scene represents the Parson entering the Knoxville jail. “I
have found many old acquaintances here and long-tried friends;
whilst some were glad to see me in no worse condition, and in expec-
tation of hearing the current news of the day, as well as from their
families, others shed tears upon taking me by the hand, grasping it
in silence.” From Brownlow’s Sketches of the Rise, Progress, and
Decline of Secession.

see right. It will cool the ardor of many a soldier and cause
the community to lose confidence in the hope that they enter-
tained of the speedy independence of the South.”**

Brownlow immediately upon his arrest notified General Crit-

B Ibid., pp. T43-44.
* December 13, 1861. Quoted in Official Records, ser. I1, vol. I, pp. 924-25.
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tenden of his predicament and reminded him that he had come
in at the General’s invitation and promise of a passport.”
Crittenden answered on the same day, through his Aide-de-
Camp Harry I. Thornton, that “he does not consider that you
are here upon his invitation in such a manner as to claim his
protection from an investigation by the civil authorities of
the charges against you, which he clearly understood from
yourself and your friends you would not seek to avoid.”*®
Brownlow demanded an immediate trial and bail, both of which
were refused, though according to him, “my friends volun-
tarily offered a bond of ONE HUNDRED THOUSAND
DOLLARS.” He had changed his mind since the October day
on which he had written in his “last editorial’” that he would
rot in prison before he would accept bail.

In the meantime the Parson was lodged in the Knoxville jail
while the Confederacy tried to solve the knotty problem of
what to do with him. The jail was crowded with about 150
Unionists, many of them well-known to him, and upon his entry
they fell upon him grasping his hand and shedding tears in
silence. He had a speech ready for them, and as soon as the
greetings were over, he cheered them with the prediction that
the Federal Government would “crush out this wicked rebellion
and liberate us, if we are not brutally murdered,” and he would
let them know that whatever they might think about their own
predicament “I regard this as the proudest day of my life.”*
He also on the first day began keeping a diary which he con-
tinued to the end.”®

He found the jail a most unattractive place, so crowded that
some of the prisoners were forced to stand to permit others space
on the floor where they might sleep. The jail was void of all
furniture, not even a chair, unless a “dirty wooden bucket and
a tin cup” could be considered furniture. The Parson claimed
that the Rebel soldiers were accustomed to washing their hands

* Ibid., ser, 1, vol. VII, p. 807,

= Ibid.

# Parson Brownlow’s Book, p. 309.

® The original diary is now in the possession of the Brownlow family in
Knoxville.
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and faces in the water supply, and when he complained, one of
them replied, “By G—d, sir, we will have you know that where
a Jeff Davis man washes his face and hands is good enough for
any d—d Lincolnite to drink.” The guards, he declared, were
a set of drunkards who sang “blackguard songs” for the benefit
of the prisoners, and at times these white prisoners were insulted
by insolent Negroes whom the Confederates set over them as
guards. When complaints were made, the answer came that any
sort of treatment was “too good for a set of d—d Union-shriek-
ers and bridge-burners.” He found the food very bad, so bad
that it was “not fit for a good and trusty dog to devour.” It was
the Parson’s misfortune to discover that the jailer was a person
whom he had once published as a forger, and it seemed certain
to the Parson’s mind that this erstwhile forger would now take
his spite out by putting arsenic in his food. Brownlow, therefore,
had his meals brought into the jail three times a day, and in
sufficient amounts to take care of the wants of two Baptist
preachers—to such humility or heroism had the distempers of
the times reduced the Parson that he was found providing food
for and eating with Baptist preachers!

Each day in the jail there were scenes of terror, heroism, and
touching fortitude, as old and young were pushed in or sent
out on their way to the prison at Tuscaloosa — or, indeed,
dragged before the court-martial to be tried for bridge-burning
and if found guilty later to be executed. On one day, in came
“a Union man from Campbell county . . . leaving behind six
small children, and their mother dead,” and his only offence was
holding out for the Union; on another, out went fifteen prisoners
to Tuscaloosa there “to be treated like dogs.” Then, “old man
Wamplar,” a Dutchman, seventy years of age, was brought in
from Greene County, “charged with being an Andy Johnson
man.” Some were rounded up for praying for the President of
the United States, others for cheering the Stars and Stripes.

As nothing appeared too dastardly for the Confederates to
do, the Parson began to develop a hallucination that he would
be hanged. He determined to meet the occasion like a man, by
being ready with a speech which he intended to demand the right
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Another of the Parson’s “Rebel atrocities.” Madison Cate, a
captured Union Guard, is being visited by his wife, in the Knox-
ville jail. The Parson, though appearing in the doorway in this
illustration, according to his statement, held the baby during
the interview. “I hope I may never look upon such a scene again.
Oh, what oppression! And yet this is the spirit of Secession.”
From Brownlow’s Sketches of the Rise, Progress, and Decline
of Secession.
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to speak from the gallows. He believed they would have granted
his request “from an intense curiosity to hear what I had to
say in such a trying moment; and I believe I could have stood
forth and said it in the face of ten thousand people.” He began
composing his speech at intervals, “compelled day by day to
contemplate the near prospect of a brutal death upon the gal-
lows.” Conscious of the fact that this would be the last chance
he would ever have to denounce his enemies, he added a venom
even beyond his custom; for, as he later said, “if I have any
talent in the world, it is that talent which consists in piling up
one epithet upon another.”

With his vivid imagination and his inborn prejudices and
hatreds, he set his speech to circumstances most derogatory to
the Confederacy. He supposed in the beginning that he had
been tried and convicted by a court-martial sitting in Knoxville
—“I say I suppose so, for I have never had any trial, or even a
notice of a trial being in progress.” Selecting the bridge-burners’
court-martial for his withering denunciation, he declared
Thomas J. Campbell, the judge-advocate, to be ‘“a perfidious
man, as destitute of real honor and purity of purpose as he is
of true courage and manly virtue”; from among the remaining
members of the court he picked James D. Thomas for this ex-
coriation: “a man who was expelled from the Methodist min-
istry for whipping his wife and slandering his venerable old
father-in-law.” Colonel W. B. Wood was an “arch-hypocrite and
would-be murderer,” William G. McAdoo was guilty of “treach-
ery and insincerity,” while Campbell Wallace was the “prince
of hypocrites and great embodiment of human deceit.” Now
the Parson would take a last fling at the traitors high in the
Confederate Government. William L. Yancey was “a convicted
murderer, who killed his uncle” and was pardoned by the gov-
ernor of South Carolina; L. T. Wigfall to escape assassination
had fled from South Carolina to Texas where he became a
swindler and murdered “as many as two men”; John Floyd
stole $30,000 from the Washington Monument Fund and filled
Southern forts with Federal guns; John Slidell was an “in-
triguer, who never had an honest emotion of soul in his life”;
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Judah P. Benjamin “was expelled from a New England college
for stealing money and jewelry out of the trunks of his fellow-
students”; Jacob Thompson was a thief, who fled from Wash-
ington “by night to avoid persecution”; Howell Cobb was a
speculator in stocks, “using Government money”; Jefferson
Davis “led the way in the work of repudiation and in defrauding
Mississippi’s honest creditors” ; Robert Toombs aided Lawrence
M. Keitt and Preston Brooks “in their attempt to assassinate
Sumner”; W. G. Swan, a Confederate Congressman, was a
forger and a swindler. With such words on his lips did the
Parson choose to plunge into eternity, and so heroic did he
feel in thus talking before his imaginary ten thousand that he
made provision to continue his onset from the grave: He would
leave behind some “hostile reminiscences” in documents which he
requested his “sons to publish . . . even at the cost of their lives.”
“But I must close. Solemn thought! I die, with confidence
that the United States Government will crush out this rebellion
during the coming spring and summer.” He hoped the Union
men would take care of his family and teach them that their
father died an honorable death. And then the Parson chose his
last words: “Let me be shrouded in the sacred folds of the Star-
Spangled Banner; and let my children’s children know that the
last words I uttered on earth were—

Forever float that standard sheet

Where breathes the foe but falls before us,
With Freedom’s soil beneath our feet,

And Freedom’s banner streaming o’er us !”**

The Parson was a great actor; and he knew his East Tennessee
audience.

Again was the Parson doomed to disappointment, for the
Confederate authorities refused to hang him or even to try him
—rather they would keep him in prison. The broadcasting of
all of his righteous indignation and the suffering of sweet mar-

* Most of his prison diary, including his last speech, is published in Parson
Brownlow’s Book, pp. 308-70. For additional information on his prison days,
see Portrait and Biography, pp. 32-59.
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tyrdom were denied him except in his imagination and his diary.
Another proof could he thus add to the perversity of the Con-
federates. But, as he later said under the influence of a patriotic
speech, “I told them if they would give me the privilege of mak-
ing a speech, one hour long, under the gallows, that I might
speak to the people and pronounce a eulogy on the Southern
Confederacy, that I would be willing to die. And I really think
I could have swung in peace.”®

The Parson had been troubled with a throat and lung afflic-
tion before he had slipped out of Knoxville in November; his
experiences in the gorges and defiles of the Great Smokies had
not increased his strength, and now to be thrown into a crowded
Jjail made too great a hardship to be borne. Soon the Nashville
Patriot was saying “We learn that W. G. Brownlow, imprisoned
at Knoxville, refuses to eat any thing, desiring to starve himself
to death.””®" The Parson wrote from the jail a hot denial of this
hunger strike, and charged the Confederates with bad faith in
keeping him in prison. But he was really ill, and on December
19 the prison doctors offered to remove him to:the hospital,
but he declined, as he “did not want passports to where I would
likely be poisoned in twenty-four hours.” Yet he found life
almost unendurable in the Knoxville jail. The sentinels were
often like howling wolves, “rushing to our windows with the
ferocity of the Sepoys of India, and daring prisoners to show
their heads—cocking their guns and firing off three of them
into the jail, and pretending that it was accidental. Merciful
God! how long are we to be treated after this fashion?” On
Christmas day the Union women of the community sent him a
basket of good things, which he generously divided with the
other prisoners. The next day he completely lost his appetite
and came to the conclusion that he was getting the fever.*® Vari-
ous rumors were flying over the country concerning the Parson.
Jere T. Boyle, up in Kentucky, heard at one time that he was
on his way northward with 1,500 or 2,500 troops, and at an-
mt and Biography, p. 417.

% December 17, 1861, quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book, pp. 321-22.
2 Parson Brownlow’s Book, pp. 320-26,
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other, that he was in the Knoxville jail, certain to be hung.®®
During these twenty days while the Parson had been in prison,
his case was not being neglected by the Confederate Government,
nor was he tamely submitting. His imprisonment constituted one
of the most disquieting and troublesome problems of the Con-
federacy, taking up the time of officials and officers from the
President in Richmond to the District Attorney in Knoxville.
There can be no doubt that Secretary Benjamin and General
Crittenden were taken by surprise when civil authorities arrested
Brownlow. The confusion between the military and civil au-
thorities was sufficient to give the Parson an excellent opportun-
ity to play up the charge of bad faith on the part of the Con-
federacy. He made the most of it. In the first place he declared
that the warrant was preposterous, for “Every man of legal
knowledge will see that the publication of a newspaper, however
objectionable its matter may be, does not amount to treason.”%
Then, the Confederacy had grossly tricked him. It had invited
him in, under the promise of a safe conduct to the Union lines,
and thereupon had arrested him and thrown him into jail with-
out bail. “I am not willing to believe,” he declared, “that the
representatives of a would-be great Government struggling for
its independence, and having in charge the interests of twelve
millions of people, intend to act in bad faith to me.” On December
16, he wrote Secretary Benjamin reminding him that he had
authorized General Crittenden to give him a passport and that
the General had invited him in for that purpose; but “a third
rate County Court Lawyer, acting as your Confederate Attor-
ney, took me out of his hands and cast me into this prison. I am
anxious to learn which is your highest authority, the Secretary
of War, a Major General, or a dirty little drunken Attorney
such as J. C. Ramsey is!” In concluding the Parson said, “You
are reported to have said to a gentleman in Richmond, that, I am
a bad man, dangerous to the Confederacy, and that you desire
me out of it. Just give me my passports, and I will do for your

= Official Records, ser. 1, vol. VIi, p. 508.
™ Parson Brownlow’s Book, p. 303.



Hnoretle fuit, Dees 1z, 15¢7,
90“/:&%&:7/‘;“"[ o Gullicedten
Zﬁ’jtmw M Ceesl Lton e o2l dencl aene
Ay %W; tetid Lt rnviZet wie
Gost s, oL foc's Aascests cvndt cactovme vids Ut
%o« ;M, o1 & @WQ'W«/%Z
W/MM 7€ %M/Lfy Y4
% ane W Ze’f‘M/fW T2
GeeiZlonns it f S BT e
. @M,me Zg—ﬁé@%j{m}qq@a{
fal Joun decu e 1L J*M}/«MW
5 ot ot Sl s fo o
fithong, sisone s T 5L pgrenn
/Mﬁw?‘%& lr /
/&‘MM/O@/

NG, frownitozo-

A specimen of the Parson’s handwriting and language. Repro-
duced from a copy of a letter which appeared in his Sketches of
the Rise, Progress, and Decline of Secession.
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Confederacy, more than the Devil has ever done, I will quit
the country 1%

Securing no results from his onset against the Secretary of
War, Brownlow decided to climb a step higher and address his
cause to the President of the Confederacy. After reciting vo-
luminously the history of his case, he declared the Confederacy
was guilty of “a gross breach of faith.”%

Not waiting to be pushed into some course by Brownlow, the
Confederacy continued its efforts to clear up the Parson’s case
from the day of his arrest. On December 8, President Davis
called General Crittenden to Richmond for a military conference,
but it is not too much to infer that Brownlow was discussed.?
A few days later Secretary Benjamin called upon District At-
torney Ramsey for the facts concerning Brownlow’s arrest.
Ramsey replied that he believed Brownlow had information of
the plot to burn the bridges and he knew that the Parson had
been the first to suggest the possibility of destroying the bridges.
Public sentiment approved the arrest and Ramsey believed
Brownlow should be imprisoned in Tuscaloosa but he would
“cheerfully dispose of the case according to your own better
Judgment.”

The situation resolved itself into a mild contest between Sec-
retary Benjamin and General Crittenden representing the mili-
tary power on the one side and District Attorney Ramsey rep-
resenting the civil authority on the other. Crittenden and
Benjamin had been placed in a position sufficiently suggestive
of bad faith as to cause both to want to get out of it by ridding
the Confederacy of Brownlow. Crittenden wrote Benjamin on
December 13 that there was no bad faith on his part, for
the understanding was that Brownlow would submit to civil
trial, but “if the civil authorities release Mr. Brownlow, I shall
proceed at once to give him a passport and send him with an
escort beyond our lines.”®

* Official Records, ser. 11, vol. 1, p. 910; Parson Brownlow’s Book, p. 318. See
facsimile of this letter on p. 198.

3 Official Records, ser. 11, vol. I, p. 919-21. This letter was undated, but it was
marked “Received January 2, 1862.”

¥ Ibid., ser. I, vol. VII, p. 745.

8 Ibid., ser. 11, vol. I, pp. 908-10, December 10 and 17. * Ibid., pp. 908-9.
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Benjamin threshed out the case with Ramsey and came to the
conclusion that the Parson ought to be let loose. He admitted
that the courts had the right to take the prisoner from the
military authorities but the thought never occurred to him
that it would be done. But since it had happened, he had only
one regret—*“that color is given to the suspicion that Brownlow
has been entrapped and has given himself up under promise
of protection which has not been formally kept.” Both Benja-
min and Crittenden felt sensitive on the point. “Better that
even the most dangerous enemy however criminal should escape
than that the honor and good faith of the Government should
be impunged or even suspected.” Crittenden had promised
Brownlow protection against a court-martial; Benjamin had
promised a passport. Both had carried out their promises, which
in the latter case had not resulted in Brownlow’s full expecta-
tion, though due to no fault of Benjamin’s. The Sccretary ended
his communication to Ramsey with this rather pointed remark:
“Under all the circumstances therefore if Brownlow is exposed
to harm from his arrest I shall deem the honor of the Govern-
ment so far compromised as to consider it my duty to urge on
the President a pardon for any offense of which he may be found
guilty and I repeat the expression of my regret that he was
prosecuted however evident may be his guilt.”*

The hint was sufficient. On December 27, Ramsey called
up Brownlow’s case in court, had Benjamin’s letter read, and
thereupon entered a nolle prosequi.** Brownlow was now a free
man again. He had undoubtedly been indicted by Ramsey on
account of the extreme personal enmity between the two, but
in carrying out a private grudge Ramsey had given the Con-
federate Government a great deal of trouble. But even with
Brownlow in jail, the Confederacy could not rightly be charged
with bad faith. When the promise of a passport for the Parson
was being extracted from Benjamin and Crittenden, Brownlow
had no desire nor intention of leaving East Tennessee and he
had no knowledge that the passport was being requested. His

@ Ibid., pp. 916-17, Benjamin to Ramsey, December 22, 1861.
# Ibid., p. 917.
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negotiations with General Carroll concerning his return to Knox-
ville clearly established the understanding equally well with
both, that a civil trial was to be expected, welcomed, and almost
demanded. Then when on December 4 the Parson wrote Car-
roll refusing to come in, because he felt he would not be given
protection against the military authoritics, the agreement con-
cerning a civil trial was not invalidated. For since this letter
was never delivered, it was doubly well understood that the Par-
son still expected a civil trial. This understanding was trans-
mitted to Crittenden, who succeeded Carroll; and had the Par-
son not been suddenly confronted with the possibility of being
escorted out of the Confederacy, he would have come in to stand
a civil trial, and no chance would have been presented to him to
declare the Confederacy guilty of bad faith. It was no part
of the Parson’s original plan to leave East Tennessee; the pass-
port was entirely the idea of his friends; and now he used
the mix-up for all it was worth in trying to discredit the Con-
federacy. In his letter to President Davis in the latter part of
December he said, “Until very recently he had intended to con-
tinue a citizen of the Confederate States but the events of the
last three weeks have convinced him that laws can afford no
protection to himself or family.”*?

Unappreciative of Secretary Benjamin’s scrupulous regard
for avoiding even the appearance of bad faith, Brownlow, when
he got beyond the power of the Confederacy, stated that he had
been having some dealings with “a little Jew, late of New Or-
leans” but that he had expected “no more mercy from him than
was shown by his illustrious predecessors toward Jesus Christ.”*

Although Secretary Benjamin and the War Department
were glad to have the Parson off their hands and conscience,
the local Confederates in East Tennessee still saw Brownlow as
the most dangerous and cunning man with whom they would
be forced to deal. He was a “diplomat of the first water,” who
never undertook a task “unless he sees his way entirely through
the millstone.” He covered “over his really profound knowledge

** This letter was written in the third person.
% Portrait and Biography, pp. 19-21.
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of human nature with an appearance of eccentricity and ex-
travagance.” The Knoxville Register continued its characteriza-
tion: “Crafty, cunning, generous to his particular friends, be-
nevolent and charitable to their faults, ungrateful and implac-
able to his enemies—we cannot refrain from saying that he is
the best judge of human nature within the bounds of the South-
ern Confederacy.” By “a species of diplomacy and legerdemain”
he had convinced Benjamin that he was “quite a harmless indi-
vidual.” In fact he had outwitted the Secretary. The Register had
not decided whether it should laugh or get mad “with the manner
in which Brownlow has wound the Confederate Government
around his thumb,” but it did not doubt for a moment that he
was “laughing like the king’s fool in his sleeves.” Brownlow
should not be underestimated : “In brief Brownlow has preached
at every church and schoolhouse and made stump-speeches at
every cross-road and knows every man, woman and child and
their fathers and grandfathers before them in East Tennessee.
As a Methodist circuit-rider, a political stump-speaker, a tem-
perance orator and the editor of a newspaper he has been equally
successful in our division of the State.” When he should once
reach Kentucky, from “among his old partisan and religious
sectarian parasites he will find men who will obey him with the
fanatical alacrity of those who followed Peter the Hermit in
the first crusade.”**

Brownlow’s case had been attracting attention throughout
the Confederacy, and there were few people who were willing
to treat him as leniently as Benjamin had done. In Columbus,
Georgia, the T'imes concluded, “Now, this hoary-headed and per-
sistent traitor is occupying too much of the time and attention
of the country. HE DESERVES DEATH, AND WE VOTE
TO KILL HIM.”*

Brownlow was too sick to appear in court when his case was
dismissed ; and although he was now technically free, the mili-
tary authorities took charge of him to await the day when he
should be properly escorted out of the Confederacy. Soon the

“ Quoted in Official Records, ser. II, vol. I, pp. 925-26.
“ Quoted in Parson Brownlow’s Book, pp. 347-48.
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Parson had become “salivated from an excess of mercury,” and
the doctor declared that unless he should be removed from the
Jail there would be little hope for his recovery. Thereupon the
Parson was taken to his home where he might have the comforts
of a feather-bed and the attention of his family. Here Captain
G. H. Monsarrat, commander of the post, kept him under strict
surveillance, both in the interest of the Parson’s safety and for
safeguarding the public peace.*®
The Parson was still a white elephant on the hands of the
Confederacy. He was evidently sick, but there was some sus-
picion as to how sick he was, and there was a wholesome fear
that he might plot with Unionists and might possibly make
his escape. An East Tennesseean begged Benjamin to get rid
of the Parson and his family “and everybody else that desires
to leave,” for if this were done “it would be worth 10,000 men
to the Southern cause.”*” During the month of January Brown-
low continued very sick, yet Colonel Danville Leadbetter, whom
Brownlow denominated the “prince of villains, tyrants, and
murderers,” placed heavy guards over him and denied him
the right to see various callers whom the Colonel doubtless con-
sidered potential plotters. As Colonel Leadbetter had neither
love nor respect for the Parson, he got little pleasure out of
guarding him. Near the end of January with an air of im-
patience he inquired of Brownlow when he would be ready to
leave. The Parson replied that he was as anxious to go as some
people were for him to leave, but that he was still unable to
travel. Fearing that the Parson might be simulating sickness,
Leadbetter ordered his transfer to the hospital where he could
not plot treason with the Union leaders. Brownlow protested
with great vehemence that it was one of “their hellish schemes
to get me out where they could poison me or have me assassi-
nated.” Leadbetter let the Parson have his way, but he doubled
the guard and made life uncomfortable for him in many other
ways, with the hope of driving him either to the hospital or outside
of the Confederacy. By the middle of February Brownlow had
T e Oﬂctja—l Records, ser. I1, vol. 1, p. 919; Parson Brownlow’s Book, pp. 337-38.

" Official Records, ser. 11, vol. I, pp. 923-24, J. J. Craig to Benjamin, January
3, 1862.
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had enough; he was now, feeble as he was, ready and anxious to
leave the Confederacy or go back to jail—anything to “secure
the repose of an afflicted, insulted, and outraged family.” As
for Leadbetter, when the Federals should capture East Ten-
nessee, the Parson expected to see him hanged if hands could
be laid upon him. T'o Leadbetter’s successor, Robert B. Vance,
whom the Parson esteemed, he poured out his heart’s woe: His
guards had turned his office and library into a barracks, where
they had broken up his rocking-chairs, ruined his carpet, and
damaged his books ; they had used up his coal and wood, burned
his candles, and consumed three meals a day, which he had set
before them; they had introduced mumps and measles into his
family with the result that only his wife, his son John, and two
Negroes were well; sentinels stood day and night at his windows
and doors, and on being changed every two hours they made
a great and unnecessary noise. All of these persecutions and
abuses the Parson had put up with without complaint, but one
night the guard tried to keep the Parson’s door open against
the protests of his wife, who forcibly closed it and locked it in
the face of the guard. Now, this last bit of treatment was too
much. He had never appealed to Leadbetter, “for he never had
a gentlemanly emotion of soul in his life”; but he would now
appeal to Colonel Vance for better protection.*®

The Parson had no complaints to make under Colonel Vance’s
régime, and his health seemed to mend so fast that on February
24 he sent for Captain G. H. Monserrat, who had recently
succeeded Colonel Vance, to make arrangements for leaving the
Confederacy. In early January, A. T. Bledsoe, Chief of the
Bureau of War at Richmond, had instructed Monserrat to have
Brownlow sent out with a proper escort; now in February the
plan was to have Brownlow directed through Richmond. Brown-
low fearing trickery charged bad faith again. On the 27th he
addressed Secretary Benjamin a note in which he declared that
personal safety forbade his going by way of Richmond. He
wanted to leave through the Cumberlands or to go to Nashville.*®

“ Ibid., pp. 926-28; Parson Brownlow’s Book, pp. 353-61.

® Official Records, ser. 11, vol. 1, pp. 928-28; Parson Brownlow’s Book, pp.
367-68.
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Arrangements were hurriedly made to forward him to the
Federal lines. Especial precautions were taken to ensure his
safety, for Blanton Duncan, an old acquaintance of the Parson’s
had emphasized in a letter to Ben jamin what he doubtless already
knew, that Brownlow was bitterly hated. Duncan said, “He is
hated and pursued with a virulence beyond belief, and if proper
steps are not taken there is great danger that he will be assassi-
nated during his journey and the Government thereby dis-
graced. I heard threats against him everywhere on the road.”*
On March 1, Benjamin instructed Monserrat to send Brown-
low out by the passes in the Cumberland Mountains or any safe
road. The Parson chose to go to Nashville, and his wishes were
complied with. The Confederate authorities took the utmost pre-
caution with him; they even permitted him to select the two
officers who were to command the squad of ten soldiers who
should make up his escort.

Early on the morning of March 3, Brownlow with the two
officers left Knoxville for Loudon where the squad of soldiers
were to join the party. The captain of the squad cautioned his
men to protect the Parson at all hazards, after which they set
out for Athens. Here they found it necessary to ward off a rush
of soldiers from a troop-train. They spent the night in Bridge-
port and reached Wartrace the next day. At this place trouble
developed over a flag of truce, and for a time it appeared that
the Parson might be returned to East Tennessee or released on
the spot. After three days, arrangements were made and the
party went on to Shelbyville where for a weck they were halted
by the refusal of General Hardee to permit the Parson to pass
to the Federal lines. While in Shelbyville, the Union element
lionized the Parson and one of the ladies sent him a bouquet
which he acknowledged with high sentiments for the Union and
damnation for the Confederacy. At twelve o’clock noon on March
15, he landed in the Union lines.%!

A wave of relief might well have swept over the Confederacy
as the Parson crossed no-man’s land into the Federal army,

% Official Records, ser. I, vol. LII, pt. 2, 254 January 8, 1862.

5 Official Records, ser. I, vol. VII, pp. 913, 917; vol. X, pt. 2, p. 38; ser. 1I,
vol, 1, pp. 928-29; Parson Brownlow’s Book, pp. 369-79.
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but the Brownlow problem was not entirely solved until East
Tennessee could be pacified. On January 28, while Brownlow
was still in jail, Secretary Benjamin had ordered the release
of all political prisoners who would take the oath to support
the Confederacy, an invitation to which Brownlow replied, “Be-
fore I would take an oath to support such a hell-forsaken in-
stitution, I would suffer myself to rot or die of old age”®® East
Tennessee was far from pacified even with all the offers of for-
giveness, for on March 1, in the local elections that were held,
the Union candidates largely prevailed. On April 18, General
E. Kirby Smith, who was now in command in East Tennessee,
offered amnesty and fair treatment to all who would come for-
ward and take the oath to support the Confederacy. About this
time he suspended all draft laws in East Tennessee as an induce-
ment to bring back the refugees in Kentucky. He promised that
they should not be molested if they would return and settle
down on their farms and take care of their families. The desti-
tute families of fugitive Unionists were a great drain on the
resources of the Confederacy. These fugitives had thirty days
in which to return, at the end of which time, if they had not
returned, their wives and children would be sent to them at their
own expense. “The women and children must be taken care of
by husbands and fathers either in East Tennessee or in the
Lincoln Government.”*

This policy, which was designed to help relieve an economic
situation and to promote Confederate patriotism, would affect
the families not only of the ordinary fugitive but also of the
ringleaders like Brownlow, Johnson, and Maynard. It worked
with particular aptness in connection with the Brownlow fam-
ily, for the Parson was spreading the report that his family was
being held in East Tennessee as hostages for his own conduct
in the North. A speedy answer was thus made to these un-
founded charges when on April 21 the Confederacy ordered
Mrs. W. G. Brownlow to prepare herself and family to pass
beyond the Confederate lines within thirty-six hours. She ob-

% Portrait and Biography, pp. 19-21; Official Records, ser. 11, vol. 1, p. 879.
® Ibid., pp. 882-83, 886; Parson Brownlow’s Book, p. 369.
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jected and a few days of grace were allowed her, but on April
25 she and her family had made ready and on that day they
left Knoxville, arriving in Norfolk on their way north, three
days later. About the same time the Brownlow family had been
ordered to leave, the Johnson, Maynard, and W. B. Carter
families were given the customary thirty-six hours to make their
preparations for removal, and by the end of the month all had
taken their departure for the North.**

™ Official Records, ser. 11, vol. 1, pp. 883-86, 929-31,



CHAPTER X
A TOUR OF THE NORTH!

IN TiMEs of stress people must have heroes. Robert Anderson,
of Fort Sumter fame, became the rallying cry to raise up sol-
diers for the first battle, but his reputation tarnished as the feel-
ing developed that he had given up the fort too easily. Oliver
Ellsworth marched his comical Zouaves up hills and down and
made himself known to many people; and then when he took
to serious war and sought to cut down the Confederate flag
on the Marshall House in Alexandria, Virginia, he was himself
shot down by the hotelkeeper and thereby was made for his
country into another hero, though a dead one. Charles Wilkes
humbled Great Britain when he stopped the T'rent and took off
Mason and Slidell, the Confederate agents, and awoke to find
that his name led all the rest in a country that needed another
hero and a live one. But soon the people were to see that Wilkes
had done nothing more than what the British themselves had
been doing for centuries, and there straightway developed a
vacancy in heroes.

It was, therefore, an opportune time for Brownlow to make
his appearance, and ride upon a reputation made in a fashion
quite different from any one so far used. He was, indeed, not
entirely unknown in the North, for he had gone to most of the
Whig national conventions and he had carried on his memorable
slavery debate with Parson Pryne in Philadelphia a few years
before. But the North had never known the hero that was now
in the making ; heretofore, he had been an intense partisan of the
Southern people and Southern slavery; now through a miracu-
lous transformation he would devastate those people with as

*This chapter was published in substantially its present form in The East
Tennessee Historical Society’s Publications, VII (1935), 3-27. For permission
to reprint it here, I wish to thank the Managing Editor of that journal.
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terrible destruction as he had formerly dealt out to his worst
enemies in the North. He was now to sweep across the Northern
sky, and in every lineament and characteristic become familiar
throughout the land.

This is what Northerners saw and admired: He was six feet
tall, but somewhat short of the 175 pounds which he had at
one time weighed ; he was almost fifty-seven years old, “and, al-
though rather hard-favored than otherwise,” he would “pass
for a man of forty years.” He was high-strung and taut, vibrat-
ing with restless energy. Though no orator he spoke in a loud
voice, and revelled in making speeches bristling with pointed
darts of venom and vituperation. Three years previously he
had suffered an attack of bronchitis which had left him for two
years unable to speak above a whisper, though he had gone at
various times to the best doctors in New York for treatment.
Yet he had known the time when he “could be heard by an
audience of any size”—when, indeed, he had “been able for four
or five dreadful hours on a stretch to speak in the open air.”
This voice which had seemed to be so stubborn that it could not
be coaxed back through temperance talks or even sermons was
upon the Parson’s new introduction to the North, to the Stars
and Stripes, and to freedom, to reappear as he told of his wrongs
and as he poured out hot hatred and vengeance upon the South.
The farther he penetrated the North and the more terribly he
condemned the traitors, the stronger his voice got, until it could
be heard again for a half mile. This was the physical Parson.?

The mental and moral Parson followed these specifications:
He had a pugnacious and decisive nature, which led him to take
part in all the religious and political controversies of his time.
As he told his awe-stricken readers and listeners, “For the last
thirty-five years of my somewhat eventful life I have been ac-
customed to speak in public upon all the subjects afloat in the
land, for I have never been neutral on any subject that ever came
up in that time.”® Though known “throughout the length and
breadth of the land as the ‘Fighting Parson,” * he maintained

’Te;ngg, op. cit., pp. 281-84; Portrait and Biography, p. 26; Suffering
of Union Men, p. 9; Parson Brownlow’s Book, p. 18.
3Ibid.; Suffering of Union Men, p. 8.

14



210 WILLIAM G. BROWNLOW
that there was no one more peaceably inclined toward his neigh-
bors than himself. He further introduced himself as an extra-
ordinary person. He had never been arraigned in his Church
for immorality ; he never played a card; he was never a profane
swearer ; he “never drank a dram of liquor, until within a few
years,—when it was taken as a medicine”; he never smoked a
ci